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Who we are

British Airways is the UK's largest international
scheduled airline. We fly our customers at
convenient times to the best located airports
across the world.

We are one of the world's leading global premium
airlines. Our principal place of business 1s London
with significant presence at Heathrow, Gatwick
and London City. Some 20 million people lve
within commuting distance of these airports, on
the doorstep of the City of London, the world’s
biggest premium travel market. We also operate a
worldwide air cargo business, largely in conjunction
with our scheduled passenger services. Operating
one of the most extensive international scheduled
airline route networks, together with our codeshare
and franchise partners, we fly to more than 300
destinations worldwide. In 2009/10, we carried
nearly 32 milhon passengers.

We support the UK economy by providing vital
arteries for trade and investment, meeting the
demand for business travel and leisure travel for
holidays and family reunion In 2009/10, we
earned £8 billlon in revenue, down 11 per cent
on the previous year. Passenger traffic accounted
for 87 per cent of this revenue, while 7 per cent
came from cargo and 6 per cent from other
activities. We carried 760,000 tonnes of cargo
to destinations in Europe, the Americas and
throughout the world. At the end of March 2010
we had 238 aircraft in service.
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British Airways at a glance...

Americas: 41 « UK:9 <+ Europe:67 -+ Africa: 16

Principal activities statement

The main activities of British Airways Plc and its subsidiary
undertakings are the operation of international and domestic
scheduled air services for the carriage of passengers, freight
and mail and the provision of ancillary services. Our mainline
network (summer 2010) is illustrated above.

These maps are a graphic representation anly Please visit www bacom for a full list of where we fly to
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one of the world's leading global premium airlines

Middle East and South Asia: 15 -+ Asia Pacific: 7

19 Boeing 737s
49 Boeing 747s

9 Boeing 757s
21 Boeing 767s
46 Boeing 777s

2 Airbus A318s
33 Airbus A315s
38 Arbus A320s
11 Arbus A321s

2 Avro RJ85s 7 Embraer - E-jets
1 Avro RJ100s

Fleet i service as at 31 March 2010

3

MBIAIDAD




Brnitish Airways 2009/10 Annual Repart and Accounts

Financial and operational highlights

Financially, this 1s a very difficult time for our business.
Operationally however, we are achieving levels of
excellence today never before seen in this arline.

£7,994m

Revenue

Group Revenue for 2009/10 was
£7,994 million, compared with
£8,992 million in the previous year

£531Tm

Loss before tax

Group loss before tax for 2009/10
was £531 million, compared with

a loss before tax of £401 milion

in the previous year

£231Tm

Operating loss

Group operating loss for 2009/10
was £231 milion, compared with
aloss of £220 mullion in the
previous year

Geographical segmaents by area
of original sale

oM
N

38.5p

Basic loss per share

Group loss per share for 2009/10
was 38 5 pence, compared with
loss per share of 32 6 pence 1n
the previous year

59%

Ready to Go

Network-wide Ready 1o Go EOORI 10

performance of 59 per cent, milion

compared with 53 per cent 1 UK 3636

In the previous year 2 Continental Europe 1,255
3 The Amencas 1,651
4 Africa Middle East,

and Indian sub-continent 731

5 Far East and Australasia 721

24.2 bags

Shortlanded baggage performance
Shortlanded baggage at Heathrow
for 2009/10 was 24 2 bags per
1,000 passengers, compared

to 28 0 in the previous year
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Chairman’s
statement

QUICK TO REACT
AND READY TO GO
WITH THE UPTURN

At the start of the year we faced a senes
of daunting challenges on top of the most
severe global downturn for more than

60 years We've made swift and significant
progress in overcoming those challenges.
As recovery picks up, we are now far
better placed to grow and to achieve our
long-term goal of returming British Airways
into a profitable global premium awrline

MIIAIDAO
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Chairman’s statement

The economic conditions that prevailed throughout

2009/10 were the most severe we have ever

encountered. As a result of the worst recession

for 60 years, our industry has faced a series of

permanent structural changes that have drastically
reduced our revenues in the short term and have
permanently changed the economics of running

a premium airline,

Loss before tax,
£531 million for the year

These problems are in themselves
formidable But, in addition, Bntish
Airways faced a list of daunting
challenges of its own These included
the need to

* Raise finance at a tme of continuing
cnsis in the debt markets,

» Radically reduce our historic cost base,
* Change working practices,

* Complete our planned merger
with tbena,

¢ Win an acceptable anti-trust
agreement t0 cooperate with
American Airlines and ibena on
North Atlantic routes, and

» Tackle our £3 7 billion pensions
deficit successfully

Twelve months on, we can feel satisfied
that on every one of these (ssues, we
have either tackled or made sigmificant
progress in overcoming the challenges
we faced

Permanent change

We entered the recession financially
strong and with our fleet replacement
plans fully financed to 2013 In

August 2009, we successfully raised
£350 million through a converuble bond
1ssue, providing us with the finance

to keep investing in our business and
maintan our focus on excellent service
as the recession runs its course

Revenue down
£1 bilhon

Over the year we reduced our unit
costs by 6 5 per cent Our fuel bill fell
by nearly £600 million, accounting for
a large element of this decrease Unit
costs excluding fuel also fell by 1 8 per
cent This was truly a remarkable
achievemnent It 1s hard enough to cut
costs when capacity 1s nsing, to do so
when capacity i1s in sharp decline 15 very
difficult ndeed Our cost base is now
far more competitive, meaning we are
well placed to achieve more profitable
growth n the future

We successfully carried the majority
of our workforce with us in making
changes to working practices, including
our pilots and engineers A number

of staff have left the Company on
voluntary terms

We have succeeded in introducing
permanent cost reductions across

the arrline, including reductions in
crew complements Regrettably, these
changes were met by unjusufied stnke
action by Unite's cabin crew branch
BASSA misrepresented the Company's
position to its members, falled to
represent the wiews of the majority

of cabin crew and has been intenton a
confrontation with the airline The vast
majonty of our employees recognise
the need for permanent change and
have shown great commitment to
Bntsh Awrways duning this difficult year

Our relationship with Ibena is very strong
and we have now signed a merger
agreement that we know will bring real
benefits to our respective customers
and shareholders and protect the
brands of the two arrhnes If remaining
techrucalities are successfully dealt with,
as we fully expect, the merger should
be concluded by the end of 2010

Similarly, all the signs are that we can
win anti-trust immunity from the US
Department of Transportation along
with regulatory approval from the EU
competition authenties, to operate a
Joint business with Amencan Airlines
and Ibena over the North Adantic When
in place we will be able to operate on
equal terms with Skyteam and Star
Alhance that afready enjoy immunity
Qur agreement will mean more
competition not less, and greater choice
for travellers on these busy routes

Finally, we are progressing with
negobiations to agree a way to fund
our £3 7 billion pension deficits that
satisfies the Trustees and meets our
requirement that we will not have

to increase our contribution to the
schemes in the short term Whilst the
valuation has been agreed with the
Trustees, it I1s currently under review
by the Pensions Regulator If we can
keep the schemes open for existing
members it will be a significant



achievement — and one that has
eluded many other businesses in
recent years

| hope you can see how huge an
agenda of change we have tackled
In that sense, 2009/10 was a year
of great achievement.

Financial results

QOur progress 15 all the more remarkable
at a ume when all our principal business
customers changed their travel policies
at the same time, turning their back on
premium shorthaul travel and reducing
our revenues by £1 billion

Against that backdrop, we recorded
anather year of heavy losses in our
business We recorded our biggest ever
haif year loss of £292 millien Early and
far-reaching action on costs began to
show through in the second half of the
year and we were even able to post

a small operating profit in the third
quarter For the year as a whole our
pre-tax losses stood at £531 million
compared with a loss of £401 millon
in the preceding year

We cannot afford to lose sight of the
scale of our losses In the last two years,
even though they came on the back of
record profits in 2007/08 Our business
simply will not survive long term unless
we stop losing money on this scale
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Dividends and executive pay

The programme of change we are
pursuing in the business s all about
making sure we have the resources
to dehver outstanding service (o our
customers, secure and rewarding
employment to our staff and strong
returns to our shareholders

Given the state of our market we have
frozen pay across the airline for two
years We have once agan decided it
would be inappropnate to pay a dwvidend
or executive or staff cash bonuses

Customer focus

Our primary focus must remain on

our customers no matter how severe
the economic conditions we face The
customer is at the very heart of our
plans to build an efficient global premium
arrline and to achieve lasting and
sustainable profitability for this business

During the year, we continued to
outperform in our punctuality scores,
not just at Terminal 5, but across the
network Maintaining that record

has involved some magnificent work
by people nght across the business
and we take immense pride in their
achievements Our customer

service scores remain strong despite
significant operatonal disruption

Consolidation will be a growing
theme for our industry for the
foreseeable future and we are
pleased with our own progress
in bullding new partnerships
and alliances

Ready To Go
network punctuality %

7009710 [59

2008709 [53 ]
w07/08 [34  — 0]
2006/07

An industry Iin transition

Consolidation will be a growing theme
for our industry for the foreseeable
future and we are pleased with our own
progress In bullding new partnerships
and alliances

But progress on hberalising the global
industry remains painfully slow,
nowhere more so than in the recent
protracted Open Skies negotiations
between the US and Europe

We had hoped that the conclusion of
the EU-US second stage negotiations
would have resulted in the immediate
removal of US restncuons on ownership
and control and the protectionist ‘Fly
America policy

Unfortunately, instead of the ambitious
agreement that had been promised by
both sides that would have acted as a
template for further global! iberahsation
across other trading blocs, we have
ended up with an agreement that fails
to delver a truly open market for
awviation This represents a missed
opportunity to create a healthier and
more efficient industry for the future

Indeed, the only hope for progress
may lie n mowving the 1ssue to a more
powerful arena such as the Trans Atlanuc
Economic Council where Europe could
offer wider trade concessions, in sectors
such as agnculture, in return for progress
on air transport.

MIIAIRAD
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Chairman’s statement continued

| am convinced that the work we
have done over the last 18 months
Lo restructure our cost base and
the progress we have made on the
challenges we faced at the start

of 2009/10, mean we are a far
more resilient business today

Unit costs down
6.5 per cent

These restrictive ownership and control
requirements that prevent cross-border
airhne mergers, need to be consigned
to the history books — and fast Only
then will we see the true benefits that
‘normzlisation’ of the industry can
achieve — as 1s already the case with
other sectors of the global economy

Chmate change

As a company we have led the way in
searching for real and radical ways to
tackie chmate change Not only have
we set ourselves industry-leading targets
to Cut Our own emissIons, we are also
strong advocates of carbon trading and
believe aviation should be part of a
global emussions wrading scheme

The Climate Change Summitin
Copenhagen in December presented
the industry with an ideal cpportunity
to come together and make this a
reality For many reasons the ocutcome
from the summit was disappointing not
least as no reference was made to the
airhne industry However, it 1s clear the
governments of the world recognise
the airline industry is taking a
responsible posiuon and 1s indeed
ahead of its regulators in wanting to
tackle chmate change The industry
continues to work closely together

to develop and promote Its position
It’s now down to the regulators and
Governments to show comnutment to

the industry and to allow us to play our
full part in contnibuting to the global
reduction In greenhouse gas emussions

Economic outlook

The worst of the recession seems to
be over Unemployment in the UK, for
example, seems to have peaked and at
lower levels than had been feared

In our own business, February saw us
record the first increase in premium
traffic since August 2008

But recovery is precarious and 1t would
be foolish to assume we are out of the
woods yet The new UK Government
will be forced to make some very
unpopular decisions in the weeks

and months ahead

Tackling the deficit remains the biggest
priority The new coalition Government
plans to make immediate cuts In the
deficit, we believe this threatens real
dangers, not least that mcreased taxes
and hasty spending cuts could throttle
consumer confidence and tngger

a double dip recession

It 1s vital that the UK develops a
credible, measured plan to reduce the
deficit, spelling out the reductions that
are needed and the umescale in which
they will be achieved With election
grandstanding now out of the way,
this must be a prionty for the new
administration

A tremendous effort

It's been an immensely difficult year for
my colleagues across the business and |
want to thank them for the tremendous
work they have done The spint they've
shown in supporting the business
through one of its most difficult periods
has been unbehevable It's involved a
lot of hard work and considerable
personal sacrifices

Our prospects

Our own recovery depends very much
on how fast the general economy
returns to growth We remain cautious
on that We expect the climb out of
recession to be a relatively slow one

However, | am convinced that the work
we have done over the last 18 months
to restructure our cost base and the
progress we have made on the
challenges we faced at the start of
2009/10, mean we are a far more
reslient business today

That means we can be confident about
sunviving through further economic
uncertainty

More importantly, it means we will be
In a position to actlieve higher levels
of sustainable profitability when
condiuons improve That 1s very good
news for our customers, our staff

and our shareholders

Martin Broughton Chairman
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Chief Executive’s
statement

CONSOLIDATION
IN THE
MARKETPLACE

The arrhne ndustry 1s consolidatng at

an accelerating pace We are determined
to be a leader in the restructuning of

our industry Our proposed merger with
Ibena, and our planned joint business with
Amencan Arrlines and Ibena are examples
of how we are shaping our own destiny

in a new era for international commercial
aviauion These deals are not about getting
bigger They are about getting better,

for the benefit of our customers

® registered trde marks of Amencan Aurlines and Ibena

MIIAIDAD
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Chief Executive's statement
WILLIE WALSH

Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), Willie Walsh, answers some of
the gquestions most frequently asked by shareholders about our
performance in 2009/ 10. He explains why we need radical
change to create a secure and sustainable future for our business
and why consolidation is so high on our agenda.




The economic downturn presented you
with significant challenges to overcome
and meant you obviously needed to
cut costs What actions did British
Airways take?

A

The airline industry 1s facing three
powerful challenges The first is
recession What we have been living
through in the last two years is the
deepest downturn this industry has
ever faced The International Arr
Transport Association (IATA) 1s
forecasting revenues for the industry
as a whole will fall by 15 per centor
$85 bilion in 2009 and 1t expects total
losses to amount to $9 4 billon Our
own revenues have declined by 11 per
cent or £1 bition and we have recorded
losses for the second year running

Traditonally, arlines have been quite
good at cutting costs to counteract
economic recession But they tend to
lose disciphine when markets improve
That's why our industry has lived
through repeated cycles of boom
and bust In fact, in the last decade,
airbnes have enjoyed only two years
of profitability This in rtself 1s not
sustanable for a business hke Britsh
Airways and we must change if we
are to achieve the sort of returns our
shareholders deserve

The industry 1s now facing structural
as well as cychcal change and this has
increased the jeopardy we face

The oil price has nsen from an average
of $48 to $83 a barrel The fact that it's
done that dunng a recession tells you
one thing and one thing alone — high

oll prices are now a fact of life

Secondly, we've seen what we think is a
permanent shift In business travel, with
corporations now no longer willing to
pay premium prices for their staff to
make short trips of under three hours

Thurdly, access to financing - readily
and cheaply avallable two years ago -
has got much tighter in the wake of the
banking crisis We think it will stay that
way for some time to come

This adds up to the deepest cnisis our
ndustry has ever faced We saw no
option but o take swift action to
counteract the downturn and to make
long-term structural changes to match
the permanent structural changes
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imposed on us Our approach will not
just equip us to deal with cychcal
economic changes but will give us a
more efficient base from which to
achieve much higher levels of
profitability when conditions improve

Q

You were very quick to call the
downturn and to begin your cost drnive
Some believe you were over pessimistic?
Have you been over zealous?

A

We did call the recession before most
people And yes some people accused
us of over-egging the pudding and,
even, of talking down British Airways
The truth 1s we called it exactly as

we 5aw It

We began our cost drive in Cctober
2008 with our decision to reduce our
management staff by a third Some
people thought we were mad to mave
so fast and so far But hustory has
taught us that, because of our reliance
on premium traffic, we would be
among the first o feel the effect of
recession and that we'd feel it very
hard We had to move quickly with our
plans ~ making savings, raising over
£700 million of new finance last
summer, including £350 milhon through
the convertible bond and $540 midhon
(approxmmately £330 million) of bank
guarantees released back to us from
our pension Trustees — and matching
our capacity to rapidly dechning
demand to make sure we survived

it's clear that we made the nght
Jjudgement, I'm proud that we have
demonstrated that we can face up to
a cnsis But the fact that we've done
1t 1n a way that will bnng long-term,
permanent benefits to the business,
1s the real satisfaction

Q

Yet the results are stll pretty bleak
aren't they?

A

Yes they are, despite a positive trend

in the second half of the year As Kesth
explains in the next chapter, these
results are so much better than they
would have been if we had just sat back
and tried to nde the eccnomic storm
It's a hard message to get across to
investors when for the second year

running you are not able to pay a
dividend, but our reduction In unit costs
this year has actually been outstanding

Achieving these results has been down
to some fantastic work by people
across the airline who have worked very
hard and in much smarter ways They've
also made personal sacrifices —with
nearly 7,000 applying to work part-
time, take unpawd leave, or work without
pay It'sbeen a really fantastic effort.

Q

You talk about British Airways making
a cost driven recovery What does
this mean?

A

In the short term and with our revenues
in such sharp dechne, we've relied on
the deep cuts we've made in our costs
with savings of some £390 milhon, and
a £597 million reduction n our fuel bill,
to begin to turn round our performance

You saw our underlying profitability
improve in the third and fourth quarter
because we moved extremely quickly
to take cost out of the business - far
faster in fact than most commentators
thought possible This s the first phase
of our recovery and it has been down
to costs

But this is not just about one-off,
emergency cost reductions The
changes we have made are long term
They are about improving the underlying
efficiency of the business on a
perrmanent basis When our revenues
recover - and they will = we will be in

a position to access growth in a much
more profitable way and that makes

us very well placed for recovery

Q

There must be a hmit to the cuts you
can make without burting customer
service Have you reached that Limit?

A

The search for further efficiency has
to continue and 1t will Of course, it
becomes harder as ume goes on But
we are trying to instl a disciphne into
this business and 1t 1s all about looking
for and bullding on our efficiency gains
continuously, 1N good times as well as
bad We need to keep examining all the
costs we control and asking if it 1s a
cost that 1s genuinely bringing value

to our customers?

1

MIIAIBAD
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Chief Executive's statement continued

When you look at cutting cost in this
way It 15 a positive thing, because it is
all about eliminating waste

It's not about cutting service We

have to keep dehvering outstanding
servica at the same ume to meet

our customers' nsing expectations
Efficiency and outstanding service are
the two mam foundanons of the global
premium airine we are trying to build

Q

So operationally, service remains a real
focus for you?

A

Absolutely and I'm delighted that

our punctuality performance scores
continued to nise throughout the year
and our customer service scores
remained robust, despite the severe
challenges we faced Terrmunal 515
playing a big role in that. It's allowing us
to provide customers with a completely
new level of service in a highly efficient
way Those important gains have fed
through elsewhere at Heathrow,
Gatwick and across the entire network

We've also continued with important
strategic investments in our fleet, The
£100 million programme o modernise
our First cabin 1s now under way and
feedback 1s excellent Customers

like the fact that we have given them
what they wanted most — a more
comfortable bed, more space, greater
privacy and understated Briush style,
rather than gadgets and gimmicks

Our longhaul fleet replacement
programme s fully financed up to 2013
The new Boeing 787 and Aurbus A380
arrcraft joiming our fleet from 2012/13
will give us the scope to iImprove

the in-flight experience for all our
customers as well as offering important
envircnmental benefits Cn the ground
we continue to invest n our terminals
and lounges, drawing on the many
lessons we have learnt at Terminal S,
which s a fantasuc asset

And we are continuing to come up with
new deas It was a brave decision to
launch a premium-only direct service
from Londen City t¢ New York in
current market conditions But this

1s a real piece of innovation, offering

customers incredible comfort and
convenience, and truly 1s one of the
most exciting ventures we have done
Introduced 1n September, It's been one
of those quiet successes Seat factors
i the first three maonths averaged 70
per cent, hit 74 per centin December,
and 60 per cent for the six months to
the end of March Customers are urging
us to expand We may well add new
destinattons when the time 1s nght

At the beginning of the year we
launched our BAcking Britain campaign
to help British businesses beat the
recession Working with the UK Trade
and Investment and British American
Business, we offered £15 millon of
free flghts to stimulate business travel
and economic recovery Across the
North Atlanuic, the Harvard Business
Review found that face-to-face
meetings are key to bullding long-term
relanonships So, we created a Business
Opportunities Grant which hundreds
of US businessmen have benefited
from to kick-start business

We have also focused on a new
premium leisure strategy and launched
five new routes dunng the year, including
Punta Cana m the Dominican Republic,
the Maldives and Las Vegas, which

has been a star performing route We
increased capacity to the Caribbean by
40 per cent and are now the brggest
operator in the region

In 1ts first year of operation our
OpenSkies subsidiary serving New
York from Pans has also proved
successful, for example establishing

a 28 per cent share of the Paris/New
York market and achieving good load
factors and strengthening passenger
yields Services from Amsterdam to
New York proved less successful and
were ended during the year, but, given
its otherwise robust performance, we've
decided OpenSkies should remain a
wholly-owned part of our business A
new service from Paris to Washington
was launched on 3 May 2010

Q

Haow do your plans for a merger with
Ibena and to run a joint business with
Amencan Asrlines and Ibena on North
Atantic routes fit with the strategy of
permanent structural change?

A

Qur planned merger with Ibena i1s

a goad deal bath for customers and
for the long-term sustamnability of the
business By bringing together two
complementary networks — one
strongest on the North Atlantic and
Asa, the other strongestn Latin
Amenca — we will be better placed

to cover the globe from our respective
hubs in London and Madnd That means
far greater choice and convenience for
our customers Together we believe we
can also realise some €400 million in
synergtes from the fifth year

We believe our approach leaves the
door open for extending the venture
in futwre Bringing the two airhnes
together is not the end game t's the
beginning of what we hope will be
an exciting journey on the road to
further consolidation

We've waited a long time to win
approval tc operate a joint business
across the North Atlantic wath
American Aurlines and Ibena We've
had t0 be pauent because we beheve
the synergies we can realise by
paoling our resources on this highly
competitive route will be good

for customers, shareholders and

the industry




Q

What happens to the British Awways
brand if you merge with Iberia?

A

Woe've structured the deal carefully to
protect both the Bntish Airways and
Ibena brands Both are very strong

and have a particular resonance In the
market We saw our own brand rise up
the Superbrands league last year from
30th to fourth place That tells you how
valuable our brand now 1s and we would
be foolish to put that value at nsk

That's why we've concentrated In our
merger plans, on bullding one over-
arching economic entity known as
International Asrlines Group, sitting
above two operating companies with
their own distinct brands remamning
In place, just as they are today

A simple analogy for what we are
proposing can be found m the hotel
industry Take the InterContinental
Hotels Group (IHG), for example IHG
owns brands as diverse as Holiday Inn,
Crown Plaza and InterContinental
People know exactly what to expect
from each of these distinct brands
They know they are not the same
hotels, yet they are owned, managed
and operated by the same company

British Arways 2009/10 Annual Report and Accounts

You'll see us take a similar path in our
merger with Ibernia and stay on that
path if, at a later stage, we look to
bring other brands into the venture

As the pace of consoldation picks up
in the industry, we will need to become
Increasingly expert at the business

of managing brands across the globe

Q

What 1s the latest position on the
alleged pnice fixing between British
Airways and Virgin Atlantic?

A

In 2007, the Office of Fair Trading
(OFT) had agreed that it would be
prepared to resolve its Invesugations
into alleged price fixing between
Bntish Airways and Virgin Atlantic
under the Competition Act 1998 if
certain conditions were met. Given
the collapse of the erminal tnal on

10 May 2010, the aguittal of the four
defendants and in light of potential new
evidence, we are considenng whether
the settlement offer made by the OFT,
including the as yet unpaid fine of
£121 5 milhon, remain appropriate

Q

The dispute with the Unite union over
changes you have made to cabin crew

1 In September, we launched
our innovative all-business-class
service from London City to New
York This was an instant success
with customers

2 Terminal 5 allows us to provide
customers with a completely
new level of service in a highly
efficent way Self-service check-
n at Termunal 5 enhances the
customer experience

working practices caused huge
disruption for your customers Why
1$ 1t 50 hard to find a resolution?

A

Firstly, we regret the disruption and
uncertainty this dispute has caused to
our customers We did everything in
our power to negotiate a settlement
with Unite over the course of a year
Three vmes we successfully argued
our case through the courts, first to
stop a planned 12 day strike over
Chinstmas and when our decision

to introduce changes to cabin crew
work arrangements in November
was challenged

when strkes were eventually called

in March we drew up very thorough
contingency plans For the seven days
of strikes, the airline operated 79 per
cent of longhaul flights and 58 per cent
shorthaul Though some custorners
were understandably unhappy to

face unnecessary disruption, many
let me know that they understood
our posiion and many urged us 1o
see our planned changes through

Secondly, | regret that we found
ourselves at loggerheads with very
valued members of staff at a cntical
time When we have had the chance
to explam our praposals directly, many
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Chief Executive's statement continued

understand what cur agenda is really
about. to secure jobs in the arrline and
put the business on a footing where
it can achieve the growth it needs to
survive long term They understand
that, without change, British Arrways
will just shnink and shnnk and shrink
Because of the legacy structures

we have in this businass, we are
increasingly unable to serve some
popular destinations in our network,
such as Sydney, profitably We need
profitable growth to make this
business sustainable

Q

Some observers believe both sides
were set on confrontation over this
1ssue s that fair?

A

| genuinely believe it 1s unfair to say
we looked for confrontation We
negotiated these changes over the
course of a year and tried repeatedly
to answer concerns raised by our staff

There are very few, If any, FTSE CEQOs
who have spent as much ume at the
Trades Umion Congress (TUC) 1 would
not do that if | did not believe we could
find a solution

Our position I1s clear We've done
some excellent work with the unions
over the years and we're happy to
work with them But we can't let them
stand in the way of the progress that's
needed to make our airline’s future
more secure

Q

You saw no merit in Linite's own cost
saving proposals?

A

Their proposals — which included a
substantial pay cut for our crews —
would not have resulted in the savings
they were claming The numbers didn't
add up In fact, their plans would have
sought pay cuts from Gatwick crew —
who already work with reduced crew
numbers - to pay for extra crew at
Heathrow That 1s wrong Our own
proposals — which involve no reduction
in pay for existing staff and no

compulsory redundancies — would
save £62 5 million a year They are
fully and carefully costed

They do mean that peaple will have
to work harder But we know just how
hard people are prepared to work

to secure our future — they've shown
it in every part of the business, in

the air and an the ground, in the
current downturn

This is the true culture and spint of
British Airways We want to make
sure we use that spint externally not
internally — to compete against other
arrhines rather than amongst ourselves

Q

Have the difficulues of the last year
forced you 1o rethink your commitments
on corporate responsibility (CR)?

A

Our commuitment on these 1ssues Is
all part of our long-term strategy to
create a sustainable global business,
as | hope this report and our separate
CR report demonstrate But the real
test 15 in what we are doing, not just
what we are saying

This year our main prionty has been
managing change and making sure
wherever possible we support our
staff through that change We've had
to push through a very big redundancy
programme — achieved entirely on a
voluntary basis By and large | think
we have communicated the need fer
change well and responsibly and the
majonity of our staff have supported
us in unbehevable ways Of course,
the dispute with Unite shows that
we still have lessons to learn

Q

And on the environment?

A

As Martin has made clear in his
introductory remarks, we have
continued to argue for an effective
global emissions trading scheme
that includes our industry We have
established an industry lead in
emissions trading by taking part in
the UK scheme and we know that

it works We are also pushing our
industry to adopt a coherent set of
carbon reduction targets, not least a
commutment to halve (2005) carbon
emissions by 2050 - a target we set
ourselves in 2008

We're ready 1O Invest In new ways to
meet our targets That's why we are so
excited about our venture with the LIS
Energy group, Solena, to turn London’s
rubbish into bio-kerosene at a new
plant in East London, set to go on
streamn 2014

The process sounds like alchemy but
in fact uses esasting technology that
1s being combined for the first time
The projections are that this more
environmentally friendly ‘drop in fuel’
which we can use without modifying
our arcraft and engines, wifl be
cerufied for use in an unblended form
by the ume it is produced in 2014
‘We have committed to buying the
complete output of the plant, which,
once at full ult, will produce enough
fuel to power more than twice our
entire London City operation

We're dehighted the project will also
create 1,000 jobs dunng construction
and 200 permanent posts at the

new plant

Q

So 15 the business well set for the future?

A

We think our market will recover, but
recovery is likely to be gradual The
important thing 1s that we are ready
forit.

We've genuinely changed the cost base
of our business in a structural way It's
not perfect yet and there's more to do
I'm delighted we've been able to do
that important work while maintaining
a strong operational performance and
delvenng outstanding customer service

The fact that we've done that should
give all our stakeholders confidence that
we can continue to do 50 n the future

Willie Walsh Chief Executive
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Chief Financial
Officer's statement

A COST DRIVEN
RECOVERY
LEADING TO
LONG-TERM
PROFITABLE
GROWTH

With the recession and structural market
change leading to a sharp decline in our
revenues, we have responded quickly

by making sigruficant and permanent
reductions in our cost base We have gone
further and faster than predicted So far
our recovery has been cost driven, but
crucially, we now have a more efficient
base from which to achieve higher levels
of profitability in the future

15
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Chief Financial Officer’s statement

The financial performance of our business
is linked to the general strength of the
economies in the UK and across the world.
We have had to cope with the deepest
downturn in the global economy in

60 years.

.
BETTER
£400m
2009/10  2008/09
£600m Basic operating result ~ (146) (142}
Restructuning (85) (78}
WORSE ng-,!i Operating result (231) (2200

With the recession and structural market
change leading to a sharp decline in our
revenues, we have responded quickly
by making significant and permanent
reductions in our cost base We have
gone further and faster than predicted
The result Is that although still loss
making, we have been able to stabilise
the financial performance of the
Company and have been able to

beat most analyst expectations for

the business

So far, our recovery has been cost
dniven, but crucially, we now have a
more efficient base from which to bring
the business back to profitabihty as the
economic recovery gathers pace

The impact of the recession 1s being
compounded by important structural
changes to our business The first s
the impact of high oil pnces which
have increased our fuel cost to the
point of being our single largest cost
and, secondly, changes in shorthaui
business travel have had some impact
on our revenues

The impact of the recession has
been to reduce our revenue by
111 per cent to £7,994 milhon

We anticipated the sharp decline
n revenue and adapted our costs
accordingly As a consequence, we

reported an operating loss which
was almost flat year on year — a loss
of £231 milkon including £85 rmulhion
for restructuring the business

As a result of increased interest
and pension costs, our pre-tax loss
increased frorm £401 milhon to
£531 million

Revenue declne

Passenger revenue for the year was
down by £856 million, a decline of
109 per cent The first half of the
year saw the most dramatic dechne
IN revenue, as premium revenues
were affected by the sudden and
severe drop 1n demand as a result
of the changing economic outlock
Revenue started 1o recover in the
second half of the year, as capacity
was better matched to demand and
yields started to recover

We were quick to manage capacity to
this greatly reduced demand, cutting
overall flying by 4 9 per cent.

In responding to the extent of the
downturn, particularly in the UK, we
were quick to take advantage of the
stronger euro to offer more seats for
sale in european markets than was
previousty the case for this typically
lower yielding traffic As a result, our
transfer volumes grew in the first half

of the year, and then eased off again
as the point-to-point business started
to recover This contributed to the
strong seat factors reported all year

Seat load factor — the percentage of
seats actually filled — rose by 1 5 points,
to 78 5 per cent. This compares very
well with some of our main competitors
who have reported significant declines
in load factors

Geographically, we saw the steepest
decline In traffic on our asian routes,
while on the North Atlanuc, a major
part of our business, traffic held up
remarkably welt and showed promising
signs of improvement towards the

end of the year, which bodes well

for our recovery

Qur cargo business, Iike our passenger
bustness, experienced a sharp decline

in the first half of the year but began to
recover quite strangly as the year closed

Global freight markets were impacted
materially by the economic downturn,
reaching a low point in early 2009,
more than 20 per cent lower than the
previous year Bntsh Airways World
Cargo (BAWC) volumes, measured in
cargo tonne kilometres (CTKSs), were
down 8 1 per cent for the first half of
the year Since November 2009, both
the market and British Airways have




. ]
Total revenue £ milion

2000410 [7.994 ]
200809 [8.992 1
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2005706 (8213 ]
*Restated for the adopuion of IFRIC 13 & 14

seen a return to positive year on year
growth, with overall volumes for the
year down only 2 2 per cent against
capacity, down 4 6 per cent

Market reductions in capacity lagged
and were lower than the demand
reduction, impacting market yields

by more than 20 per cent Qur cargo
yield (revenue per CTK} averaged
165 per cent lower than the previous
year, including the impact of lower
fuel surcharges

The overall load factor for the year
was 73 3 per cent, up 1 3 ponts on
last year

Creating a competitive cost base

{ want to be very clear about the acuon
we have taken on costs dunng the year
and assure you that we are very sernous
about identfying further efficiencies
We remain completely focused on
creating a competitive cost base that
will underpin our future performance,
in good economic times and bad

We benefited from two areas of
radically reduced costs dunng the year
With ol pnces sull ugh but at lower
levels than we saw the year before,
our fuel bill was £597 miltion lower

at £2 4 billion
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Fuel costs £ miion
2009710 [2372 ]

2008/09 [2.969

2007/08 [2955 ]
2006/07 [1931 ]
2005/06 [158% ]

At the same time, we were able

1o reduce our non-fuel costs by
£39C million A large proportion of
that reduction was down o much
lower employee costs which were
down by 8 9 per cent or £195 mithon
on the year at £1,998 million

This reduction was achieved through a
number of factors including improved
productivity through permanent
changes to working practices across
the business and the impasition of a
two year pay freeze for all our staff
Many of the changes in working
practices were introduced in the
second half of the year For example,
our decision to deploy one fewer
cabin crew on our longhaul flights was
only introduced 1n November 2009
These permanent structural changes
are required to return our business

to profitability

QOur manpower (MPE) has fallen by
nearly 3,800 since March 2009 to
36,832 This reduction comes from
productivity improvements and natural
attriton combined with voluntary
redundancy, decreased overtime, an
Increase n part-time workmg and
unpaid leave

in the short term, these savings —
coupled with a near £600 million
reduction in our fuel bill compared

Returming our business to profitability
requires permanent structural change
n our cost base So far our recovery
has been cost driven, but crucially,
we now have a more efficient base
from which to achieve higher levels
of profitabihity in the future as
€Cconomic Improvement continues

with 2008/09, when il pnces spiked
to $146 abarmrel - meant we could offset
the sharp reduction in our revenues

It's been a cost driven recovery

so far with some signs of revenue
improvement towards the end of the
year This gives us some oplimism
for a return to profitability

I hope you can see from the action

we have taken how sernously we saw
the need io reduce costs both in the
short term and on a permanent basis
But the work must continue and the
search for further cost savings will go
on, as Wille has already made clear
Controllable costs are being put under
the microscope continuously and pared
back wherever we can be sure that our
actions will not jeopardise efforts to
provide outstanding customer service

We also expect to see long-term ¢ost
benefits from consohdavon Qur planned
merger with Ibena and our proposed
venture with American Airlines and
Ibena to operate a joint business on
North Atlantic routes should prowide
significant synergies, both in terms

of savings and improved revenue

We expect total synergies from the
merger with Ibena to be n the region
of €400 million annually by the

fifth year

\7
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Chief Financial Officer's statement continued

Operating expenditure

Better/
€ mdlion 2009/10 2008/09 (worse)
Employee costs 1,998 2,193 89%
Restructuring 85 78 {30)%
Depreciation, amortisation and imparrment 732 694 {(55)%
Aurcraft operating lease costs 69 73 55%
Fuel and ol costs 2,372 2,969 201%
Engineenng and other aircraft costs 505 510 10%
Landing fees and en route charges 608 603 08)%
Handling charges, catering and other operating costs 997 1,021 24%
Selling costs 290 369 214%
Currency differences (2) 117 nm
Accommodation, ground equipment and |T costs 571 585 24%

Total Group expenditure on operations

8,225 9,212 107%

Total Group expenditure excluding fuel

5,853 6,243 62%

nm = nat meaningful.

Pensions financing expense

and retransiation expenses

Pensions financing expense was

£116 mihon compared to £17 million
in the prior year This was mainly due
to the fact that we saw a £160 million
decrease in the return on assets and a
£37 mullion charge for the amorusation
of actuanal losses {mainly associated
with the New Awrways Pension Scheme
{NAPS)) This is partially offset by
lower interest costs of £30 millon

and an immediate recognition of

an £85 million gain on the Airways
Pension Scheme (APS) due to the
effect of the asset celing

The retranslation of currency
borrowings generated a charge of
£14 million, compared with a charge
of £59 million the previcus year, due
to the weakening of sterling, offset
by the de-designation of a portion
of our yen debt

Taxation

The analysis and explanation of tax on
the result for the year s set out in note
11 to the financal statements

Qur total tax credit for the year was
£106 milhon (2009 credit £43 milhon)
The tax credit included a one-off

deferred tax movement of £13 milion
credit ansing from a change In foreign
profits tax legislation which was
enacted during the year, and there
were adjustments relating to prior
years giving rise to a credit of £9 millon
(2009 £10 mullion credit) and the
effect of pension fund accounting of
E£45 milhon (2009 £5 milhon credit)
Excluding these one-off items, the
effective tax rate for the Group would
have been 24 per cent

Our deferred tax balance at

31 March 2010 was £774 million
(2009 £652 milion) The year on year
movement was pnmarnly related to

the tax effect of the retranslation of
foreign debt and the marked-to-market
movement on fuel and currency
hedges and pension funding temporary
differences, offset by the reversal of
fixed asset temporary differences and
further trading losses, which can be
utiised aganst future taxable profits

of the Company

The Group also contributes tax
revenues through payment of
transaction and payroll related taxes
The total amount of such taxes pawd
dunng the year was £636 million
{2009 £632 million)

Earnings per share

A basic loss per share of 38 5 pence
(2009 loss 32 6 pence) is attributable
to shareholders

Other reserves

Other reserves at 31 March 2010
were £692 mithon, an increase of
£262 million from March 2009 This
increase is pnmanly dnven by the
marked-to-market movement on fuel
and cash flow hedges of £587 milhon
offset by the loss for the year The
equity portion of the convertible bond
raised m August 2009 adds a further
£84 milhon to reserves

Dividend
The Board has decided not to
recommend the payment of a dividend

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure in the year
amounted to £567 million, down
£145 mithon on last year

We reduced our projected capital
spend from £725 million in our
financial plan to a target of £575 milion
for the year, but 1n the end spent
even less than projected by cancelling
some non-essential programmes and
delaying others




Capital expenditure
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£ million 2009/10 2008/09
.

Fleet — awrcraft, spares, modifications and refurbishments

{net of refund of progress payments) 518 584
Property and equipment 36 67
Landing nghts and other intangible assets 13 61
Total 567 712
Liquidity Financial nsk management

Our liquidity position remains strong
with £1 7 billion of cash at the end
of the year We raised an additional
£350 mulon through a convertible
bond issue in August 2009 to boost
our reserves and make sure we had
sufficient cash and capital te invest

1N CoNtNUING IMprovements N our
business At the same time the
Trustees of our defined benefit
schemes reteased bank guarantees
of $540 million (approximately

£330 mullion) to the arrline These
can be drawn in cash at any tume until
June 2012 Note 24 to the financial
statements provides detalled analysis
and explanation of our cash flow
posiion Our capital expenditure
commitments are outined in note 15
to the financial statements

We are exposed to a variety of financial
risks, including rmarket nisk, credit nisk,
capital nsk and hquidity nsk Qur overall
risk management prograrmme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on our
financial performance This s covered
in more detall in note 30 to the
financial statements

Going concern

Our business activities, performance,
strategy and nsks are set out in this
report The financial position of the
Group, including cash flows, hquidity
positon and avalable committed
facihites are discussed in this section,
and further information 1s provided
in notes 24 1o 31 of the finangial
statements

1 Cur manpower at Just under
37,000 includes approximately
5,000 engineering colleagues

2 There were 238 arcraft in service
at 31 March 2010 Qur new
Boeing 777-300 ERs, with therr
improved fuel efficiency and
envicnmental performance,
will begin to arrive 1n 2010

|
Group manpower period end MPE

Mar 2010 [36,832 ]
Dec 2008
Sep 2000 {38,691 ]

Jun 2009 (39,175 ]
Mar 2009 140,627 !
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Chief Financial Officer's statement continued

We have also focused on a new
premium leisure strategy We
launched five new leisure routes
during the year and increased
capacity to the Caribbean by

40 per cent Many of these routes
operate out of Gatwick

After making enquiries, our Directors
have a reasonable expectation that our
Company and the Group has adequate
resources to continue operaung for the
foreseeable future For this reason, the
going concern basis has been adopted
n preparing the accounts

Outlook

Aurlines map GDOP When recession hits,
premium services tend to fall first and
fastest As recovery begins they also
tend to be quickest to pick up With
our dependence on premium travel,
this means we should see our own
performance pick up ahead of some
of our main competitors

That's been the pattern in the past and
it's likely to be repeated The difference
this ume 1s that we will be going into
recovery in much better shape than

in the past, having tackled many of
the legacy cost structures that have
traditionally held this business back

But the pace of general recovery
remains hard to predict. We expectit
to be slow and we remain vulnerable
to the threat of a double-dip recession
The ol price presents us with another
difficuit nsk although we remain
comfortably hedged to nde further
volatidity should it return to the market

Cash balance of
£1.7 billion

There are other uncertainues that we
must contend with too As you know,
much of northern Europe’s airspace
was shut down for six days n Apnit
following the erupuon of the volcano
in Iceland It's pretty remarkable to
think that the disruption caused by this
event was far greater than that seen n
the aftermath of the 9/11 attacks on
New York We estimate it to have cost
us around £100 mullion

Although we were pleased to work
with the authornues, aerospace
manufacturers and other airines

to reassess the restricuons airlines
operate under when volcanic ash is
present in the atmosphere, we cannot
rule out further disruption in the
months ahead

It has been a difficult two years for the
arhne as we faced economic recession
We should see some significant recovery
this year as the economy improves

Keith Willlams Chief Financial Officer
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The markets
we operate In

ssauisng Jno

MATCHING
CAPACITY
TO DEMAND

The longest and deepest recession In
ving memary has meant we have had

to move quickly to match our capacity

to a rapid dechne in demand In February
2010 we saw the first upturn in demand
for premium travel in 18 months With
recovery likely to be slow, we will continue
to match our flying schedule to demand
and to general economic activity as it
picks up
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MARKET
OVERVIEW

The global economic and
financial crisis coupled with
continued high fuel prices

has accelerated consolidation
in the airline industry Many
passenger and cargo carners
have either gone bust or have
been absorbed into other
arrhnes and, overall, the global
aviation market remains weak

2009 saw the collapse of
SkyEurope, Flyglobespan and
the merger of Alitalia with Air
One, for example In Asia, JAL
filed for bankruptcy protection

In Europe, we have announced
plans to merge with tberia
Austnan Airlines, Brussels
Aifines and bmi have all been
taken over by Lufthansa In the
US, Northwest has merged
with Delta and United Airlines
and Continental Airlines have
announced a merger to create
the world’s largest airline
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The markets we operate in

Whiist a number of major developed
economies started to emerge from
recession during the first half of our
financial year, the UK lagged behind.

It eventually endured six consecutive
quarters of negative growth, amounting
to the longest and deepest recession in
lving memory, before finally emerging
from recession in the final three
months of 2009. Momentum appears
to have been maintained in early 2010,
discounting the impact of the severe
winter weather we suffered in January.




Global premium air travel demand
in key markets, calendar year 2009

Prermum demand

North Atlantic -12 2%
Within Europe -251%
within Far East -198%
Europe - Far East -156%
Europe - Middle East -59%
Total market -158%
Source IATA

British Arways 2009/10 Annual Report and Accounts

The economic landscape

Whilst there are now clear causes

for optimism for the UK economy, a
number of persistent cancems remain
and these may still delay a rebound

Iin consurmer canfidence Recovery in
2010 1s, therefore, likely to be slow,
although momentum may build in 2011

The US returned to positive growth
one quarter earlier than the UK, and
we saw eConcmic activity grow at an
unprecedented rate in the final three
months of 2009 - far faster and
stronger than the rebound seen after
the downturns of 1991 and 2001

Emerging economies, and partcularly
those in East Asia, have also bounced
back strongly on the back of a
recovery in world trade, and massive
government support for the Chinese
economy Improving domestic demand
In these countnes, driven by both
consumer spending and business
investment, should ensure the strong
growth witnessed in China in recent
years continues

Ristng sovereign debt levels, however,
pose a new threat to global economic
security There are nsks that the global
financtal cnisis, from which we are now
emerging, will evolve into a global fiscal
crisis and that national deficits, which
have ballooned dunng recession, may
curtail future growth

We are already seeing the start of the
fiscal claw back in the UK, and growth
has become sufficiently strongin a
number of economies for monetary
policy to begin returning to normal But
worries about nauonal debt have been
exacerbated by recent developments in
Dubai and Greece The latter's problems
have exposed the fiscal frailtes of some
other European countrnies, depressing
the outlcok for the Eurozone despite
Its encouraging exit from recession 1n
the second half of 2009

Impact on our industry

Demand for global premium travel
finally returned to year on year growth
in December 2009, some three
months behind an upturn in general
global economic actvity It was the
first such ncrease in 18 months

Regionally, demand i1s picking up at very
different rates, however, reflecting the
differing pace of economic recovery i
major economies Emerging markets
have seen the strongest rebound in
growth The Far East and Middle East
markets are now performing well,
whilst the North Atlantic market has
come very close to recording growth
But premium demand within Europe
remains depressed, thanks both to
recession and significant structural
changes in the arrline sector

Corpaorate responsibility

While recession 1s the overnding concern
for most customers, the environment
and corporate responsibility remain very
important 1ssues to them Itis clear from
research that those companies with a
clear and open commitment to behave
responsibly and to manage their
environmental impact have a far greater
chance of building a trusted relatlonship
with ther customers

Competition

In response to the worsening economic
condiions, the arrline industry 1s 11 the
process of change in a number of areas

Consolidation

The global economic and financial crisis
coupled with continued high fuel prices,
has accelerated consolidation in the
airline industry Many passenger and
cargo carmers have either gone bust or
have been absorbed into other arrlines
and, overall, the global aviation market
remains weak

2009 saw the collapse of SkyEurope,
Flyglobespan and the merger of Alitalia
with Air One, for example In Asia, JAL
filed for bankrupicy protection

In Eurcpe, we have announced plans

to merge with Ibena Austnan Airtines,
Brussels Airlines and bmi have all been
taken over by Lufthansa In the LIS,
Northwest has merged with Delta and
Linited Airhines and Conunental Airlines
have announced a merger 1o create

the world's largest arline

Increased competition

Most of the markets i which we
operate are highly competitive Levels
of competition vary, route by route

23
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The markets we operate in continued

In Apnl 2009 we completed our
third applicaton to EU and US
competition authonties to operate
a Joint business on North Atlantic
routes with our oneworld allance
partners, American Airlines

and lbena

We are seeking the same anti-trust
immunity to run this business as

1s already enjoyed by our major
competitors Their respective
alhances, Star and Skyteam, are
already allowed to coordinate
schedules and offer customers a
wide range of benefits and valuable
services Other recent regulatory
changes have made these routes,
and Heathrow in parbcular, far more
competitive than in the past and
we have argued that the move
would bnng real benefits and
choice to customers

We receved tentative approval

for our joint business agreement
from the US Department of
Transportation {DOT) in February
2010 and we hope to receive final
approval shortly We have tabled
commitments to the European
Commisston to address competition
concerns expressed 1n its Statement
of Objections of September 2009
The commutments include making
daily take-cff and landing slot pairs
available at Heathrow, Gatwick
and/or New York JFK to allow

other operaters to compete with

us on transataniic routes

On a few international routes
competition remains imited, with
restncuons placed on the number

of flights that can be operated and
regulattons governing the fares that
can be charged At the other extreme
there i5 a free market for flights within
Europe, allowing any European airline
to operate any route it chooses and
to set Its own fares

In an effort to protect thewr airines from
the effects of the financial cnisis and
global recession, some governments
have regrettably resorted to bailout
programmes This has been particularly
true in a number of major emerging
markets, most notably in China

and India

Shorthaul market

On sharthau! routes, we face
competition in the air and on the ground
Train operators in the UK are taking a
bigger share of the air/rail travel markets
now that mfrastructure iImprovements
have cut journey times on key lines such
as the West Coast mainfine Eurostar,
despite being severely disrupted by
snow and freezing weather in January,
continues to grow and carned 1 2 per
cent more passengers n 2009, at aume
when dermand for flights from London to
Brussels and to Panis fell by 14 per cent
and 3 per cent, respectively

‘No frills’ airlines are continuing to grow,
but have switched therr prienties to
growth at continental arports While
seat capacity in London fell by 8 per
cent for full service arrlines dunng
2009, the ‘no frlls’ carmers cut their
seats on London routes by just 3 per
cent. Competiion among these 'no frills’
carners at Gatwick is also expected

to intensify

Longhaul market

Deregulation has had a significant
impact on our longhau! business

The first phase of the ELIFUS Open
Skies agreement, which took effect

n summer 2008, has altered the
competitive landscape on transatlantic
routes, especially at Heathrow

IS carriers Delta, Continental and
US Airways have all commenced new
services from Heathrow and in 2009
offered a total of 102 services per
week New entrants and existing
carniers from the Middle East, Afnca
and India have also added capacity

at Heathrow Qur own OpenSkies
subsidiary now operates direct
services to the US from Pans

Other important markets are also being
hberalised The EU recently signed an
‘open skies’ deal with Canada Similar
agreements are expected to follow
with other hke-minded countnies such



as Australia, New Zealand and Brazil
in the coming years

A new generation of wide-body
arrcraft 1s also changing the competitive
landscape The Airbus A380 is now
well established at Heathrow, with
three awrlines offering a total of 28
departures a week during 2009 and
additional services confirmed for 2010

Regulatory controls

The arhine industry 1s highly regulated
Almost everything we do -~ from the
routes we fly, to the business partners
we cooperate with, the airport slots we
use, the fares we set, the infrastructure
costs we pay, safety, security and the
way we manage our environmental
impact — governed or influenced by

a web of ught regulations

There were a number of iImportant
regulatory developments duning the
year that will have a major impact
on the industry in general and on
our own long-term strategy

Liberahsation

In April 2009 we completed our third
application to EU and US competition
authonties to operate a joint business
on North Atlantic routes with our
oneworld alliance partners, Amencan
Aurlines and Ibena
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We are seeking the same anti-trust
immunity to run this business as s
already enjoyed by our major
competitors Therr respective alliances,
Star and Skyteam, are already allowed
to coordinate schedules and offer
customers a wide range of benefits
and valuable services Other racent
regulatory changes have made these
routes, and Heathrow in particular,

far more competitive than in the past
and we have argued that the move
would bnng real benefits and choice
to customers

We received tentative approval for our
Joint Busingss Agreement from the US
Department of Transportation (DOT)
n February 2010 and we hope to
recerve final approval shortly We have
tabled commitments to the European
Commission to address compenition
concerns expressed in its Statement

of Qbjections of September 2009

The commitments include making daily
take-off and landing slot paws available
at Heathrow, Gatwick and/or New York
JFK to allow other operators to cormpete
with us on transatlantic routes

On 10 March 2010, the European
Commussion nvited comments from
interested parties on these proposals
If they confirm that these provide a
suitable remedy for any competition
concerns, the European Commission

1 We have focused on fuel and
emission savings through shutting
down one engine on aircraft
taxing to the terminal

2 We have started developing our
express arfreight proposition,
Prionuse, which will be relaunched
dunng 2010

3 We have a target of 80 per cent
of customners departing Heathrow
to use either an airport check-in
kiosk or ba com
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15 expected to make the comrmitments
legally binding on the parties and close
Its investigation into the alliance

ELI-US second stage talks

The EU and US reached agreement in
Brussels in March on a draft second
stage Arr Transport Agreement. This will
be taken to the EU Council of Ministers
in June for final agreement No progress
was made on any immediate hfting of
ownership and control restrictions
{O&C) by the US Instead, both sides
have committed to continued
negotiations aimed at removing market
access barners in the future Both sides
will be incentivised to change therr laws
in respect of Noise (in the case of the
EU) and on O&C (in the case of the LIS),
and wiil be granted additional rights
when they do so The suspension clause
or ‘clawback’ that was due to trigger

in November 2010 if there was no
progress on O&C, has been replaced by
a ‘freeze’ prowision that will allow the EU
to freeze growth If there 1s insufficient
progress on O&C in the future Some
progress was made on ‘Fly America’,
with the US agreeing to give EU carners
access 1o US government ‘contractor’
traffic, excluding defence/military traffic

UK arrposts
The UKDOT and the Cwvil Aviation
Authonty (CAA) are conducting
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The markets we operate in continued

We want all of our customers to enjoy
a prermium service at every point of
their journey, whenever and wherever
they travel with us We monitor our
customers’ views through our Think
Customer Survey This 1s independent
market research involving more than
36,000 customers each month

consultations on a revised framework
for the regulation of UK airports It1s
too early to know what the ultimate
shape of the new framework will be or
the impact it will have on our business
We are contributing actively to the
consultations, arguing that regulation
should prevent abuse by monopoly
airport service providers and offer
Incentives to airport operators

that improve their performance

and efficiency

In October 2009, BAA sold Gatwick
airport to Global Infrastructure
Partners The sale of Stansted airport
1s on hold, awaiting legal challenges to
the Competition Commussion's report
that called for the arport to be sold

Capacity constraints at Heathrow
mean it has fallen behind competing
European arports in recent years,
threatening its position as one of

the world'’s leading arrports The UK
Government announced in 2009 that
it was in favour of developing a third,
short runway at Heathrow, subject to
tight environmental conditions being
met in terms of noise, emissions and
ar quality

As expected, the new
Conservative/Liberal Democrat
coahtion Government has confirmed
that 1t will not support a planning

application for a third Heathrow
runway and has alsc ruled out
approval of new runways at Gatwick
or Stansted

Environment

All airlines have to meet a
comprehensive range of local, national
and international environmental
regulations Qur approach to these

1s to comply with all regulations as

an absolute minimum, and to exceed
them in a number of key areas For
example, our target to halve our 2005
net CO, emissians by 2050 leads the
industry in commitment to reducing
our carbon emissions

Safety and securnity

Safety and secunty are key prnonties
for us We have a formal safety
management system in place to
ensure that we comply with all
relevant regulations We operate

a comprehensive monitoring system
to ensure all incidents are reported
and necessary action taken From
the start of 2009, all IATA member
airlines have been required to pass
an International Operational Safety
Audit (IOSA) We have held IOSA
accreditation since October 2007

Governments across the world

have introduced a range of secunty
measures to combat the threat

of terronsm and control legal
immigration We continue to engage
with the European Commission, the
UK and other governments to make
sure that these measures are effective
while causing the minimum possible
INConverience to our customers

Our security department works
within the wider international security
framework to ensure that any threats
to our business are minimised and to
protect our customers, worldwide
assets, operations and staff
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Our strategy
and objectives
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G,
’nfow our presenc®
€y global ciue®

FOCUSED ON
OUTSTANDING
CUSTOMER
SERVICE

Meeting the nsing expectations of our
customers remains central to our strategy
of transforming British Airways into the
world's leading global premum airline
Our investment in our staff, our fleet and
our facilities are all about making sure we
provide the very best in customer service
We want all of our customers to enjoy a
premium service at every point of their
journey, whenever and wherever they
travel with us.
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Qur strategy and objectives

We have lived through unprecedented market conditions over the
last 18 months. Throughout this we have remained focused on
our strategy to become the world’s leading global premium airline.

The actions we are taking now to make our cost base more
efficient and our unstinting focus on outstanding customer service
are cntical parts of this long-term vision. They will determine

how strongly we emerge from the current downturn and will help
us to create a sustainable and profitable future for the business,
benefiting our customers, colleagues and shareholders.

In this section, we explain the strategy in detall and describe the
actions we're taking to pursue it

GLOBAL

What we offer will appeal to customers across the globe.
Wherever we operate, Individuals and business travellers alike
will want to fly with us whenever they can.

PREMIUM

We will make sure all our customers enjoy a unique premium
service whenever and wherever they come into contact with us.
Our customers will recognise that the service we offer is worth
paying that little bit more for

AIRLINE

We will remain focused on aviation — moving people and cargo
IS our core business. We will develop new products and services
to complement this.




OLUR FIVE STRATEGIC GOALS
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Be the airline
of choice for
longhaul premium

Longhaul premum customers are key to our
profitability We will use our deep understanding of
what 1s required to be ther arline of choice to drive
our design chaices on product, network and service
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customers We will also maintain a strong presence In the cargo,
economy and shorthau! segments, which play a
cntical supporting role
Deliver an Our customer-facing staff have long been passionate
outstandlng about delivering cutstanding customer service We
service for want to build on this through a revolution in the way
we lead, train and reward, so that all our customers,
customers at on all routes and classes, enjoy a premium expenence
every touch We will invest both in improvements targeted at our
pOII‘It premium customers, such as senvice style training,
and in those benefiting all customers, such as
Terminal 5 and bacom
Grow our We aim to provide the best global connectivity for our
presence in key ;us;omers We will t;mld clzur pn:‘s.encz;:1 in the top ger e
| ciues, either directly or through our expanding
global cities 0%

network of arine partnerships Whilst the established
global cities such as London and New York remain
cnical, we will place a special emphasis on developing
our position in the global cities of tomorrow

Build on our
leading position
in London

Meet our
customers’ needs
and improve
margins through
new revenue
streams

London 1s our home city, the emotional and financial
heart of our business Itis also the world's biggest and
most competitive international air market Ensuring
Heathrow remains a world-class hub 1s vital to give

us a strong London base to serve the largest
international longhaul markets To support this, we
will look to influence government policy decisions,
and work with the airport owners on the continued
development of the infrastructure

Auirline revenue streams will always be the core of
our business However, we will look to augment this
by building profitable ancillary services that offer
customers preat value and re-enforce our brand We
will explore how we can develop new products and
services which exploit our assets and capabilities,
and meet the needs of our core customers and
enhance loyalty
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Our business plan

Our business plan i1s built around our Global Premium Airline strategy, and defines
In detail both what we need to achieve as a business, and how we need to work
together. It encompasses our Compete 2012 change programme. This 15 linked

to our sponsorship of the London 2012 Olympics and Paralympic Games, and is
tasked with refreshing our culture. The plan 1s structured around five key themes —
Colleagues, Customer, Performance, Excellence and Partnerships:

BUSINESS PLAN THEME

OUR FOCUS FOR 2010/11

Colleagues

what we do to improve
how we work together
and how we develop our
people so that we are

a high-performing
organisation

Customer

what we do to deliver an
outstanding experience
for all our customers

Despite the tough economic envirenment, and challenging industnal relations, we saw huge
commitment to the success of British Airways nght across the Company, including high levels
of volunteering to support the operation through disruption In 2010/11 we will look to build
on this In a number of ways We will work to boost the engagement nght across the Company;
rallying our colleagues with a dnive towards ever greater customer service We will continue

to make targeted investments t@ improve the way we manage our talent, with the focus this
year on the development of our front-line leaders And we will embed cur customer-centric
outlook into our reward framework, and increasingly use performance-related pay

We will continue to evolve our products, for instance through the roll-out of the restyled
First cabin, and through the development of products fit for the Boeing 7875 and Arrbus
380s we have on order We will refine the Terminal 5 expenence for premium passengers,
as well as making targeted investments in overseas lounges A new in-flight entertainment
system 1S being introduced on our new longhau! aircraft, starting with our Boeing 777-
300ERs in 2010 We will continue the targeted development of ba com that has made it
such an important part of the way customers interact with us ‘We will work to reaffirm our
brand In a changing and fiercely competitive marketplace

Performance

what we do to improve the
financial performance of
the Company and deliver
for our shareholders

Excellience

what we do to maintain and
Improve our operational
performance and the
quahty of our processes

50 that we improve
continuously

We will carefully monitor opportunities to adjust capacity as economic conditions allow, and
we anticipate less need to reduce flying outside the peak periods We will ensure structural
changes in the cost base are maintained by keeping controllable costs flat even as business
conditions improve We will continue to compete for new slots We intend to grow our
mileage and holiday businesses, and boost revenues from third-party engineenng, retailing
and the development of non-air partnerships Our new Boeing 777-300ERs, with ther
improved fuel efficiency and environmental performance, will begin to arrve in 2010

We will build on record-breaking levels of operational performance through continuous
improvement of the way we plan and control the operation, including laying the foundations for
improvements to a nurmber of our operauonal systems We will extend the brilhant Terminal 5
expenence to more of our services through the develapment of the second satellite Termunal 5C
(opeming in 201 1), as well as working with the new owners of Garwick to improve the customer
service offenng in the North Terminal We will roll out our Arrmanship Programme across our
ramp and baggage service community raising ground safety And we will continue to develop
the skills and environment that encourage Lean Continuous Improvement across the business

Partnerships

what we do to work with
other airlines, other parts
of the airline/travel
industry, our key supphers,
and the communities we
are based in

Subject to regulatory approval, we will implement a Jaint Business Agreement with Amencan
Aurlines and Iberia, delvering a range of customer benefits The agreement will significantly
extend the connecuions we offer, improve fight schedules, and deliver enhanced frequent
flyer benefits, mproved customer service and better disruption management We will
continue to develop partnerships, such as those announced this year with India’s Kingfisher
Airlines and the Russian carner 57, that will improve our position in the global cities of
today and tomorrow
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ACHIEVEMENTS 2009/10

The start of the year saw us move to a new, leaner orgamsation, with a third fewer managers, and clearer
accountabilities linked to overall Company goals This 1s underpinned by a new approach to performance
management, backed up by leadership training that has achieved great feedback from our managers

Despite the downturn, we continued the traditon of innovating to meet the needs of our premium customers,
through the highly successful launch of our new longhaul senace from London City to New York JFK, and through
the start of the embodiment programme for our new First cabin We have completed the roll-out of our award-
winmng Club World product to all our Boeng 777s and 7475, and continued our investment in premium senvice
traning We've carned cut comprehensive brand positioning and proposition development work over the last
18 months to ensure we remain a relevant and compelling offer for our global customers in the future In
response to customer feedback, we also enhanced the Club Europe seat configuration We've continued to
invest in bacom, including i this year's developments the abihity to claim refunds online in disrupuion situatons

We adjusted our capacity and network to reflect the downturn, parking eight Boeing 7475, beginning the
exit of our Boeing 757 fleet, and rescheduling our Airbus A380 delivenes We secured significant structural
change in our employee costs While retaining our commitment to providing an excellent value core product,
we have delivered savings from standardising shorthaul catering and have delivered addiional revenue from
changing the economy baggage allowance (to one checked-in bag plus a generous hand baggage allowance),
offenng customers the opuon of paying for advance seat reservations whilst still retaining the abihty to
choose a seat free of charge at check-n, from 24 hours before departure

We've built on last year's strong operational performance, with Terminal 5 delivening excellent punctuahty
and a far greater resilience ta disruption such as the adverse weather seen this winter Taken together with
the angoing strong performance of Gatwick and the regions, we've exceeded our targets and delivered
record-breaking performance We've continued to seek continuous improvement through the application
of Lean processes, delivering significant productivity gains across the business

We've continued to take a leading role in the development of the oneworld alliance, not only through
sponsonng the membership of the Russian carmer S7, and Kingfisher Airlines of India, but also through active
paructpation in the negotiations to retain JALs membership We've worked closely with our key suppliers

to adjust contracts to see us through the downturn We see our One Destination programme (see section

on ‘Running a responsible business’} and the development of our role in the wider community as a key part
of this theme

31
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Key Performance Indicators

We track progress against the business plan for the five key themes using a wide range of metrics Only three of these
themes are used to set targets for the basis of remuneration The three are customer recommendation, operating margin
and network punctuahity Progress against all five themes are detailed below

MEASURING PROGRESS

Colleagues

Progressive, high-performing organisations are increasingly recognising that engaged employees are more committed to
orgamisational goals and values, and more willing 1o embrace change and improve customer service We track opimions via

an all-employee confidenual Speak Up! survey, conducted and hosted by the independent research organisation Ipsos MORI
This includes a Colleague Engagement Index, which summarises a basket of more detailed measures We have also built
employee responses into the way we measure and manage indmvidual performance

Customer

KPlI Customer recommendation %

We monitor our customers’ views through our Think

Customer Survey This i1s independent market research

involving mare than 36,000 customers each month
Our headline measure 1s customer recommendation
Apart from being extremely impartant in 1ts own
nght, we believe that this measure indicates how the
customer expernience will affect future profitability
We also track customer views on our perfermance
relatve to our compeuitors, as well as general arline
customers opimons’ of our brand These views help
us steer our product investment decisions
.

2000/10 [63 ]
2008/09 [65 ]
2007/08 [59 ]

2006/07 |62 J

For 2009/10 we set a target level of customer recommendation of

65 per cent Qur underying performance was strang, but we failed

to reach the target due to a small reduction in levels of satisfaction

in response to the onboard catenng changes, and also through some
significant cperational disruption Qur score was also shightly depressed
by our mave 1in Apnl 2009 to an onboard survey for shorthaul flights

Performance

KPl Operating margin %

We must achieve a consistently strong financial
performance If we are to continue investing in
the future success of the business and provide
adequate shareholder returns

Operating margin is the main way we measure our
financial performance In 2002, we set curselves
the goal of achieving a 10 per cent operating margin
through the economic cycle

2000710 [ (23]

200800 [ (28]

2007/08 [1o ]
2006/07 A |

For 2009/10 we set ourselves a target operaung result flat with 2008/09
befare any restructunng costs Despite the £1 bilon drop in revenue
dunng the year, our operating loss was flat against last year excluding
restructuning of £85 milion, our operating loss was £146 million compared
1o £142 milion {excluding £78 milion rastructunng in the prior year)

.
Excellence KPl Network punctuality %
Running a robust operation Is key to both meeting 2000710 [58 1
our customers’ expectations, and to delivenng a 2008/09 [53 ]
cost-effective business We monitor our operational 2007708 3% ]
performance via a broad range of measures at a 2006707 [36 |

variety of levels Departure punctuality 1s our pamary
measure, as high performance here requires other
operational processes to run smoothly, and also
because it 1s a key dnver of customer satisfaction
Our headline measure of punctuakty 1s ‘Ready to Go',
which focuses on the aspects of the departure
process within our control

For 2009/10 we targeted a score of 52 per cent Despite some disruption
caused by the severe UK and worldwide winter weather, we significantly
exceeded this, demonstrating the step change in operational performance
at Heathrow that has been delivered by Terminal 5

Partnerships

We monitor the performance of our partnerships through a vanety of success cntena We have set challenging goals for
our One Destination programme, which include increases in the proportion of waste we recycle, an improvement in
bulding energy efficiency, as well as a 25 per cent reduction (from 2005 levels) in carbon emissions per RPK by 2025 we
also track achievement of implementation milestones for our Joint Business Agreement with Amencan Airines and lbena
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The operational complexities inherent in our business,
together with the highly regulated and commercially
competitive environment of the airline industry, leave
us exposed to a number of significant risks. We have
maintained a focus on mitigating those risks although
many remain outside of our control — for example
changes in governmental regulation, acts of terrorism,

adverse weather, pandemics and the availability of

funding from the financial markets.

The Directors of the Group believe that
the nisks and uncertainties described
below are the ones that may have the
most significant impact on the long-
term value of British Airways The list

15 presented In alphabetical order and

1s not ntended to be exhaustive

The Group carries out detailed risk
management reviews to ensure that
the nsks are mitigated where possible
You can find a more detaled summary
of our internal control and risk
management processes on pages 48
and 49 The secuons on 'Our strategy
and cbjectives’ and ‘Running a
responsible business’ also include
additional information on how we
manage and mitigate nisk

Brand reputation

Qur brand has significant commerciat
value Erosion of the brand, through
either a single event, or senes of
events, may adversely impact our
leadership position with customers
and ulumately affect our future
revenue and profitabiity

The management team regularly
monitors custormer satisfaction though
the global monthly Think Customer
Survey alongside ongoing research
and development of the BA product
to mitigate this nsk

Competition
The markets in which we operate are
highly competitive We face direct

competition from other airlines on our
routes, as well as from indirect flights,
charter services and from other modes
of ransport Some compettors have
cost structures that are lower than
ours or have other competitive
advantages such as being supported
by government intervention

Fare discounting by competitors has
histoncally had a negative effect on

our results because we are generally
required to respond to competitors’
fares to maintain passenger traffic

Our strong global market positioning,
our network and alliances and diverse
customer base conunue to address
this nsk

Consolidation/deregulation

As noted above, the airhne market
15 fiercely competitive and will need
to raucnalise given current market
condiions This will involve further
airine fallures and consolidation
Mergers and acquisitions amongst
compentors have the potenual to
adversely affect our market position
and revenue

The merger with Iberia and the Joint
Business Agreement with Amenican
Aurlines and Ibena for transatlantic
routes, may introduce planning rnisks
such as sub-optimal design and set-up
processes and delivery nisks such

as realising planned benefits The
management teéam have a robust

ssauisng Jno

integration and Jotnt Business
Agreement programme which
addressas these risks

Some of the markets in which

we operate remain regulated by
governments, In some instances
controlling capacity and/or restrnicting
market entry Relaxation of such
restrictions, whilst creating growth
opportunities for us, may have a
nggative Impact on our marging

Debt funding

We carry substantia! debt that will
need to be repaid or refinanced Qur
ability to finance ongoing operations,
commutted aircraft orders and future
fleet growth plans are vulnerable to
vanous factors including financial market
condinons Although most of our future
capital commizments are currently
asset related and already financed,
there can be no assurance that aircraft
will conunue to provide attractive
secunty for lenders in the future

The Company’s Treasury Committee
regularly reviews the Group's financial
positon The results of these reviews
are discussed with management and
the appropnate action taken

Economic conditions

Our revenue 15 tughly sensitive to
economic conditions In the markets in
which we operate Deteroration in the
global economy may have a materal
impact en our financial position
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

The Revenue Projection Group
regularly reviews the Group's revenue
forecast. The results of these reviews
are discussed with management and
the appropnate action taken

Employee relations

We have a large urionised workforce
Collective bargaining takes place on
a regular basis and a breakdown in
the bargaining process may disrupt
operations and adversely affect
business performance Our continued
effort to manage employment costs
Increases the nsk in this area

Event causing long-term network
disruption

Several possible events may cause a
long-term network disruption Example
scenarios include a significant failure
of the public transport system, the
complete or partial loss of the use

of terminals at Heathrow, adverse
weather conditions (such as snow,
fog or volcanic ash), war, cwil unrest
or terronsm A long-term network
disruption may result in significant
lost revenue and additional cost

The management has robust business
conunuity plans to mitigate these
risks to the extent feasible

Failure of a critical IT system

We are dependent on IT systems for
most of our prncipa! business processes
The fallure of a key system may cause
significant disruption te our operation
and/or lost revenue System controls,
disaster recovery and business continuity
arrangements exist to mitigate the nisk
of a cntical system failure

Fuel price and currency fluctuation
We use approximately six million
tonnes of jet fuel a year Volathty n
the price of ail and petroleum products
can have a materal impact on our
operating results This price risk 1s
partially hedged through the purchase
of oll and petroleum dervatives in
forward markets which can generate

a profit or a loss

The Group 1s exposed to currency risk
on revenue, purchases and borrowings
in forewgn currencies The Group seeks
to reduce foreign exchange exposures
ansing from transactions n various

currencies through a policy of matching,
as far as possible, receipts and
payments In each indmdual currency
and selling the surplus or buying the
shortfall of its currency obhgations

The Group 1s exposed to nsk to the
extent of non-performance to financial
contract by counterparties for activities
such as fuel and currency hedging
Failure of counterparties may result

in financial loss

The Company’s Treasury Committee
regularly reviews the Group's fuel and
currency pasitions The results of
these reviews are discussed with
management and the approprate
action taken

Fuel supply

The Heathrow jet fuel supply 1s critical
to the operation Biofuel and jet fuel
use the same pipeline infrastructure
and with increased use of biofuel, the
risk of contamnation 1s increased Any
contamination of the fuel supply will
have a significant operational impact
The fuel supply 1s not released to
Heathrow until significant testing

1s completed

Government intervention
Regulation of the airhne industry 1s
increasing and covers many of our
actvities, including route flying nights,
arport slot access, secunity and
environmental controls The airline
industry 1s becoming increasingly
regulated Qur ability to both comply
with and influence any changes in these
regulations s key to maintaiming our
operational and financial performance

Government plans to significantly
increase environmental taxes with the
introduction of a per flight tax, the
European Umnion Emissions Trading
Scheme and the potential for other
environmental taxes may have an
adverse impact upon demand for arr
travel and/cor reduce the profit margin
per ticket These taxes may also benefit
our competitors by reducing the
relative cost of doing business from
their hubs

Heathrow operational constraints
Heathrow has no spare runway
capacity and operates on the same
two main runways since it opened
over 60 years ago As a result, we are
vulnerable to short-term operational
disruption and there 15 little we can do
to mitigate this The expansion of the
airport would create extra capacity
and reduce delays, enabling Heathrow
to compete more effectively against
European hubs such as Pars,
Amsterdam and Frankfurt

Key supplier nsk

We are dependent on suppliers for
some principal business processes
The falure of a key supplier to deliver
contractual obligations may cause
significant disruption to our operation
We describe the supplier nsk in more
detall on page 42

Pandemic

If there 15 3 significant outbreak of
Swine Flu or other infectious disease,
staff absence will increase which may
seriously impact the operation Key
corporate clients may discourage travel,
significantly impacting sales As part of
the recent outbreak of Swine Flu we
fully rehearsed our contingency plans

Pensions

Negative movements In pension asset
values and financial returns frorn these
assets may increase the size of the
pension deficit. Management regularly
review the status of the pension funds
and remain committed to appropnate
action Discussions are ongoing with
the Trustees, the Pensions Regulator
and other stakeholders to determine
a strategy for funding the existing
deficit in hine with business objectives

Safety/secunty incadent

The safety and secunty of our
customers and employees are
fundamental values for us Failure to
prevent or respond to a major safety
or secunty incident could adversely
impact our operations and financial
performance Our Operations Control
fnadent Centre responds in a
structured way, in the event of

an incident.
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Running a
responsible
business

ONE
DESTINATION

Qur plans to transform Brnitish Airways
into the leading global premwum atrltne are
about securing our future In a sustainable
way That’s not just about becoming
financally stronger It’s also about actung
as a socially and environmentally
responsible business in every aspect of
our operation We have created a new
Corporate Responsibility (CR) framework
for the business to make sure we achieve
that goal
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Our Corporate
Responsibility
programme

Our One Destination
programme 1s organmised under
four streams These are the
Environment, Community
Investment, Workplace and
Marketplace

We believe this 1s a practical way
to make sure that responsibility
underpins every aspect of our
day-to-day working fives As
such, it covers the way we
operate our network, how we
manage our workplace, how we
go about providing outstanding
service to our customers, how
we tackle the environmental
challenges we face, how we deal
with our supphers and how we
interact with the many local
communities we support arcund
the world

The Corporate Responsibility
Board, chaired by our Chief
Executive, Willie Walsh, oversees
our One Destinanon programme
and ensures that people across
the business understand and

are fully engaged with this
programme Each Directorate

in the business has a senior
Corporate Responsibility
Sponsor and, overall, we have
more than 100 Corporate
Respansibiity Champions We
also have a significant network
of Diversity Champions

Qur full Corporate Responsibility
Report 1s published online at
www ba com
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Running a responsible business

Our aim 1s to become the World's Most
Responsible Airline. To do this we have
created our ‘One Destination’ programme,
a wide-ranging initiative that brings
together every element of our corporate
responsibility activity under one banner.




Environment

We recognise that by providing arr
transport services we have an impact on
the environment. We are committed to
reducing our environmental footprint,
including playing our full part in reducing
global greenhouse gas emissions

We believe the aifine sector should be
included in a global sectoral approach
with emissions reductions targets of
carbon neutral growth from 2020 and
a 50 per cent reduction n net
emissions by 2050

We are also focusing on reducing our
absolute carbon emissions A key
element of this strategy I1s the adoption
of sustainable alternative fuels, which

1s why in February 2009 we established
a partnership with Solena to builld
Europe’s first biromass to hquid plant

to supply us with biofuel from 2014
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We have also taken steps to improve
air quality and noise conditions through
Investment in improved technology
This shows our ongoing commitment
to meet the targets set by the
Gaovernment linked to the construction
of the third runway

Climate change

Climate change i1s an i1ssue of huge
Importance to us and we have a
long-term commitment to reduce
our emissions

Qur chimate change programme
1s focused in five main areas

* Securing a global sectoral policy
regme with ambitious long-term
CQO, reduction targets,

* Improving our carbon efficiency,

* Developing the potential of low-
carbon fuels,

¢ Promoting our voluntary carbon
offset scheme, and

* Supporting scientfic research into
aviauon's climate change impacts

We continue to play a leading role in the
development of a global framework for
regulating aviations carbon emissions
We are working closely with the
Internauonal Air Transport Association
(IATA), In promoung the target to reduce
net CO, emissions by 50 per cent by
20850, relative to 2005 Meeung this
target will require investment in new
technclogy, sustainable bicfuels and n
cost-effective emissions reductions in
other sectors of the economy through
the creauon of effective global carbon
trading markets

indeed, we recognise that biofuels will
play a cnitical role in helping the ailine
sector reduce Its carbon emissions We
are working on a number of projects
to help accelerate the implementation
of biofuels into the airine industry

From January 2010, monitoring of
emissions and traffic data began in
preparation for the start of aviation’s
entry into the EU Emissions Trading
Systemn 2012

Qur carbon efficiency 15 expressed
in grammes of CO, per passenger

kilometre (gCO,/pkm) Our target
1s to improve our fuel efficiency to
83 gCO,/pkm by 2025

In 2008, this was 106 1 gCO,/km

As a comparison, the average for a car
1s 109 gCO,/pkm This represents an
tmprovement on last year reflecting
better aircraft uulisation, higher load
factors and savings delivered through
our carbon efficiency programme

Qur carbon footprint was 16 67 million
tonnes of CO, 10 2009, a reduction

of S 2 per cent over the previous year
Thus 1s due both to fuel efficency
improvements and capacity reductions
duning 2009

During 2009, more than 126,000
passengers offset thewr emissions

We are the first airline to meet the

UK Government's quality assurance
scheme for offsetting We continue to
improve our carbon offset product by
offering passengers to offset according
to therr cabin of travel The scheme
helps to support vital renewable energy
projects in China and Brazil

ssauisng 4no

We are also the only arrline and, indeed,
one of the first UK companies to
complete a Forest Footprnint Disclosure
(FFD) This 1s an audit of the impacts of
our business on global deforestation

Noise

We are investing in quieter aircraft

and changing the way we fly to reduce
noise impact We have set a target to
reduce our average noise per flight by
15 percent by 2015

Night noise 1s a particular concern for
people lving near airports and is one
of the key areas where we want to
improve Dunng 2009 at Heathrow,
we reduced the number of departure
noise infrngements by over 30 per
cent compared with 2008

Aur quality

We have a number of operating
instiatives to Improve our arr quahty
performance We are modifying our
Boeing 737 {CFM56-3) engines to
dehver a 20 per cent reduction in
MNitrogen Oxide (NQy) emissians
The recently introduced Arrbus 318
(CFM56-5B) 15 a lower NQy engine

We use arcraft stands with fixed power
and pre-conditioned air so we rely less
on using aircraft auxihary power units
and have also developed procedures
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for aircraft to taxi on one less engine
after landing. We operate 2 large fieet
of electnc vehicles and continue 1o be
a member of the Heathrow Clean
Vehicle Programme to further improve
the environmental performance of our
ground fleet.

Waste

We aim to improve resource efficiency
through waste mimimisation, increased
reuse and recycling and reduced
disposal to landfill

We are on track to achieve our target
of recychng 50 per cent at our main
bases of Heathrow and Gatwick by the
end 2010 We achieved 39 per cent
recychng throughout 2009

We are also on track (o meet our target
of zero waste to landfill by the end of

2010 for our main actvities Over the
tast year, the amount of waste managed
through our contracts at Heathrow and
Gatwick disposed to landfiil on an
annual basis reduced by 36 per cent
from 3,424 tonnes to 2,187 tonnes
We have also begun processing our
non-recyclable waste at Heathrow and
Gatwick through a waste to energy
plant which will enable us to meet

our zero waste to landfill target

Community Investment

We are committed to supporting
communities In countries where we
operate through our community
investment prograrmme

At present we work with over
120 community and conservation

Summary of environmental data and targets

organisations worldwide We also have
an extensive education programme
for children and young people at

our Community Learmng Centre

at Heathrow, which has welcomed
over 58,000 learners since it opened
In 1999

Owr 16 year partnership with UNICEF
came to a close in March 2010 We
raised more than £27 million through
the generous suppart of our customers
and colleagues through the Change

for Good programme Since the
partnership began we have funded
projects in over 58 countnes and all of
the projects we have supported |eave a
valuable legacy for vulnerable children
in the communities where both British
Airways and UNICEF operate

Target 2009+ 2008* 2007
_
Carbon efficiency gCO;/pkm** 83 by 2025 106 107 110
CQ, emussion (million tonnes) 1667 1760 177
Average noise per flight 15% reduction by 2015 Ontrack***  Ontrack***  On track***
% Recychng (LHR and LGW) 50% by end 2010 390 351 301
Waste to landfill (tonnes LHR and LGW) zero to landfill by end of 2010 2,187 3,424 3,688

*  Calendar years.

into hine with the industry standards and also into kne with all major scheduled carmers.

P

Our fleet replacement programme 15 o track to deliver this target.

with effect from 2008 traffic staustics now include daca related to customers wha have flown on frequent fiyers mdeage redemption tickets. This change brings the Group




We are delighted to announce that
our new glabal chanty partner will be
Comic Relief We believe this move
will strengthen our long traditon

of raising money o support
disadvantaged people in acute need,
both at home in the UK and across
the world's poorest countrnies

Measuring our community investment
We continue to be a member of both
the London Benchmarking Group
(LBG) and Business in the Community
(BitC) The LBG's model 1s used to
assess our total contrbuton to the
community

Our partnershup with UNICEF, Change
for Good, raised £1 3 million from
on-board donations in the year to

31 March 2010

Some 3,330 retired and current
employees donated over £600,000
directly from their payroll to therr
chosen charitres through our Giving
Scheme duning the year

BitC reported our total direct and
n-kind donations for 2009/10 at
£5 rmillion (2008/09 €5 4 million)
Of these, direct charitable donanons
amounted to £190,000 (2008/09
£444,000)
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London 2012 Olympics

and Paralympic Games

Buring the year, we continued to

build on our sponsorship strategy for
London 2012 Olympic hero Sir Chris
Hoy launched our Great Britons
Programme which offers free flights to
help Briush talent realise their potential
We flew the Briush and Insh Lions to
South Africa for the Lions Rugby Tour
and we are proud to be backing the
bid to stage the FIFA World Cup in
England n 2018

The workplace

We are continuing to make big

changes to the way we run our business
s0 that we can achieve our strategy

of becoming the leading global
premium airfine

Our main aim 15 to develop a customer
focused, high performing culture that
offers rewards for great indwidual
performance but also recognises
different people in the business have
different needs in terms of benefits,
traming and development

At the year end our manpower
equivalent was a total of 36,832 across
our operations This 1s a reduction of
some 3,800 since March 2009, ail on
voluntary terms

1 Al Heathrow we use hybnd Linde
super electric tugs We operate
a large fleet of electrnc vehicles
and continue to be a member
of the Heathrow Clean Vehicle
Programme to further improve
the environmental performance
of our ground fleet

2 We have an extensive education
programme for children and young
people at our Community Learning
Centre at Heathrow, which has
welcomed over 58,000 learners
since it opened In 1999

We completed the restructunng of our
management staff at the beginning of
2009 We now have a leaner, more
agille organisation, but we have also
improved governance and
accountability in the business

Hawving the night leaders with the night
support and motivation Is essential if
we are to create a high performance
culture High performance leadership
means that our managers can engage
with and nvolve their people in
achieving world-class levels of
productvity

We are now exploring new ways to
boost efficiency and achieve greater
value for customers across the rest
of the business, with a particular
focus on further tmproving employee
engagement. Colleague surveys will
now run quarterly and include an
engagement index that managers are
expected to track and take action on

The latest survey showed that 60 per
cent of our people feel generally well
informed about the Company, with
more than 90 per cent aware of the
financial snuauon Face-to-face
communication has been more
important than ever this year, we run
regular brefings across the Company
so that as many people as possible
can meet, question and share ideas

39
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Running a responsible business continued

with senior and bine managers Live
online forums have also played theirr
part in encouraging wider dialogue and
understanding Other communication
channels include a personalised
intranet, mobile SMS messaging, video
and a range of Company-wide and
local newsletters

Employee relations

The challenging finanoial and operating
environment we faced during the
year meant we had to make some
fundamental changes to the way we
work to manage our way through
recession Many thousands of
colleagues responded fantasticaily
to this challenge, including working
temporanly for no pay, working part-
tme or taking unpaid leave

We continue to work towards resolving
the cabin crew dispute and, longer
term, we want to work with the

unions to create a new and modern
framework for industrial relations
within British Airways

We tabled proposed changes to
some of our key employment pohcies
duning the year We will continue to
work with our colleagues and ther
representatives to introduce these
changes as soon as possible

Reward

We recognise how important reward

1s in making Briush Aurways a great
business to work for We are committed
to creating an environment where

our colleagues feel valued and are
recognised farrly for the individual
contribution they make

One of our key aims 15 to provide total
reward packages which encourage high
performance and outstanding customer
service throughout the business To
support thus aim, we conunually took
for better ways to communicate with
colleagues about the rewards we offer
We want to offer them real flexibility
and the ability to choose benefits that
suit themn, including in thesr pension
arrangements

Training and development

We carrnied out 173,000 days of
traning during the year This included
some 9,000 days of traiming for cabin
crew — twice as many as in 2008/09 -
designed to make sure they have the
skills to offer our customers the very
highest levels of service

Our training team also put huge
resources into traimng volunteer cabin
crew to CAA standards duning the
year as we prepared for the threat of
industnal action The large number

of courses we ran meant we were able
to keep a high proportion of our
customers flying dunng the cabin crew
strike, a remarkable achievement

Quwr Leadership and Talent strategy 1s

a cnitical part of our efforts to become
the leading global premium airline
Leadership development continues and
15 being rolled cut more widely in the
airhne to make sure we embed cultural
change and put a real emphasis on the
impoertance of our managers listening
and acang on feedback

There 15 no ‘one-size-fits-all’ where
traiing and development 1s concerned
Different people have different needs
Duning the year we therefore began
developing a new approach Qur aim

15 1O create a learning culture where
indmduals have the right support,
resources and motivation to take
responsibility for thew own personal
development.

We continue to attract and develop
talent at all levels Last year this
mcluded taking 100 people on o
new Engineenng Apprenticeship
programmes and hirnng 20 graduates
to our Graduate Recruitment
programme which now totals

50 in the business




Diversity

We are proud to be a business that
welcomes and nurtures difference
Diversity and inclusion are a way of
life for us

Qur diversity iniatives are all about
dignity and respect. They are designed
to promote good relationships between
colleagues, irrespective of their
background, relgion or culture

We contnue to focus on developing
our Dignity at Work strategy to reduce
harassment and bullying n the
workplace We have appomnted and
trained harassment advisors, drawn
from across the business, in response
to colleagues’ requests for people they
can approach confidenually about any
1ssues they may have The advisors act
as a hstening ear and provide practical
advice and guidance Qur intention Is
to adopt a more informal approach to
resolving potential conflicts using
internal mediators

As a responsible company, we take
disability very seriously We welcome
applications from people with
disabilities as we aim to employ the
most talented people and we support
individuals with disabilies in reaching
their full potenttal by making
reasonable adjustments for them

in the workplace
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We introduced a Building Ability
strategy to identify and promote the
needs of disabled customers and
colleagues We constantly lock at how
we can improve the journey experience
for disabled customers

All fronthne employees are tramed in
disability awareness to increase their

knowledge about disabled customers
and employees

Overall, our Dignity at Work strategy
involves traning, communications and
workshops across the business All
departments have targets to achieve
and all employees must complete the
online 'Expect Respect’ traming course

The marketplace

Customer

We listen carefully to our customers
because it 1s our best guarantee that
we will Invest in the products and
services they value most Therr
feedback and opimiens have a huge
beanng on our strategy to become
the leading global prermum arline
with a sustainable future

But 1t's also wital that we listen to their
wider concerns They expect us to be

a highly responsible business with an
active CR programme For that reason,
we are embedding our One Destination

1 We are proud to be a business that
welcomes and nurtures differences
Dwversity and inclusion are a way of
hfe for us

2 We ntroduced our stylish new
First cabin during the year, offering
our customers a sophisticated
environment in which to work,
sleep, eat and be entertained

programme into every aspect of our
products in 2 visible and high profile way

Premum service

We aim to provide a premium service
to all our customers at every touch
point, providing comfort, convernence
and relability Our people play a
crucial rofe in delivering the upgraded
Customer experience we want
everyone who travels with us to emyoy
In keeping with the best companies in
the hospitality sector, we are investing
N an extensive training programme for
our customer-facing colleagues to
support this

The service we provide on the ground
at our main hub, Heathrow, 1s highly
valued by our customers In 2009 we
consohdated our Heathrow operations
by completing the final moves out of
Terminal 4 into Terminal 3 and Terminal
5, thereby offering a smoother travel
experience, extensive facilities and
consistently high levels of punctuality
Our new premium lounges at Terminal
3, which we share with our oneworld
partriers, are proving as popular as
those in Terminal 5

On-board experence

Cur long-term commitment to offenng
premium products valued by our
customers saw two important launches
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During the year we continued
to build on our spansorship
strategy for London 2012

durning the year The innovative, all-
business class service from London
City to New York was launched in
September and was an instant success
with customers

We also introduced our stylish new
First cabin, offering our customers a
sophisticated environment in which
to work, sleep, eat and be entertaned

ba.com

Our website has become a significant
and integrated part of the Briush
Airways travel experience We are
constantly improving our online
coffening to make 1t easier for customers
to find the best offers, make the right
travel choices and purchase more
extensive travel packages in one
seamless booking

Nearly one-third of our bookings are
made through ba com, accounting for
20 per cent of our revenue bacom has
also become an invaluable medium for
communication with our customers,
becoming ther first point of call for
up-to-date information especially
duning penods of disruption

In 2009, improvements included the
intreduction of the value calculator,
allowing customers to see the extra
value they receive when they choose
to fly with Bnush Airways rather than
with one of our competitors

Cargo

BAWC has a reputation for tremendous
innovation Dunng the year we once
again led the field by introducing the
next generauon of cool chain airfreight
logistics products, under the brand
name Constant Climate We have also
started developing our express

airfreight proposition, Prionitise, which
will be relaunched during 2010

Our Boeing 747 freighter programme,
operating cargo-onty flights to 16
destinations an key global trade lanes,
continues to be successful and we
have now reaffirmed our strategic
commitment to this market.

Our loyalty programme, offering small
and medium sized busmesses the
opportunity to earn loyalty points to
use on flights and hotels, has proven
1ts worth in the downturn, winning
continued support from this important
and valuable customer segment

Overseas branches

We fly to a number of destinations
around the world (see pages 2 and 3)
In addition to the overseas branches
we have established in many of these
countries, we have branches in
countries to which we do not fly

Suppliers

Each year we spend some £5 2 billion
purchasing goods and services from
our supphers We are determined to
build strong and trusted relationships
with our supply partners but also

to boost the efficiency of our
procurement process

Efficient procurement

We procure goods and services
through a strategic sourcing process,
using benchmarking to make sure we
achieve maximum value both at the
point of purchase and over the life
of a supply contract

Durnng the year, our procurement team

reviewed our spending with our top

500 supphers who account for some
94 per cent of total annual external
spend The structure of our commercial
deals and the specification of the
goods and services being bought

were fully invesugated, resulting in
considerable savings over the year

Corporate responsibility

in the suppher base

As we describe in more detall in our
annual CR report we have taken a fresh
look at our suppher CR strategy Called
'Responsible Procurement’, the new
multi-faceted approach allows us to
understand much more clearly if the
CR credentials of our suppliers match
up with our own 'One Destination’
corporate goals

Supplier rnisk

We have overhauled our supplier nsk
assessment and monitonng process

in favour of a less subjective approach,
using external company data

and analytics

Payment performance

We continue to maintain suppler
payment performance around our
target of S0 per cent of supphers pad
n accordance with mutually agreed
terms The number of days’ purchases
In creditors at 31 March 201015
calculated in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006
and was 33 days (2009 32 days)
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Corporate
governance

A LEANER,
MORE EFFICIENT
BUSINESS

Today British Airways 15 a leaner and
better managed business That's because
as we have reduced our costs we have
also taken acuon to strengthen our
governance structures and to increase
accountability We will continue to look
for opportunites to manage our costs
and our operations more efficiently and
more effectively
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Board of Directors

The names and details of the current Directors are set
out below All served dunng the financial year ended
31 March 2010

Board members as at 20 May 2010

Chairman

Martin Broughton

Board member since May 2000, becoming non-executive
Chairman in July 2004 At the ume of hus appointment,
Martin met the independence criteria set out in paragraph
A 31 of the Combined Code on Carporate Governance
(June 2008) Chairman of the Nominations Committee
Marun s currently Deputy President of the Confederauon
of British Industry (CBI) and Chairman of Liverpool Football
Club and Athletic Grounds Ltd

Chief Executive

Willie Walsh

Executive Board member since May 2005, becoming Chief
Executive in Qctober 2005 Formery Chief Executive of
Aer Lingus, he 1s an honerary board member of Flight
Safety International

Chief Financial Officer

Keith Williams

Executive Board member since January 2006 Having

joined the arrhine in 1998 as Head of Taxation and being
addiwonally appointed Group Treasurer in 2000, Keith was
appeinted Chief Financial Officer i January 2006 He s a
Non-executive Director of Transport for London and lbena
Lineas Aéreas de Espafia SA Keith s a chartered accountant

Non-executive Directors

Maarten van den Bergh

Independent Non-executive Director since July 2002, Senior
Independent Director since July 2004 Audit, Nominations
and Remuneraton Comrmttees

Baroness Kingsmill

Independent Non-executive Director since November 2004
Audit, Norminations and Safety Review Committees A
former Deputy Chairman of the Competition Commuission,
she chaired the Department of Trade and Industry’s
Accounting for People task force A member of the
Microsoft European Pohcy Council, member of
PncewaterhouseCoopers Advisory Board, Non-executive
Director of Honzon plc and Korn/Ferry International

hm Lawrence

Independent Non-executive Director since November 2006
Chairman of the Remunerauon Committae Jim was
previously Chief Financial Officer of Unilever

Alison Reed

Independent Non-executive Director since December 2003
Chairman of the Audit Committee Remuneration
Committee Alison was previously Chief Financial Officer

of Marks & Spencer plc and Standard Life plc She i1s a
chartered accountant

Rafael Sinchez-Lozano Turmo

Non-executive Director since December 2009 Safety
Review Committee Rafael 1s Managing Director and Chief
Operating Officer of Iberia Lineas Aéreas de Espafia S A

Ken Smart

Independent Non-executive Director since July 2005
Chairman of the Safety Review Committee Audit
Committee Ken s Chairman of the UK Aviation and
Maritime Industnes Confidential Human Factors Incident
Reporung Programme (CHIRP), a member of the Flight
Safety Foundation Board of Governors and a Visiting
Professor at Cranfield University

Baroness Symons

Independent Non-executive Director since July 2005 Audit
and Safety Review Committees Life peer since 1996 and
Privy Councillor since 1998 Former Deputy Leader of the
House of Lords and Minister of State from 1997 untl 2005
when she stepped down from government International
adwisor to DLA Piper, Rio Tinto ple, Consolidated
Contractors Company, MerchantBridge, and Non-executive
Director of Caparo Group

Company Secretary

Alan Buchanan

Joined the arline in 1990, becoming Company Secretary in
Apn! 2000

All Directors are subject to retirement every three years and
are eligible for re-election by the shareholders In accordance
with the Company's Articles of Association, Rafae! Sanchez-
Lozano Turmo will seek election and im Lawrence and
Alison Reed will retire and seek re-election by shareholders
at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 13 July 2010
Biographical notes about the Director seeking election and
the Directors seeking re-election are set out in the
explanatory notes of the Notice of Annual General Meetng




Management Board

In the day-to-day running of the Company, the Chief
Executive 15 supported by the Management Board, the
members of which, as at 20 May 2010, were the Chuef
Financial Officer and

Robert Boyle

Director of Strategy and Business Units Joined the airline in
1993 in Corporate Finance, becoming Director of Planning

in 2004, Commercial Director from October 2006 until s
appointment on 1 fanuary 2009 as Director of Strategy and
Business Units

Garry Copeland

Director of Engineenng Joned the arrhne in 1989 Having
held vanous positions including Chief Powerplant Engineer
and General Manager Engineering and Quahty Services,
he became Director of Engineenng in September 2006

Andrew Crawley

Dwector of Sales and Marketing, Joined the arrhine in
1992 and has worked i a variety of sales, marketing and
operational roles in the UK, Europe and Asia He became
Director of Sales and Marketing on 1 January 2009
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Silla Maizey

Acting Customer Director Jained the aifine in 1978

and has held vanious positions in Finance, Customer Service
and Operations Prior to her appointment as Acting
Customer Director on 1 January 2009, Silla was Head

of Corporate Responsibility

Roger Maynard

Director of Investments and Allances Jomned the aidine in
1987 as Vice-President Commercial Affairs North America,
becoming Director of Corporate Strategy in May 1991

He was appainted Director of Investments and Joint
Ventures in December 1995, n late 2000 Alliances

was added to his portfolio

Tony McCarthy
Director - People and Organisational Effectiveness Joined
the arrhine in December 2007 from Royal Mail

The members of the Management Board are designated as
persons discharging managenal responsibibty, along with the
10 Directors

The number of Board and Committee meetings attended by each Director duning the year 1s shown in the table below

Audt  Nomunaunons Remunerauon Safety Review

Board  Commuttee  Commttee Committee Committee
meetngs meetngs meeungs meeungs meenngs
attended in attended n attended in attended in attended in
Director the penod the pencd the peniod the penod the period
_ __ A ]
Total in the peniod 10 5 4 6 4
Martin Broughton 10 4
Willie Walsh 10
Keith Williams 10
Maarten van den Bergh 10 4 4 6
Baroness Kingsmill 10 5 4 4
Jim Lawrence 9 6
Chumpol NaLamlieng* 2/3 1/2
Dr Marun Read* 2/3 11 3/3
Alison Reed 10 S 6
Rafael Sdnchez-Lozano Turmo™™ 2/3 1/1
Ken Smart 8 5 4
Baroness Symons 9 4

* Retired from the Board on 14 July 2009
** Jomned the Board on 11 December 2009

Detaills of the Directors’ remuneration and share interests are set out in the report of the Remuneration Committee on pages

55to 64
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Corporate governance statement

The Company 1s committed to high standards of corporate
governance The Board 1s accountable to the Company's
shareholders for good corporate governance The code of
best practice, set out in Section 1 of the Combined Code
as amended from time to tme and appended to the Listing
Rules of the Financial Services Authority (the 'Combined
Code"), has been adopted as the Company's corporate
governance statement

In accordance with the Listing Rules, the Company I1s
required to report firstly on how it applies the main principles
of the Combined Code 2008 and secondly to confirm that

it has applied the Code's provisions or, where it has not, to
provide an explanation The following section outlines the
way in which the Company has apphed the main and
supportng prnnciples in the Code

The Board

The Board provides entrepreneunal leadership of the
Company within a framework of prudent and effective
controls, which enables nsk to be assessed and managed
The Board sets the Company’s strategic aims, ensures that
the necessary financial and human resources are In place
for the Company to meet its objectives and reviews
management performance The Board sets the Company's
values and standards and ensures that its obhigations to its
shareholders and others are understood and met

As a unitary Board, all Directors are involved in, and
responsible for, the development of the Company’s strategy
The Non-executive Directors review the performance of the
Company with the Executive Directors on a regular basis
The Board delegates certain of its functions to committees
consisting of Non-executive Directaors, as detatled within this
report The Board of the Company routinely meets seven
trnes a year and addinonally when necessary to consider all
matters relatng to the overall control, business performance
and strategy of the Company, and for these purposes the
Board has drawn up a schedule of matters reserved for Board
decision which it reviews at least annually Broadly, the Board
has reserved to itself major strategic and financial decisions,
including investment and divestment decisions, approval of
business and financial plans, approval of significant alliance
or codeshare partnerships, significant contracts and capital
commutments of greater than £10 miflion

The Board 15 led by the Chairman and the executive
management of the Company 1s led by the Chief Executive
Therr respective roles are more fully descnbed in the terms
of reference on the Company's investor relations website,
www bashares com The Chawman 1s responsible for settng the
Board agenda and ensuning that it works effectively Working
with the Secretary, he ensures that Board members receive
accurate, tmely and clear information Of the 10 members
serving at the year end, excluding the Chairman, two were
Executive Directors and seven were Non-executve Directors
(of which six are considered independent for Combined Code
purposes) All seven Non-executive Directors are drawn from
a diverse range of business and other backgrounds, bnnging

a broad spectrum of views and expenences to Board

deliberanons This diversity of background and experience

15 1dentfied by the Board members as one of the strengths
of the Board Maarten van den Bergh s the Board's Semor
Independent Director In this role he is available to the
shareholders should they have any concerns that they have
been unable to resolve through normat channels, or when
such channels would be inappropnate He is also responsible
for leading the Board's discussions on the Chairman’s
performance and would lead the process leading to the
appointment of a new Chairman, when appropnate

A statement of the Directors’ responsibilities in respect of
the financial statements 1s set out on page 65 and a
statement on going concern Is given on pages 19 and 20

The Non-executive Directors scrutinise the performance of
the management in order to be satisfied as to the integrity
and strength of financial mformation, controls and risk
management They have a prime role in appointing, removing
and successton planning of sentor management and, through
the Remuneration Committee, they are responsible for
determining appropnate levels of remuneration for the
Executive Directors

Although the Non-executive Directors are eligible for non-
contractual travel concessions in addition to therr fees, this
15 not considered to affect their ndependence

All Directors receive regular nformation about the Company
so that they can play as full a part as possible in Board
meetings Papers for Board and Committee meetings are
typically distnbuted in the week prior to the relevant
meeting All Board members have access to the Secretary
for any further information they require If any of the Non~
executive Directors has any concerns wath the running of the
Company, they would first discuss these concerns with one
of the Executve Directors, the Secretary or the Chairman

If their concems cannot be resolved in this way, then they
are recorded in the Board minutes No such concerns arose
dunng the year

Non-executive Directors are encouraged to visit the
Company's operations and to speak to customers and
employees They are also encouraged to attend the annual
Investor day where they can discuss corporate governance
matters with major shareholders Independent professional
adwvice would be available to Directors in appropnate
circumstances, at the Company's expense No such advice
was needed during the year In question

All Directors are required to submit themselves for re-
election every three years New Directors are appointed
to the Board on the recommendation of the Nominations
Committee In December 2009, Rafael Sdnchez-Lozano
Turmo joined the Board following the signing of the
Memorandum of Understanding with Iberia Although the
Commuttee 15 currently satisfied with the composition of the
Board, it has been conducting a search for an additional
independent Non-executive Director following the
retirement of two Non-executives from the Board at the
Annual General Meeting 1 July 2009




The Secretary ensures that the Board members receive an
appropriate mduction and further traming as necessary The
Board receives bnefings on changes in regulation or law, as
crrcumstances require This has included training m relation
to the imphcauons of the Compames Act 2006 as vanous
sections of it came into force More recently the Board has
reviewed and responded to the Consultation on the revised
UK Corporate Governance Code

The appointment and removal of the Secretary is a matter
for the Board as a whole

Rules about the appointment and replacement of Directors
are set out In the Company's Articles of Association The
Directors’ powers are conferred on them by UK legislation
and by the Company’s Articles of Association

Board Committees

The Board has four specific Committees Audit, Nominations,
Safety Review and Remuneration Each Committee meets
regularly under terms of reference set by the Board, which are
published on bashares com A Standing Commuitiee, consisting
of the Chairman or Senior Independent Dwector, one Executive
and one Non-executive Director, is also available when
necessary The work carned out by each of the four specific
Committees 1s described in their respective reports Every
Committee has authority to take external advice as required

The Board receves regular feedback on vestors' views As
part of its commitment to ensuring that the Board presents a
balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s
financial position and prospects, the Board received an external
view of the Company's nvestor relations actvity agan this year

Board performance evaluation

At the end of the financial year, the Secretary met prvately with
each member of the Board to review the performance of the
Board, its Committees and the indwidual Directaors, the resulis
of which were presented to, and considered by, the Board In
addition, the Chairman and Non-executive Directors typtcatly
meet without any executives present at least twice each
firancial year At least once a year, the Non-executive Directors
meet under the chairmanship of the Senior Independent
Director to review the perfarmance of the Chasman, taking
account of the views of the Executive Directors

Relations with shareholders

The Company maintains regular contact with its major
nsututional shareholders through its mvestor relations team,
through meetngs with the Executive Directors and the
Charrman and through annual institutional investor events
The presentations from these events are also available to
private shareholders through the Company's investor
relations website The annual Investor Day scheduled for
March 2010 was postponed until May 2010, as it would not
have been appropnate to hold this event pnior to the signing
of the Merger Agreement with lberia

Private shareholders receive the Company's shareholder
magazine twice a year and are encouraged to express their
views and concerns either in person at the Annual General
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Meeting or by e-mail The main themes are reported to the
Board and responded to by the Chatrman in us address at
the Annual General Meeting

Due to the tliness of one of the Board members, only 10

of the 11 Board members serving at the time attended the
2009 Annual General Meeting. The 2010 Annual General
Meeting will be held on Tuesday 13 July at 11 00 am at The
Queen Elizabeth Il Conference Centre, London The ordinary
business of the meeung will be the receipt and adoption of
the annual report and accounts, approval of the remuneration
report, the election and re-election of Directors, and the
reappointment and remuneration of the auditors The special
business to be considered at the meeting will be the
Directors’ authonty to aliot new shares, the disapplication of
pre-emptive rights in relation to an allotment of new shares,
the authonty of the Cornpany to purchase its own shares,
and the ability of the Company to hold general meetings at
14 days’ notice Full details can be found in the Notice of
Meeting avallable on our website, www bashares com

Since 2000, all voting at the Annual General Meeung has
been by way of a poll te ensure that the views of all
shareholders are taken into account All 12 resolutions put
to shareholders at the 2002 Annual General Meeting were
passed, with a mimmum vote of 98 86 per cent The
Chairman’s and Chief Executive’s speeches were made
available on the website after the meeting

On 6 August 2009, a General Meeting of shareholders
approved the i1ssue of £350 milkon 5 8 per cent Convertible
Bonds due 2014

Drrectors’ conflicts

With effect from 1 QOctober 2008, the new Companies Act
2006 provisions regarding Directors' conflicts of nterest
came into force These place Directors under an obligatton
to avoud situations ansing on or after 1 October 2008 in
which they have, or can have, a direct or indirect interest
that conflicts, or may possibly conflict, with the interests of
the Company (Section 175(1)) This duty i1s not infringed if
the matter has been authonsed in advance by the Directors
pursuant to provisions of the Articles of Association
permitung them to do so This duty does not apply to

a confhict of interest ansing in relation to a transaction or
arrangement with the retevant company directly (such as

a contract of employment)

A register of authansed nterests 1s maintained by the
Secretary and updated by the Board as needed from tme
to uime, it was last updated n February 2010

Throughout the year, the Company has complied with all
relevant prowisions set out in Section 1 of the Combined
Code (June 2008)

Directors’ and Cfficers' liability insurance

The Company has purchased insurance aganst Directors’
and Officers’ liability as permitted by the Comparies Act
2006 for the benefit of the Directors and Officers of the
Company and i1ts subsidiaries
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Corporate governance statement continued

The Company has granted rolling indemmities to the
Chairman, Executive and Non-executive Directors and the
Secretary, uncapped n amount but subject to apphcable law,
in relation to certain losses and labilities which they may
incur in the course of actng as officers of companies within
the Group These indemnnes also set out the terms on
which the Company may, in its discretion, advance defence
costs You can see a specimen indemnity on the Company’s
investor relations website, www bashares com, by clicking on
the heading Corporate Governance

Political donations

At the Annual General Meeting 1n 2008, shareholders
passed a resolution to authonise the making of polinical
donations and the incurring of polincal expenditure for the
purposes of Section 367 of the Companies Act 2006 This
authorisation was taken on a four-year basis as a precaution
only and the Board has no present intention of using it

In the event that any political donation 1s made or poltical
expenditure incurred, the Company would seek further
shareholder approval

The Company does not make politcal donations or incur
political expenditure within the ordinary meaning of those
words and has no intention of doing so The amount of
pohucal denations made and political expenditure ncurred
in the year to 31 March 2010 was £nil {2009 £nil)

Post-balance sheet events
There were no adjusting material post-balance sheet events
occurnng after 31 March 2010

Internal control and risk management

Internal control

The Directors are responsible for mantaining, and for
reviewing the effectiveness of, the Company's system of
internal control including internal financial control Thisis
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
regarding {2) the safeguarding of assets aganst unauthorised
use or disposition and (b) the maintenance of proper
accounting records and the reliability of financial information
used within the business or for publicatton These controls are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the nisk of failure to
achieve business objectives due to circumstances which may
reasconably be foreseen and can only prowide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against matenal misstatement or loss

Internal control over financial reporting

The Company has in place internal control and nsk
management systems in relation to the Company’s financial
reporting process and the Group's process for the
preparation of consolidated accounts These systems are
described above and in more detall under the headings
‘Internal control framework’ and ‘Risk management’

Duning the financial year, no changes in nisk management and
internal control systems over financial reportung have occurred
that have matenally affected, or are reasonably likely to have
matenally affected, the Group’s financial reporung.

Standing instructions

In response to The Bribery Act 2010, the Company recently
revised and is relaunching its code on business integnty
covering matters such as bnbery, business conduct and
ethics It 1s one of a number of Standing Instructions to
amployees of the Group designed to enhance internal
control Along with the Finance Standing Instructions, these
are regularly updated and made available to staff through
the Company's intranet,

Organisation structure

A clear organisational structure exists, detailing lines of
authonity and control responsibilities The performance
management system establishes targets, reinforces
accountability and awareness of controls, and identifies
appropriate trainng reguirements

Information systems

Informaticn systems are developed to support the
Company’s long-term objectives and are managed by a
professionally staffed Technology Services team within the
Chief Financial Officer's organisation Appropriate pohicies
and procedures are 1n place cavering all significant areas of
the business

Strategic plan

The business agenda 1s determined by the strategy

(pages 27 to 32) setting out the agreed targets for financial
return and service standards, and identfying and prionitising
Improvement opportunities 1o deliver those targets Each
year the Board approves the strategy, which 1s supported by
a detalled financial plan for the year ahead Progress against
the plan 1s regularly monitored

Management accounting system

A comprehensive management accounting system is in
place providing management with financial and operational
performance measurement mdicators Detailed management
accounts are prepared monthly to cover each major area of
the business Vanances from plan and previous forecasts are
analysed, explained and acted on in a imely manner As well
as regular Board discussions, monthly meetings are held by
the Management Team to discuss performance with specific
projects being discussed when required Throughout
2009/10, the Capnal Investment Committee, chaired by the
Chief Financial Officer, was mstrumental in mantatning tight
control of capital and major contract expenditure and
headcount All major corporate projects are audited regularly

Internal control framework

Effective corporate governance remains key to the business
The Company continues to review its internal control
framework to ensure it maintains 2 strong and effective
internal control environment The effectiveness of the
framewark has been under regular review by the
Management Board The Group will continue to comply
with the Combined Code on corporate governance and

the UK Listing Authonty rules




Business controls are reviewed on an ongoing basis by the
internal control function which operates internationally and
to a programme based on risk assessment Professionally
quahfied personnel manage the department with experience
ganed from both inside and outside the industry A risk-
based audit plan, which provides assurance over key business
processes and commercial and financial nsks facing the
Company, I1s approved by the Audit Committee quarterly

The Audit Committee considers significant control matters
rassed by management and both the internal and external
auditors and reports its findings to the Board Where
weaknesses are entfied, the Audit Committee ensures
that management takes appropnate action No significant
faihngs or weaknesses were identfied during 2009/10

Risk management

The Company has a structure and process to help identify,
assess and manage nisks This process has been in place
throughout the year to which these statements apply and
up to the date of their approval

The Risk Group consists of the Management Board, the
Head of Corparate Risk and Internal Control and key senior
executives Meeting quarterly, it reviews the Company's key
risks contained in the corporate risk register and ensures that
all new and emerging risks are appropriately evaluated and
any further actions identified The Risk Group also provides
pohlicy and guidance to those responsible for managing the
individual risks and to the departmental nsk leaders

The management of each major area of corporate risk Is
subject to review by an appropniate ‘assurance body' This
includes a review of the controls in place to mitigate the nisks
and the further actions being taken by management The
Risk Group reports quarterly to the Audit Committee to
assist the Board in the management of nsk in accordance
with the Qctober 2005 Revised Guidance for Directors

on the Combined Code

The risk management process includes multiple
opportunities for ngorous discussion and debate to assess
the relative profile of each nisk to the other The outcome
includes a heat map This plots each criocal risk on animpact
and likelihood scate For each critical nisk, mitigating acuons
exist and are actively managed This process Is tterative and
refreshed on an ongoing basis This report does not include
the mapped results and mitigating actions for the prnincipal
nsks because of the sensitive commercial nature of some

of management’s plans

Liquidity nsk 1s discussed in more detall withun the Chief
Financial Officer’s statement on page 19 The Company's
Treasury Commuttee, chaired by the Group Treasurer, 1s
responsible for managing iquidity nsk and operates within
clearly defined parameters

Auditor

Resolutions to reappoint the retinng auditor, Ernst & Young LLP,
and to authonse the Directors to determine its remuneration
will be proposed at the 2010 Annual General Meeting

British Airways 2009/10 Annual Report and Accounts

Receipts and returns to shareholders

Dividend
The Board has decided not to recommend the payment
of a final dividend (2009 nil pence per share)

Share 1ssues, buy-backs and treasury shares

The principle of authonsed share capital was no longer
applicable after 1 October 2009 by wvirtue of the Companies
Act 2006

During the year, there has been an increase in the 1ssued
share capital, details of which are set out in the sections
headed 'Shares and shareholders' and 'Capital structure

and shareholider nghts’, respectively

Under UK legislation, the Board can be given authority to
allot shares in the Company by the passing of an ordinary
resolution at a general meeting of the Company The Board
currently has authonty to allot shares in the Company up
to an aggregate nominal value of £95 million by wirtue of

a resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting of the
Company held on 14 July 2009 This authority expires on
13 July 2010 and shareholders will be asked to renew this
authonity at the 2010 Annual General Meeting

Without prejudice to any special nghts previously conferred
on the holders of any shares or class of shares for the ume
being 1ssued, any share in the Company may be i1ssued with
such preferred, deferred or other special nghts, or subject

to such restricuions, whether as regards dvidend, return of
capital, voting or otherwise, as the Company may from time
to time by ordinary resolution determine (or, in the absence
of any such determination, as the Board may determine)
and, subject to the provisions of applicable company law, the
Company may 1ssue any shares which are, or at the option of
the Company and/or the holder are, liable to be redeemed

The Company Is authorised to conduct share buy-backs
of up to approximately 10 per cent of the 1ssued crdinary
share capital This is subject to certain hmitations relating
to the maximum and mimimum prices that may be paid for
any shares bought back This authonty 1s only exercised

if the Board considers the buy-back to be in the interests
of shareholders The Company has not conducted any
share buy-backs since the authonty was first obtained
Shareholders will be asked torenew this authority at the
2010 Annual General Meeung

If the Company were to buy-back shares they would be held
in treasury They could be sold quickly {subject to insider
dealing rules) and cost effectively, giving the Company
additional flexibihity in the management of its capital base
Whilst in treasury, the shares would be treated as if cancelled
so that no dividends would be pard on them and they would
have no voting rights No shares were held in treasury during
the year ended 31 March 2010(2009 nt)

49

21ueutanod aesodiod




50

British Airways 2009/10 Annual Report and Accounts

Corporate governance statement continued

Shares and shareholders

The number of ordinary shares issued and fully pad as at
31 March 2010 was 1,153,674,000 (31 March 2009
1,153,628,000) The increase over 31 March 2009 reflects
the 1ssue of new ordinary shares to sausfy the share opuons
exercised during the year under the British Airways Share
Opuen Plan 1999 and the vesting of shares awarded under
the Performance Share Plan as set out in notes 32 and 33
to the financial statements

Capital structure and shareholder rights

The share capital of the Company is dwvided into ordinary
shares of 25 pence each and one special voting share of

25 pence All ordinary shares have equal rights to divdends
and capital and to vote at general meetings of the Campany
The rights attached to the ordinary shares, 1n addition to
those conferred on their holders by law, are set out in the
Company's Articles of Association

In August 2009 the Company 1ssued £350 million 5 8 per
cent Convertible Bonds due 2014 The Bonds are convertible
inta fully pard ordinary shares of the Company at a price of
189 pence per share and will mature on 14 August 2014

The special voting share has no dividend nghts, imited
capital nghts and restnicted voting nghts The sole function
of the special voting share 15 to ensure that the votes capable
of being cast by the UK shareholders of the Company, taken
as a whole, need never fall below a majonty Its voting nghts
would only be triggered if the number of UK shares
represent, or are reasonably likely to represent at the time
of the next scheduled Annual General Meeting, 50 per cent
or less of the issued ordinary share capital and if the Board
considers that, as a result, any air service operating right
which s currently granted to, or enjoyed by, the Company
may be matenally restricted, suspended or revoked Once
1ts voung rights have been triggered, the special voting
share entitles the holder to such number of votes as, when
aggregated with the votes which are capable of being cast by
holders of the UK shares, are equal to 50 per cent of the
total number of votes which are capable of being cast, plus
one On any resolution, votes cast by the holder of the
special voting share may only be cast in the same manner
and proportion as the votes cast by the UK shareholders
Full details of the nghts attaching to the special voting share
are set out In the Company's Articles of Association The
specizl voting share 15 held by The Law Debenture Trust
Corporauon Pic

In the case of shares held in certificated form, the Directors
may, In their absclute discretion, refuse to register a transfer
of shares (not being fully paid shares) provided that, where
any such shares are admitted to the Official List of the UK
Listing Authonty, such discretion may not be exercised in
such a way as to prevent dealings in the shares of that class
from taking place on an open and proper basis The
Directors may also refuse to register a transfer of shares
(whether fully paid or not) in favour of more than four
persons Jaintly Full detais of restrictons on the transfer of
shares are set out in the Company's Articles of Association

The Directors may, in their absolute discretion, refuse
to register any transfer of the special voting share

The shares of a person subjected to an Affected Share
Notice may, subject to the specific terms of that notice,
no longer confer on the holder any entitlement to exercise
nghts conferred by membership in relanon to general
meetings This includes the nghts to attend or vote, either
personally or by proxy, at any general meeting of the
Company, or any meeting of the holders of any class of
shares In addition, the nights to attend, speak and demand
a poll that would have attached to the shares, but for the
restrictions set cut in the Affected Share Notice, shall vest
in the Chairman of the relevant meeting

The person on whom an Affected Share Notice has been
served may also be required to dispose of the shares which
are the subject of such notice, in accordance with the
provisions of the Articles of Association

Where, under the Articles of Association, a persen has been
served with a direction notice as a result of default for the
prescribed pencd in providing the Company wath the required
information concernng interests in shares held by them,
those shares shall no longer confer on the holder any night

to vote, either persconally or by proxy, at a general meeting

of the Company, or exercise any cther nghts conferred by
membership in relaton to general meetings of the Company
or meetings of the holders of any class of shares

Additionally, If that person holds at least 2 0 25 per cent
Interest in number or nominal value of the 1ssued shares of
that class in the Company, then the Board may also withhold
payment of all or part of any dvidends payable to them in
respect of the shares which are the subject of the direction
notice and refuse to register any transfer of such shares untl
such time as the default 1s remedied and the Board determines
that the direction notice shall cease to have effect

There may also be restrictions on the transfer of ordinary
shares or on the exercise of voting nights attached to them
where (1) the Company has exercised 1ts nght to suspend
therr voting nghts or to protibit therr transfer following the
omission of their holder or any person interested i them to
provide the Company with nformation requested by it in
accordance with Part 22 of the Companies Act 2006, or (1)
their holder 1s precluded from exercising voting nights by the
Financial Services Authonity’s (FSA) isting rules or the City
Code on Takeovers and Mergers

Following its delisting from the New York Stock Exchange,
the Company maintains an Amencan Depositary Receipts
(ADR) programme in the US as a Level | programme This
means that the Company’s ADRs are traded on the over-the-
counter market. Each ADR 1s equivalent to 10 ordinary
shares and each ADR holder 1s entitled to the financial nghts
attaching to such shares, although the ADR depositary is the
registered holder of the shares As at 31 March 2010, the
equivalent of 21 2 million shares were held in ADR form

{31 March 2009 21 3 miflion)




Shareholders can appomt a proxy to vote on ther behalf on
a poll at shareholder meetings (or any adjournment thereof),
either by posting the proxy form to the address set out In
the Notice of Meeting or online via the Company's investor
relations website Proxy appointments must be receved by
& 00 pm on Fnday 9 July 2010.n order o be eligible for the
2010 Annual General Meeting If the shares are held in
Brtish Airways Investor Services, the Company Nominee,
the votng instructions must be received by 11 00 am on
Friday 9 July 2010

In order to protect the air service operating nghts of the
Company, the number of ordinary shares held by non-UK
nationals 1s monitored, as Is the number of ardinary shares
held by persons who are nat nationals of states comprising
the European Economic Area (EEA) At 31 March 2010,

41 per cent of the ordinary shares of the Company were
held by non-LIK nationals (31 March 2009 34 per cent) and
18 per cent of the ordinary shares were held by persons who
were not nationals of states compnsing the EEA (31 March
2009 20 per cent} Although there are no large interests of
single or associated non-UK nationals, the Directors cannot
rule out the possibility that the Directors may be required to
exercise their powers to restrict non-UK or non-EEA share
ownership in order to protect the Company’s operating rights

Waiver of dividends

The British Airways Employee Benefits Trust (Jersey)
Limuted, which holds British Awrways shares for the purpose
of sausfying awards and options granted to employees under
the Company's employee share schemes, has waived its
nights to dividends The Trustee does not vote the shares
that it holds At 31 March 2010 there were 1,086,001
shares held in the Trust (31 March 2009 2,165,281)

Significant holdings

The Company has been notified pursuant to the DTRs of the
following interests of 3 per cent or more of the Company's
issued ordinary shares as at 11 May 2010

Percentage Direct Indirect
Name of shareholder of holding % %
Black Rock Adwisors 1386 1260
Iberia Lineas Aéreas de EspafiaSA 907 a07
Standard Life plc 734 43838 246
Lloyds Banking Group plc 630 082 548
Janus Capital Management LLC 715 715
AXA Investments 485 07s 410
INVESCO plc 430 430
Legal & General Group Plc 398 398

Shareholder analysis
As at 31 March 2010, there were 209,129 shareholders
{31 March 2009 214,119) An analysis 1s given below
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Percentage of Percentage

Size of shareholding sharehclders of shares
-]

1-1,000 8812 452
1,001 -5,000 1051 359
5,001 -10,000 081 098
10,001 - 50,000 032 105
50,001 - 100,000 c04 055
100,001 — 250,000 007 203
250,001 — 500,000 004 274
500,001 - 750,000 oM 222
750,001 - 1,000,000 002 193
Over 1,000,000 006 8039
100 00 100 00

Percentage of Percentage

Classificaton of sharehotding sharehalders of shares
]
Individuals 93 33 942
Bank or Nominee 138 8802
Insurance companies om oM
Pension trusts o 038
Investment trusts 002 004
Other corporate bodies 025 213
100.00 10000

Impact of change of contro!

The following significant agreements contain provisions
entithng the counterparties to exercise terrmnation or ather
nights in the event of a change of contro! of the Company

« £350 millon 5 8 per cent Convertible Bonds due 2014,

* The Joint Business Agreement between (1} American
Aurlines Inc (2) British Airways Plc, and (3} Iberia Lineas
Aereas de Espafia S A dated 14 August 2008,

* Merger agreement between British Awrways Plc and Ibena
Lineas Aéreas de Espana SA. dated 8 April 2010,

+ All of the Company's share schemes contain provisions
relating to a change i control Other than the Performance
Share Plan, which s subject to the satisfaction of any
performance conditions at that time, all outstanding
options would normally vest and become exercisable on a
change of control The Directors have determined that if
the merger with Ibena proceeds, all options will roll over
into nternational Consohdated Airines Group 5 A,

* Jaint business agreement with Ibena, which coordinates
schedules, marketing, sales, freight, pricing and customer
service activities,

¢ Codeshare agreements with Aer Lingus, American Airlines,
b, Cathay Paafic, Finnarr, Fiybe, Ibena, JAL, LAN, Malev,
Mendiana Fly, Qantas and Royal jordanian, and

* Contracts to sell mites to Alaska Airlines, American
Aurlines, American Express Services Europe Ltd, Chase
Bank USA N A, Lloyds TSB plc, Royal Bank of Canada
and Tesco Stores Limited

Neither of the Executive Directors’ service contracts
provides for compensation to be paid in the event of change
of control of the Company
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Report of the Audit Committee

Members Alisan Reed {Chairman), Maarten van den Bergh,
Baroness Kingsmill, Ken Smart and Baroness Symans

The Board 1s satisfied that Alison Reed has recent and
relevant financial expenence for the purposes of paragraph
C 31 of the Combined Code

The Committee met five imes during the year ended
31 March 2010

Regular attendees at Committee meetings, at the invitation
of the Committee, included the Chairman, the Chief
Executive, Chief Financial Officer, the Head of Corporate
Risk and Internal Control, the Group Financiat Controller,
the Group Reporting Manager and representatives from the
external auditor Other semor management are invited (o
attend when the business of the Commuttee requires, tn
particular areas such as Information Technology During the
course of the year, the Committee has also held closed
meetings and has also met privately with both the external
and internal auditars

The Audit Committee 15 responsible for exercising the
full powers and authonty of the Board in accounting and
financial reporting matters The full terms of reference
are available on the Company's investor relations website,
bashares com

The key duties of the Committee include to
* Monitor the integnty of the quarterly financial statements

of the Company and any formal announcements relating to
the Company's financial performance, reviewing significant

financial reporting judgements contained in them,

Review the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
financial controls, internal control and nsk management
systems,

Monitor and review the effectiveness of the Company's
internal audit function,

Make recommendations to the Board, for it to put to the
shareholders for thewr approval In general meetings, in
relation to the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor;

Review and monitor the external auditor’s ndependence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process,
taking into consideration relevant professional and
regulatory requirements,

Develop and implement policy on the engagement of the
external auditor to supply non-audit senvices, taking into
account relevant ethical guidance regarding the provision
of non-audit services by the external audit firm and to
report to the Board, identifying any matters in respect of
which it considers that acuon or improvement is needed
and making recommendations as to the steps to be taken,
and

* Estabhish and mainta:n procedures for processing
complaints regarding accounting, internal controls or
auditing matters and to review the Company's procedures
for the confidential anonymous submission by Company
employees of concerns regarding questionable accounting
or auditing matters

Items reviewed during the year included

Financial reporting

The Committee reviewed the draft annual and interim
management reports before recommending therr publication
to the Board The Committee discussed with the Chief
Executive, Chief Financial Officer and external auditor the
significant accounting policies, estimates and judgements
applied in preparing these reports The Committee also
reviewed the draft intenm management statements

Going concern and liquidity nisk

The Committee reviewed In detall the Financial Reporting
Councifs guidance for Directors in relation to going concern
and iquidity nsk published in Cctober 2009 as well as 1ts
paper entitled Challenges for Audit Committees anising from
current economic conditions published in November 2009
Thus year there has been continued strong focus on debt
and hquidity management

Internal contrel and risk management

The Commuttee reviewed the nisk management process
and discussed the inherent nsks faced by the business
Risk management actmities take place throughout the
organisation to support the Commuttee In its corporate
governance responsibilities, working with the business to
proactively and effectively manage nsk This, together with
the related controls and assurance processes, is designed
to identify, evaluate and manage nsk and to ensure that the
resultant residual risks meet the nsk appetite of the Board
The principal nsks and uncertainties are outhned in the
relevant section on pages 33 and 34 The Committee
discussed with management how they would continue to
deliver high-quality oversight and risk evaluation against
the background of the current economic chimate

The Committee has an angoing process for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal controls and of the
internal audit function Dunng 2009/10, 1t reviewed and
approved the nsk-based audit plan and the staffing levels
in Internal Control to ensure it had sufficient resources

to fulfil the agreed plan It considered reports from the
Internal Control team summansing the audit findings and
recommendations and descnbing actions taken by
management to address any shortfalls It reviewed the level
and nature of outstanding audit weaknesses and invited
management to the Committee to further understand
progress where it felt it was necessary It also reviewed how
the audit funcuon was performing against the relevant
standards published by the Institute of Internal Auditors




The business recently introduced an updated anti-fraud
policy which provides greater clanty and guidance in respect
of British Airway's expectations of its employees This
revised code has been supported by a mandatory training
course for all management colleagues which will be rolled
out further in the organisation in future

External audit

The Committee reviewed the external audit sirategy and
the findings of the external auditor from its review of the
internim announcement and its audst of the annual financial
statements The Committee also reviewed the scope and
costs of the external audit The Committee has a clear
policy regarding non-audit services that may be provided
by the external auditor, which prohibits certain categories
of work and controls the averall level of expenditure
Pre-authonsaton is required for all non-audit work

Whistleblowing

The confidential helpline run by Safecall, which allows
employees to raise concerns, 15 working welt and confidence
in it 18 growing The Committee received regular reports on
the confidential reporting system to ensure that the Company's
whistleblowing processes are working approprately The
Committee also received a report for the first ime on the
work of the Company's network of harassment adwisors

Auditor independence

The Commuittee reviews the work undertaken by the
external auditor and each year assesses its independence,
objectivity and performance In doing so, it takes mto
account relevant professional and regulatory requirements
and the relationship with the auditor as a whole, including
the proviston of any non-audit services The Committee
monitors the auditor’s compliance with relevant regulatory,
ethical and professional guidance on the rotation of partners,
as well as assessing annually its qualfications, expertise,
resources and the effectiveness of the audit process,
including a report from the external auditor on its own
internal quality procedures Having reviewed Ernst & Young's
performance in 2010, the Commuttee decided it was in the
Group’s and shareholders’ interest not to tender the external
audit In 2010 and recommends the re-appointment of Ernst
& Young LLP

Audit Committee effectiveness

The Committee prepares and reviews with the Board an
annual performance evaluanon of the Committee The
findings of the review ensure that the Board 1s satisfied that
the Commiitee 1s operating effectively, and meeting all
applicable legal and regulatory requirements

Other 1ssues
Details of the fees paid to the external auditor during
2009/10 can be found In note 6 to the financial statements

The terms of reference of the Committee are reviewed at least
annually and any changes are recommended to the Board

British Airways 2003/10 Annual Report and Accounts
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Report of the Nominations Committee

Members Martin Broughton {Chairman), Maarten van den
Bergh and Baroness Kingsmll

The Chairman chairs the Committee and all other members
of the Commuittee are independent Non-executive Directors
All Non-executive Board members are invited to attend

its meetings and the Chief Executive attends as necessary
No Board member participates in any discussion of his or
her own performance The Committee has written terms

of reference covening the authonty delegated to it by the
Board The full terms of reference, which were amended
duning the year, are available on the Company's investor
relations website, www bashares com

The Nominations Committee meets at least once a year, and
addinanally if required, to consider the balance of the Board's
membership, to identfy any additional skills or expenence
which might enhance the Board's performance, and to
interview candidates and recommend appomntments to or,
where necessary, removals from the Board The Committee
also reviews the performance of any Director seeking
re-election at the forthcoming Annua! General Meeting

The Commuttee's remit also includes review of corporate
governance and succession planning

In relation to the appointment of new Board members, the
process used for the nomination of new candidates starts
with the identification of the skills and expenence needed 1o
maintain or enhance the diversity of skills and experience on
the Board Whilst in most cases this will result in the use of

an independent search firm, this 15 not always the case
During the year, Rafael Sanchez-Lozano Turmo was
appointed as a Non-executive Drrector pursuant to Clause 9
of the Memorandum of Linderstanding between Ibena and
Bnitish Airways dated 12 November 2009, which gave Iberia
the right to nominate a Director to the Board of Briush
Auirways Rafael Sanchez-Lozano Turmo will seek election

by shareholders at the Annual General Meetng to be held
on 13 July 2010 Whilst the Committee 15 satisfied with the
current composition and diversity of the Board, it has been
engaged in a search for a further Non-executive Director An
independent search firm has been engaged for this process
A different independent search firm 15 also being used to
assist In the selection of two iIndependent Non-executive
Directors for the Board of International Consolidated Aurlines
Group S A although this 1s techmically outside the terms of
reference of the Commuittee

Under the Company's Articles of Association, all Directors
are required to offer themselves up for re-election every
three years Following a review of their respective
performances as part of the Board evaluation exercise, the
Commuttee has put forward Jim Lawrence and Ahson Reed
for re-election at the Annual General Meeting to be held on
13 July 2010 Their biographical detalls are set out In the
explanatory notes of the Notice of Annual General Meeting
and demonstrate the skills and expenence which they bring
to the benefit of the Company

Report of the Safety Review Committee

Members Ken Smart (Chairman), Baroness Kingsmull,
Baroness Symons and Rafael Sanchez-Lozano Turmo
(from December 2009)

The Safety Review Commuttee meets at least four tmes

a year to consider matters relating to the operational safety
of the airline and subsidiary airlines, as well as health and
safety 1ssues The full terms of reference are available on the
Company's investor relations website, www bashares com

The Safety Review Committee reviews reports from the
various safety boards within the arline including the semor
management’s safety review board Where appropriate, the
Committee also reviews relevant reports published by the
LUK Air Accident Investigatien Branch {AAIB), major incidents
to other operators and external reports During 2009/10,
1ssues raised at the Safety Review Committee included the

* AAIB report into the Boemng 777 short landing at
Heathrow on 17 January 2008,

* Circumstances leading to the Cerufication Authonties
requinng medification to the reverse thrust sensing system
on the Boeng 747 fleet to ensure safe operation, following
an incident on take-off 1n May 2009 from Johannesburg, and

 Learning paints for British Airways from the independent
review conducted by Chartes Haddon Cave QC into the
broader 1ssues surrounding the loss of an RAF Nimred
arcraft in 2006 over Afghanistan

The Chief Executive 1s the named Accountable Manager
for the Company for the purposes of the Air Operators
Ceruficate and EU Ops (EU Ops are prescribed in Annex
111 to EU Regulation No 3922/1991) As the Accountable
Manager, he chairs quarterly meetings of the Safety Review
Board with the four Nominated Postholders (the executives
responsible to the Cvil Aviation Authority (CAA) for safety
in the various operational departments of the Company)
along with the Director of Safety and Secunty, the Head of
Awiation Safety, the Head of Operational Safety and the
Head of Cperational Risk and Compliance These meetings
review operational compliance, quality and safety, moniter
the effectiveness of the corporate safety management
system and agree cross-departmental policy as appropriate
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Report of the Remuneration Committee

Information not subject to audit

Members Jim Lawrence (Chairman), Maarten van den Bergh
and Alison Reed

Commuttee and advisers

At the Annual General Meeting in july 2009, Dr Martin Read
retired from the Board and Jim Lawrence was appomted
Chairman of the Remuneration Commuttee in his place

The Company’s Remuneration Committee determines on
behalf of the Board, within the agreed terms of reference
(which were amended during the year and can be found on
the Company’s website, www bashares com), the averall
remuneration packages for the Chairman, the Executive
Directors and the other members of the Management
Team (as defined in the Committee’s terms of reference)
Its members are all independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company, none of whom has any personal financial
interest, other than as a shareholder, in the matters to

be decided

The Commuttee’s main duties can be summansed as

» To determine the framework or broad policy for the
remuneration of the Chairman, the Executive Directors
and the other members of the Management Team including
incentive compensation plans and equity-based pians,
Within the terms of the agreed policy, to determine the
total remuneration packages for the Chairman, the
Executive Directors and the other members of the
Management Team, and

+ To deterrmine the policy for and scope of pension
arrangements, Service agreements, termination payments
and compensation commitnents, undertaking direct
supervision of such maiters in relation to the Executive
Directors and other members of the Management Team

The Committee has three main meetings every financial year
The first meeting, typically held in the first quarter of the
financial year, assesses performance in the prior year and
considers bonus awards in relation to that year, reviews
salary levels and determines the level of awards to be
granted under the long-term incentive schemes The second
meeting, typically held in the third quarter of the financial
year, 15 a planning meeting for the next year to review the
market trends and 1ssues of interest to investors nitial
proposals for any new remuneration schemes would be
considered at this meeting, The third meeting, typically held m
the fourth quarter of the financial year, considers the bonus
and long-term incenuive targets for awards to be made in the
following year Additonal meetings are held as required

The Company currently participates in four main salary
survey sources — run by Hay, PrcewaterhouseCoopers
{PwC), Hawitt New Bridge Street (Hewtt) and Towers
Watson Data 1s extracted from each of these in determining
the Company's approach to base-pay market rates, and
idenufying competitive market practice in respect of

the other remuneration elements The Remuneration
Commuttee (s, however, aware of the nsk of an upward
ratcheting of remuneration that can result from over
reliance on pay surveys

Hewitt is the adwisor to the Remuneration Commuttee

and provided advice to the Committee that matenally
assisted it Its terms of reference are available for inspection
on the Company's investor relations website During the
year, the Committee put the contract for its advisory work
out to tender in a competition which was won by the
incumbent, Hewitt.

The Chairman, Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer,
Secretary, Director — People and Orgarusational
Effectiveness and Head of Reward, all assisted the
Committee in tts dehberations but none of them participated
in any decisions relating to their own remuneration None
of those who materially assisted the Committee in its
delberavons was appointed by the Remuneration
Committee other than Hewitt Hay provided no services
to the Company other than advice on remuneration matters
durning 2009/10 in addition to 1ts adwice on remuneration,
Hewitt also provided some advice to the Company on
general employee reward and on pensions and PwC also
provided minor advisory services

Towers Watson provides aciuanal advice to the Trustees
of the British Aurways pension schemes

Where appropriate, the Committee consults with major
investors about its proposals

Executive Directors

Policy

The Company's remuneration palicy 1S to provide
compensation packages at market rates which reward
successful performance and attract, retain and motivate
managers The Company aims to provide remuneration
packages which are broadly comparable with other
UK-based international businesses of simitar size

In fixing packages, the Committee has regard to the
compensation commitments which would result in the
event of early termination and takes account of pay
and employment conditions of employees elsewhere
In the Group

The Commuttee 15 satisfied that the compensation packages,
which are set by reference to market base salary and
incentive pay levels and take account of the Company's Key
Performance tndicators, do nat raise any environmental,
social or governance nsks by inadvertently motivating undue
risk taking.
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Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

The Remuneration Committee is well aware of the
challenging econarmic enmvironment and its severe impact on
the Company's finances, but it also recogmses that it 15 very
important to incentivise and retain management to drive the
business forward It 15 worth noting that the Company has
significantly reduced headcount at senior management levels
and 1s demanding higher levels of performance from those
who remain It also continues to need to attract top talent
from outside the orgamsation

The Committee 15 also aware that the Company's senior
management faces a series of key strategic challenges over
the next year, inctuding execution of the planned merger
with |bena, the conclusion of the joint Business Agreement
with Amenrican Airlines and |beria, a sausfactory resolution to
the pension funding 1ssue and improving employee relations

Aganst this background, the Committee has considered how
best to structure future incentive arrangements, in particular
the design of the annual bonus plan for 2010/11 and the
nature of the performance cnitena that should apply to
Performance Share Plan awards scheduled to be granted in
2010 The Committee’s policy (which has been discussed
with the Association of Briush Insurers {ABl), Rusk Metnics
and some major investors) Is descnbed below Recognising
that there have been some signs of improvement in the
economic environment and performance of the Company,
the Committee has decided to increase the potential level
of annual bonus awards in relation to 2010/11 from 50 per
cent of the normal maxirma applying before 2009/10 o
two-thirds of those maxima and make awards for 2010/11
under the Performance Share Plan at the same percentage
level of salary as has been apphed since 2008

Remuneration package

The package for the Executive Directors for 2009/10
consisted of a base salary, benefits-in-kind (including private
healthcare, a car and fuel and non-contractual travel
concessions), pension, an annual bonus scheme (including a
deferred element payable in shares) and partucipation in the
Performance Share Plan The proportion of performance-
related vanable remuneration, through the bonus scheme
and awards under the Performance Share Plan, was
approximately 50 per cent of total target remuneration
(excluding pension arrangements) The package for the
Executive Directors for 2010/ 11 will be the same other than
In relation to the annual bonus scheme as descnbed below
As a result of the increase in bonus potential, the proporton
of performance-related varnable remuneration, through the
bonus scheme and awards under the Performance Share
Plan, has nsen marginally to approximately 56 per cent of
total target remuneration (excluding pension arrangements)

Expected value of the elements of the package

Chief Executve  Chief Financial Officer
]
Salary 40 7% 359%
On-target bonus 203% 14 8%
Expected value of LTIP 330% 291%
Pension 51% 19 3%
Benefits 09% 09%
Total 100.00% 100 00%

The Committee assesses remuneration packages on a
total remuneration basss, taking into account the value of
each of the indwdual elements of the package The polcy
aims to target base salanes at around the market median
The strategy for incentive pay 1s intended to increase

the expected value to make the package more market-
competitive for Executive Directors, but to retain as its aim
the achievement of a market median value, subject to the
achievement of stretching targets Between them, the
elements of the remuneration package provide a good
balance between the achievement of short and longer-term
goals linked to the creation of shareholder value

Base salary

The base salary reflects the level of responsibility of

the Executve Director, his market value and individual
performance The Committee’s objective is to position base
salanes around the market median leve! In reviewing base
salary, independent external advice 1s taken on salanes for
comparable jobs in similar sized companies from the survey
sources referred to previously The Commuttee has regard
to the performance of the individuals and the pay and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Company when
determining annual salary increases

The current base salaries for the Executive Directors,
which took effect from 1 July 2008, are

Willie Walsh €735,000 (2008 £735,000)
Keith Wilhams £440,000 (2008 £440,000)

As reported last year, there was no increase In base salary
levels for management throughout the organisation By
contrast, the five bargaining groups representing non-
management grades received incremental salary increases
adding a further 1 6 per cent on average to the Company's
employee costs Consistent with the drive to cut costs and
as widely reported at the ume, the Executive Directors
voluntarily did not recewve their base salary for the month of
July 2009 Asin 2009/10, the Company does not propose
to increase base salary levels for the Executive Directors

in 2010/11, thisis again in ine with the Company-wide
objective of no general Increases in base salary throughout
the organisation




Annual bonus

Reflecting that the Company was anticipated 1o make a

loss for 2009/10, the maximum amount of annual bonus
avallable for distnbution to semor executives was reduced by
50 per cent A total maximum annual bonus of 75 per cent
of base salary for the Chief Executive and 62 5 per cent of
base salary for the Chief Financial Officer was therefore
avallable for maximum performance against the targets (see
below), with any award payable in deferred shares vesting
after three years (under the Brinsh Airways Deferred Share
Plan 2005 as detalled on page 59)

The Committee determined that the annual bonus would
be based on three measures with one half of the total award
based on achievement of the financial plan for the year, one
quarter based on customer recommendation and one
quarter based on punctuality

The two non-financial measures are two of the Company’s
Key Performance Indicators and are more fully described on
page 32 The customer recommendation measure 1 based
on the percentage of customers who say that they are
‘extremely hkely' or 'very likely' to recommend Briush
Airways Punctuality is measured on the basis of the
percentage of British Airways’ flights that are prepared for
departure and ‘Ready to Go' at three minutes before the
scheduled departure time For both customer
recommendation and punctuality, the Committee set a
shding scale around the targets for the year, with significant
stretch required above the target to earn full payment. In
relation to the element of the bonus relating to the financial
plan, payment began once the financial plan had been
achieved with a sliding scale so that full payment required
performance significantly better than plan The Committee
also retained discretion to prevent any bonus payments for
customer recommendation and/or punctuality If, in its
opinion, the financial performance of the Company has not
been sausfactory in the circumstances The Company
achieved the target results under the financial plan 2nd
accordingly 12 5 per cent of the bonus potential was earned
The threshold target for the customer recommendation
measure was achieved and therefore 5 per cent of bonus
potential was earned The stretch target for the punctuality
measure was exceeded and therefore 12 5 per cent of bonus
potential was earned The Committee determined that in the
extremely difficult circumstances encountered during the
year, the financial performance of the Company had been
sausfactory and therefore awards equating to 30 per cent of
the bonus maximum will be made under the British Airways
Deferred Share Plan 2005

As descnbed on page 56 and above, for 2010/11, the
Commuttee has determined that it would be appropnate
to parnally restore the tevel of annual bonus awards to
two-thirds of the 2008/09 maxima The amount of annual
bonus available for distnbution for 2010/11 will therefore
be a maximum fimit of 100 per cent of salary for the Chief
Executive, 82 5 per cent of salary for the Chief Financial
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Officer and two-thirds for senior executives generally Any
award would only be payable half in cash and half in deferred
shares which would vest, after three years (under the British
Airways Deferred Share Plan 2005 as detailed on page 59)

The Committee has given significant consideration to the
performance metnics for the 2010/11 plan Recognising the
importance of the key strategic imtiatives the Company Is
undertaking, the Committee considers that it 1s appropnate
to base 30 per cent of the bonus payable to the Execuuve
Directors and certam senior managers on the achievement
of strategic targets relating to the |lbena merger, the Joint
Business Agreement with Amerncan Airlines and lbena,
agreeing a recovery plan in respect of the pension deficits,
and an improvement in industnal relattons For other
managers, 30 per cent of the bonus will be assessed with
reference to personal objectives, 40 per cent of the bonus
will be based on operating profit, based on achievement of
the financial plan, with a shiding scale so that full payment
requires performance to be significantly better than plan
and no payrnent will be made if there is an operating loss
The threshold for 2010/11 represents a significant
improvemnent on the target for 2009/10 Finally, 15 per cent
will be based on customer recommendation and 15 per cent
on punctuality For both customer recommendation and
punctualty, the Committee has again set a shding scale
around the targets for the year, with significant stretch
required above the target to earn full payment.

For alt of the metncs, 25 per cent of the potential bonus will
be payable for reaching a threshold level of performance,
with 50 per cent payable at target and 100 per cent at stretch
There will be straight-line vesting between these paints

The Committee retains the discreuon to prevent any bonus
payments If, in 1ts opinion, the financial performance of the
Company has not been satsfactory in the circumstances

Assuming that the merger with Iberia 1s completed on ume,
the financial year will be shortened to nine months ending
31 December 2010 for consistency with the new holding
company’s financial year end The bonus targets have been
structured so that they could apply to a full financial year or,
assurning the merger with lbera 1s implemented on time,

to a nine month period untl 31 December 2010 In the
event that the bonus relates to a nine month penad, bonus
amounts will be prorated down to nine-twelfths, with a new
12 month bonus plan resuming from January 2011

Long-term incentive arrangements

British Airways Performance Share Plan 2005

The Bnush Airways Performance Share Plan 2005 (PSP)

15 the long-term incentive plan awarded to key semor
executives of the Company, those most directly involved

in shaping and delivening the medium to long-term business
goals of the Company The plan was approved by
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in 2005
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Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

The PSP consists of an award of the Company’s shares
which vests subject to the achievernent of pre-defined
performance conditions (see below) in full or in part at the
third anniversary of award No payment 1s required from
individuals when the shares are awarded or when they vest
The Remuneration Committee supervises the operauon of
the PSP Awards worth up 1o 150 per cent of an executive’s
base salary can be granted under the PSP Executive
Directors were granted this level of award for 2009/10,
although in light of the circumstances prevailing at the ume
of award, Willie Walsh felt it appropnate to dechine his award

Other members of the Management Team received awards
equivalent to 100 per cent of their respecuve base salarnes
The Committee considers that maintaining these award
levels 1s appropnate for the 2010 awards taking account of
the fact that award levels are not high by FTSE 100 market
standards, that the annual bonus has been scaled back from
normal levels and that the overall remuneration packages
are not high by market standards The Committee also took
into account the nise in the Company’s share price over the
past year

The awards made annually pnior to 2009/10 are each
subject to two performance conditions which operate
independently of each other This meant that meetng either
of the conditions would trigger 2 payment without the need
to meet the other performance condition 50 per cent of
each award was subject to a Total Shareholder Return (TSR)
performance condition, measured against a group of other
arhne companies, and the other 50 per cent was subject to
an average operaung margin pesformance conditton The use
of two separate but complementary performance conditions
created an alignment to both the airline industry (via the
TSR measure) and also the Company's internal finanoal
performance measure {via the operaung margin measure}
Both of these performance conditions were measured over
a single three year performance pencd which began on

1 Apri! prior to the award date The awards do not vest until
the third anniversary of the date of award For the awards
made in 2009/10, the lack of visibility over the penod
2009/10 to 2011/12 made 1t very difficult to set three year
financial targets, so the whole of the award was conditional
on the Company's relative TSR performance, with a financial
underpin This requires the Remuneration Committee

to be sausfied that the Company's underlying financial
performance has shown an improvement and that this

15 satisfactory 1n the circumstances prevailing over the

three year penod

TSR measures the financial benefits of holding a company’s
shares and 15 determined by share price performance along
with any dividends which are paid None of the shares that
are subject to the TSR performance condition will vest
unless the Company's TSR performance 1s at the median
(50th percentile) of the arline comparator group f median
performance 1s achieved, 25 per cent of the shares relatng
to TSR vest There i1s then 2 shding scale at the top of which
all of the shares relating to TSR vestin full if the Company’s
TSR performance Is at or above the upper quintile (top 20
per cent) of the comparator group The comparator group
of arlines used in the awards from 2006 to 2009 are shown
in the table below

Air Berhin JAL (2009 only)
(2008 and 2009 only) LAN (2009 only)
Air Canada Lufthansa

Air France Nerthwest Airlines
Air New Zealand (2008 only)
Altalia (not 2009) Qantas Atrways
All Nippon Airines Ryanair

American Airlines SAS
Cathay Pacific Airways Singapore Airlines
Conunental Arlines Southwest Airlines

Delta Airtines (2006 and 2007 only)
(2008 and 2009 only) Umited Airlines
Easylet US Airways

Iberia

It 1s currently mtended that the comparator group for awards
that are made in 2010/ 11 will be broadly the same as that
used 1in 2009/10 In the event that the merger with lbera
proceeds, the TSR performance of the Company will be
used up to the merger date and the TSR performance of the
new holding company will be used to determine performance
for the remaining penod over which the awards are tested

For the 50 per cent of the awards made prior to 2009/10
that are subject to the operating margin performance
condition, targets are as follows

Average annual operatng margin

over performance penod

25% 100%

of shares of shares

(le125% (e 50%

of total  of totat

award)  award)

Award Performance penod 0% vests vest vest

]

2006 award 2006/07 - Lessthan 8% 8% 10%+
2008/09

2007 award 2007/08— Lessthan8% 8% 11%+
2009/10

2008 award 2008/09- Lessthan5% 5% 10%+
2010/1

A shiding scale of vesting operates for performance between
the mimmum and maximum vesutng points




The Committee has given considerable thought to the
performance criteria for the 2010/11 awards While the
Committee beleves that it 1s generally desirable to base
part of the award on financial performance, in view of the
impending merger with Ibera and the difficulty of setting
appropriate financial targets covering three years including
this transition penod, the Commuttee has deterrnined that
the 2010/11 award should again be condrtional solely upon
relative TSR performance As outlined above and in line with
previous practice, TSR will be compared to a basket of other
arhnes and vesting will occur for rankings between median
and upper quintile The Remuneration Committee again will
underpin the TSR test with the same requirement relating

to financial performance applied to the 2009/10 awards
Therefore, irrespective of the outcome on TSR, awards will
only vest If the Remuneration Committee 1s sausfied that
underlying financial performance has shown an improvement
and that this 1s satisfactory in the circumstances prevaling
over the three year period, bearing in mind the effect of the
merger assurmning it goes ahead The Remuneration
Committee continues ta use this performance condition
because it 1s challenging, ahgned to shareholders’ interests
and, despite the current circumstances, ts a rehable means
of companng management’s performance within 1ts sector,
whether or not the merger goes ahead

British Airways Deferred Share Plan 2005

The British Awrways Deferred Share Plan 2005 {DSP) was
adopted by the Board in September 2005 and 1s the
mechanism for delivering the deferred elerment of the annual
bonus Awards were made under the DSP in November
2006 and August 2008 In each case, an award of deferred
shares to the value of one half of the bonus earned was
made to qualifying executives Other than on retrement or
redundancy, the shares will be subject to forfeiture if the
executive leaves dunng the three year deferral period On
vesting, executives will receive the benefit of any dividends
paid aver the deferred period All of the bonus payable in
relation to 2009/10 will be made in the form of deferred
shares

For further information regarding these schemes, see

pages 52 to 64 which contain details of awards to Executive
Directors and in prior years under current and historic

share incentive schemes and also see note 33 to the
financial statements

Shareholding guideline

A shareholding guideline I1s operated to further align the
interests of executives and shareholders Executives are
expected to retain no fewer than 50 per cent of the shares
(net of tax) which vest from the DSP and the PSP untl they
have a personal sharehclding equivalent to 100 per cent
of base salary
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Briush Airways All-Employee Share Ownership Plan

In July 2000, the Company obtained shareholders’ approval
10 implement any aspect of the new all-employee share
plans, now known as share incentive plans The approval
permits the Company to operate a partnership share plan
which would allow employees in the LIK to buy shares from
therr pre-tax salary and would allow the Company to give
matching or free shares to those participants in the share
plan Financial imitations would apply to any new plan

No plans are currently 1n operation, but this will be kept
under review

Service contracts

Each of the Executive Directors serving at the year end has
a rolling contract with a one year notice perniod As a matter
of policy, in the event of new external appointments, the
length of service contracts would be determined by the
Remuneration Committee n the light of the then prevailing
market practice However, the Remuneration Committee
recognises that, In some cases, it may be necessary to offer
a contract with a notice peried In excess of one year in order
to attract a new Executive Director In these circumstances,
the Remuneration Committee acknowledges that the notice
period should reduce to one year after the imtial period in
accordance with paragraph B 1 6 of the Combined Code

The service contracts for the serving Directors include the
following terms

Executive Director Date of contract Unexpired term/notice period
]

Willie Walsh 8 March 2005 terminable on
12 months' notice
Keith Willams 1 January 2006 terminable on

12 months' notice

There are no express provisions for compensation payable
upen early termination of the Executive Directors’ contracts
other than normal payments due during the notice penod

In the event of early terminatcn, the Company's policy Is to
act fairly in all aircumstances and the duty to mitigate would
be taken into account The Executives’ contracts include a
pay in lieu of notice provision and are subject to mitigation
provisions during the second six months of the notice
penod Neither of the contracts provides for compensaton
1o be paid in the event of a change of contral of the Company
Copies of the two service contracts can be viewed on the
Company's investor relations website
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Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

External Non-executive directorships

The Board encourages Executive Directors to broaden
their experience outside the Company by taking up non-
executive appointments from which they may retain any fee
The Company's consent 1s required before an executive can
accept such an appointment and permussion will only be
given in appropriate circurmnstances Duning the year in
questton, Keith Willlams earned fees of £22,000 as a Nen-
executive Director of Transport for London Keith Willams
was appointed a Non-executive Director of Ibena Lineas
Aereas de Espaiia S A (from 17 December 2009), the fees
from this appointment are payable to the Company

Pension schemes

The Company has three main pension schemes Two of
these, Airways Pension Scheme (APS) and New Airways
Pension Scheme (NAPS), are defined benefit schemes and
are closed to new members The third scheme, the British
Alrways Rettrement Plan (BARP), has been available to new
Joners since 1 Apnl 2003 and 15 a defined contrnibution
scheme Willie Walsh 1s a member of BARP and receves

a contribution of 12 per cent of salary Keith Willlams 1s

a member of both NAPS and an unfunded unapproved
retirement scheme Provision for payment of a surviving
dependant’s pension on death and lump sum payments

for death in service 1s also made Only base salary I1s
pensionable The Company operates a SmartPension
arrangement, which allows individuals to make their pension
contrbutions In a more tax-efficient way Further details

of pension provisions are set out on page 61

Non-executive Directors

Pohcy

The Company's policy is that the Chairman's fee, which is set
by the Remuneration Committee, should be 1n line with the
market rate reflecung his time commitment to the Group
For Non-executive Directors, the Company’s policy 1s that
their remuneration, which 1s set by the Executive Directors
on the recommendation of the Chairman, should be
sufficient to attract and retain Non-executive Birectors of
the highest calibre The Chairman and the Non-executive
Directors do not receive performance-related pay and therr
fees are not pensionable They are, however, eligible for
non-contractual travel concessions

Chairman’s and Non-executive Directors’ fees

The Chairman’s fee was set at £350,000 in July 2007, taking
nto account the level of fees payable in similar companies
and recognising his above average time commitment

For the year in question, the Non-executive Directors’

fees (which were fixed in October 2006 and reviewed but
unchanged in October 2008) were £40,000 per annum, with
the chairmen of the Audit, Remuneration and Safety Review
Commuttees and the Senior Independent Non-executive
Director each receiving £10,000 per annum m addition to
these fees No other fees are paid for attendance at Board
Committees Consistent with the Executive Directors, the

Chairman and the Non-executive Directors chose not o
recelve their fees for the month of July 2009

Service agreements
The dates of the Chairman’s and Non-executive Directors'
appointments are as follows

Date of Date of election/ Expiry
Non-executive appointment last re-efection date
-]

Martin Broughton 12 May 2000 14 July 2009 2012
Maarten van

den Bergh 16 July 2002 15 july 2008 2011
Baroness Kingsmill 1 November 2004 15 July 2008 2011
Jim Lawrence 1 November 2006 17 July 2007 2010

Chumpol

Nalamieng*® 1 November 2005 18 July 2006 2009
Dr Martin Read* 12 May 2000 18 July 2006 2009
Alison Reed 1 December 2003 17 july 2007 2010

Rafael Sanchez-

Lozane Turmo 11 December 2009 13 July 2010 2010
Ken Smart 19 July 2005 15 July 2008 2011
Baroness Symons 19 July 2005 15 )July 2008 2011

* Retired from the Board 14 July 2009

Except where appointed at a general meeting, Directors
stand for election by sharehotders at the first Annual General
Meeting following appointment, and stand for re-election
every three years thereafter, under Article 94 Esther party
can terminate on one month's written notice Neither the
Chairman nor any of the Non-executive Directors has any
right to compensaticn on the early termination of their
appointment Copies of the letters of engagement for the
Chairman and the Non-executive Directors are available

for inspection on the Company's investor relations website

Performance graph

The graph shows the TSR (with dividends reinvested
where applicable) for each of the last five financial years

of a holding of the Company's shares agamnst a hypothetical
holding of shares in the FTSE 100

The FTSE 100 was selected because 1t 1s a broad equity
index of which the Company 1s a constituent
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Information subject to audit

Directors’ remuneration

Excluding

Performance-related banuses the veluntary

reduction, the
Base salary Taxable Value of Tota! total would Tota!
and fees benefits* Cash  deferred shares 2009/10 have been 2008/09
000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000

|
Executive Directors

Willie Walsh 674 16 334 1,024 1,085 743
Keith Wilhams 403 12 167 582 619 446
Non-executive Directors

Martin Broughton 321 30 351 380 381
Maarten van den Bergh 46 46 50 50
Baroness Kingsmill 37 1 38 41 41
Jim Lawrence 43 4 47 51 42
Chumpol NaLamheng** 11 11 " 43
Dr Martin Read** 14 14 14 51
Alison Reed 46 1 47 51 50
Rafael Sanchez-Lozano Turmo*** 12 12 12

Ken Smart 46 46 50 50
Baroness Symons 37 37 40 40
Aggregate emoluments 1,690 64 501 2,255 2,404 1,937

All Directors chose not to receive base salary/fees for the month of July 2009
*  Taxabie benefits include a company car fuel, prvate health insurance and persanal travel
** Retired from the Board on 14 July 2009

*** Joned the Board on 1 | December 2009 his fee 13 payable to Ibenza

The pension entilements of the Executive Directors were

Transfer value*

Increase before of increase
Accumulated Increase in inflatign I before nflanon
accrued benefits  accrued benefits  accrued benefits less Diractor’s

31 March 2010 dunngtheyear  during the year contrbutions
[3 E £ 2

Keith Williams 105,950 8,495 8,495 109,053

The transfer value* of each Director's accrued benefits at the end of the financial year is as follows

Durector’s Movement

contnbutions less Director’s
31 March 2010 31 March 2009  dunng the year contnbutions*
£ E £ E

Keith Willams 1,771,254  1,498241 36,429 236,584

* Transfer value represents a latxlity of the Company not a sum paid or due to the indmidual It 1s calculated in accordance with The Occupatonal Pension Schemes Transfer
Value Regulations (1996) as subsequently amended

Keith Wilhams 1s a member of both the New Airways Pension Scheme (NAPS) and an enfunded unapproved retirement
scheme, which, under the terms of his service contract, will provide a total retirement benefit at age 60 equivalent to 1/56th
of pensionable pay for each year of service up to 31 March 2007 For service after 1 Apnl 2007, he 1s entitled to 1/60th

of pensionable pay for each year of serice, payable at age 65 In line with other NAPS members, Keith Williams 1s entitled
to buy back to 1/56th payable at age 60 should he so elect.

Willie Walsh 1s a member of BARP, a defined contnbution scheme and the Company paid contrbutions during the year
of £92,242 (2009 £90,678)

Both Wilhe Waish and Keith Wilhams participate in the SmartPension arrangement, the effects of which have not been
taken into account when reporting ther base salaries and pension benefits above
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Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

Directors’ beneficial interests in shares

Bntish Airways Plc
ordinary shares
31 March 2010 t Apnal 2009
PE———
Current Board members
Martin Broughton 65,090 69,090
Willie Walsh 150,078 121,734
Keith Williams 33,016 15,693
Maarten van den Bergh 2,000 2,000
Baroness Kingsmull 2,000 2,000
Alison Reed 10,000 10,000
Rafzel Sachez-Lozane Turmo
Ken Smart 2,000 2,000
Baroness Symons
Total 268,184 222,517
British Airways Plc
Amencan Depositary Shares*
31 March 2010 1 Apnil 2009
- R
Jim Lawrence 1,000 1,000
* Each Amencan Deposiary Share 15 equivalent to 10 ordinary shares.
Batish Aurways Plc
Convertible Bonds due 2014
31 March 2010 t April 2009
- -}
Martin Broughton 2 N/A
Bntish Airways Plc
ordinary shares
Board members who retired dunng the year 14 puly 2009* i April 2009
. L
Chumpol NaLamheng 20,000 20,000
Dr Martin Read 8,000 8,000
Total 28,000 28,000

* Date of retrement.

There have been no changes to the shareholdings set out above between 31 March 2010 and the date of this report.

No Director has any beneficial interest in any subsidiary undertaking of the Company

Directors' share options

The following Directors held options to purchase ordinary shares in the Company granted under the Bntish Airways Share
Option Plan 1999 The Plan was closed after the final grant in 2005/06 The Plan provided for the grant of options to acquire
ordinary shares in the Company or the Company’s Amencan Depositary Shares at an option price not less than the market
value of the shares on the date of grant. No payment was due upon the initial grant of options

Briish Atrways Share Option Plan 1999

Number of Optons Options Options Number of
options as exercised lapsed granzed options as
at | Apnl  Exercise during during dunng at 31 March

Date of grant 2009 price the year the year the year Exercisable from Expiry date 2010

R e A

Keith Wilhams 26 Aug 1999 30456 394p 30,456 26 Aug 2002 26 Aug 2009 Nil
28 June 2000 26,315 380p 28 June 2003 28 )une 2010 26,315

26 June 2001 38,940 321p 26 June 2004 26June 2011 38,940

1july2002 97,160 181p 1 July 2005 1)uly 2012 91,160

25)une 2003 114,649 157p 25 )une 2006 25)une 2013 114,649

25)une 2004 72,480 262p 25)une 2007 25}une 2014 72,480

23 June 2005 69,927 276p 23Jjune 2008 23 June 2015 65,927

Total 443,927 30,456 413,471

The performance conditions in relation to all the options listed in the table have been satisfied, therefore all options have

vested accordingly
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Directors' conditional awards
The following Directors held conditional awards over ordinary shares of the Company granted under the British Airways Long
Term Incentive Plan 1996 (LTIP) and the PSP The LTIP operated from 1996 to 2004 and was replaced by the PSP in 2005

Number of Awards Opuons Awards Awards Number of

gwards as vesting exarcised lapsing made awards as

at 1 Apnl dunng during dunng dunng  at 31 March

Plan Date of award 2009 the year the year the year the year 2010
]
Wille Walsh* PSP 24 November 2006 185,950 185,950 Nil
PSP 9 August 2007 254,854 254,854

PSP 19 August 2008 430,664 430,664

Total 871,468 185,950 685,618
Keith Willams LTIP 9June 2003 46,631 45,631
LTIP 16 June 2004 22,141 22,141

PSP 24 November 2006 77,479 77,479 Nil

PSP 9 August 2007 125,910 125,910

PSP 19 August 2008 257,813 257,813

PSP 19 March 2010 325,123 325,123

Total 529,974 77,479 325,123 777618

¢ In light of the Company's circumstances at the ume Wille Walsh felt it appropreate to deckne his 2009 PSP award whech would have been made on 19 March 2010

The vested LTIP awards disclosed above were subject to a performance condition that the Company's TSR performance
relative to the consutuents of the FTSE 100 was medtan or above Upon vesting of the LTIP awards, the Remuneration
Commuttee having considered in both cases that underlying financial performance was satisfactory, participants were granted
ni-cost options In accordance with the rules of the scheme Options are exercisable for seven years from the date of vesting
of the relevant LTIP award No paymentis due upon the exercise of these options

PSP awards are subject to the performance conditions outined earher in this report on page 58 [n each case, the
performance conditions will be measured over a single three year performance penod, which begins on 1 Aprnil prior to the
award date For the awards granted in 2006, 2007 and 2008, 50 per cent of the award was subject to TSR performance
measured aganst a group of aifines, and 50 per cent was subject to average operating margn performance For awards
granted in 2009/10, 100 per cent of the award was based on TSR performance, with a financial underpin Awards generally
vest on the third anniversary of the award date

The award granted in 2006 was tested at the end of 2008/09 As a result, none of the shares vested as neither the TSR
nor the operating margin performance conditions were met The award therefore lapsed on 7 May 2009

The award granted in 2007 was tested at the end of 2009/10 As a result, none of the shares will vest as neither the TSR
nor the operating margin performance conditions were met. The award therefore lapsed on 7 May 2010

The value attributed to the Company's ordinary shares in accordance with the plan rules an the date of the 2009 PSP award
(19 March 2010) was 203 pence {2008 256 pence, 2007 412 pence, 2006 484 pence)
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Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

Deferred Share Plan
The following Directors held condittonal awards over ordinary shares of the Company granted under the DSP

Number of Awards Awards Awards Number of

Relates to banus gwards a5 released lapsing made awards as

earned In respect or i Aprif during dunng dunng at 31 March

of perfermance n Date of award 2009 the year Date of vesting the year the year 2010

- — ]
Willie Walsh 2005/06 24 November 2006 27,800 27,800 30)une 2009 Nil
Keith Williams 2005/06 24 November 2006 16,991 16,991  30)une 2009 Nil
2007/08 19 August 2008 26,100 30 June 2011 26,100

The value attributed to the Company's crdinary shares in accordance with the plan rules on the date of the 2006 DSP award
(24 November 2006) was 484 pence The share price on the date of vesung of this award {30 June 2009) was 124 pence
The money value of the shares received was the share pnice on the date of vesting multiplied by the number of shares in
respect of which the awards vested, as shown in the table above In addition, both Willie Walsh and Keith Williams received
addinonal shares of 544 and 332 respectively in relauon to the dividend equivalent due

Share scheme dilution limits

The Company follows the guidelines laid down by the Association of British Insurers (ABI) These restrict the 1ssue of new
shares under all the Company’s share schemes in any 10 year period to 10 per cent of the issued ordinary share capuital and
restrict the issues under the Company's discretionary schemes to 5 per cent in any 10 vear penod As at 31 March 2010,

the headroom available for the all-employee share schemes was 5 31 per cent and O 34 per cent for the discretionary
schemes Whereas it had been the Company’s intention to use newly 1ssued shares for the SOP and the PSP and market
purchased shares for the LTIP and the DSP, it has been agreed with Iberia as a term of the merger agreement that only market
purchased shares will be used to satisfy future awards

The highest and lowest prices of the Company's shares during 2009/10 and the share pnice at 31 March 2010
(and pnor year comparatives) were

2010 2009
L N |

At 31 March 24300 140 80
Highest in the year 25390 282 50
Lowest n the year 118 00 109 90

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

James Afl.awrenle Non-executive Director and Chairman of the Remuneration Commuttee




Responsibility statements

Directors' statement as to disclosure of information

to the auditor

The Directors who are members of the Board at the tme

of approving the Directors’ report and business review are
listed on page 44 Having made enquines of fellow Directors
and of the Company’s auditor, each of these Directors
confirms that.

* To the best of each Director’s knowledge and belief there
1s no information relevant to the preparation of the
auditor’s report of which the Company's auditor 1s unaware,
and

» Each Director has taken all the steps a Director might
reasonably be expected to have taken to make him or
herself aware of relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company's auditor is aware of that information

This confirmation 1s given and should be interpreted in
accordance with the provisions of Section 418(2) of the
Compartes Act 2006

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in relation

to the financial statements

The Directors as isted on page 44 are responsible for
preparing the annual report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable LK law and those International
Financial Reporting Standards {(IFRS) as adopted by the EU

The Directors are required to prepare financial statements
for each financial year, which present fairly the financial
position of the Company and of the Group and the financial
performance and cash flows of the Company and of the
Group for that period In preparing those financiat
statements, the Directors are required to

» Select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently,

Present information, including accounting policies, in
a manner that provides relevant, rehable, comparable
and understandable information,

Provide addstional disclosures when compliance with

the specific requirements in IFRS 1s insufficient to enable
users to understand the impact of particular transactions,
other events and conditions on the entity’s financial
position and financial performance, and

State that the Group has complied with IFRS, subject to
any matenal departures disclosed and explaned in the
financial statements

British Awrways 2009710 Annual Report and Accounts

The Directors as listed on page 44 are responsible for
keeping proper accounting records which disclose, with
reasonable accuracy at any tme, the financial position of
the Company and of the Group and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply with the Comparmes
Act 2006 and Artucle 4 of the IAS Regulation They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregulanties in addition, the
Directors are responsible for the mantenance and ntegnty
of the corporate and financial nformauon included in the
Company's website Legislation in the UK governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legislauon in other jurisdictions

Directors’ responsibility statement pursuant to DTR 4
The Drrectors listed on page 44 confirm that, to the best
of each person's knowledge

¢ The Group and Company financial statements in this
report, which have been prepared 1n accordance with IFRS
as adopted by the ELJ, IFRIC interpretation and those parts
of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies
reporting under IFRS, give a true and fair view of the
assets, habilities, financial position and {loss)/profit of the
Company and of the Group taken as a whole, and

* The management report contained in this report includes
a fair review of the development and performance of the
business and the poasition of the Company and the Group
taken as 2 whole, together with a description of the
principal nsks and uncertaintes that they face

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

Avefe ~

Alan Buchanan Company Secretary
20 May 2010
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Independent auditor's report
to the members of British Airways Plc

We have audited the financial statements of British Atrways
Plc for the year ended 31 March 2010 which compnse the
Group consolidated income statement, the Group statement
of other comprehensive income, the Group and Parent
Company balance sheets, the Group and Parent Company
cash flow statements, the Group and Parent Company
statements of changes in equity and the related notes 1 to
38 The financial reporting framework that has been applied
in their preparation 1s apphcable law and International
Financial Reporung Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
European Union and, as regards the Parent Company
financial statements, as applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006

This report is made solely to the Company's members,

as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006 Qur audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the Company's members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the Company and the Company's
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report,

or for the opinicns we have formed

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibiliies
staterments set out on page 65, the Directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair vew Our responsibility
15 to audit the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and international Standards on Auditing

(UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply

with the Auditing Practices Board's (APB’s) Ethucal Standards
for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts
and disclosures n the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
error This includes an assessment of whether the
accounting policies are appropnate to the Group’s and the
Parent Company's aircumstances and have been consistently
apphed and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of
significant accounting esttmates made by the Directors,
and the overall presentation of the financial statements

Opinion on financial statements
In our ocpimion

* The financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company's affairs
as at 31 March 2010 and of the Group's loss for the year
then ended,

+ The Group financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the
European Umon,

* The Parent Company financial statements have been
praperly prepared in accardance with IFRS as adopted
by the Eurcpean Union and as applied in accordance
with the provisions of the Compames Act 2006, and

* The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Compames Act
2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements,
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

Opmnion on other matters prescribed by the Compames
Act 2006
In our opimion

* The part of the Directors' remuneration report to be
audited has been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Ac¢t 2006, and

* The information given in the Directors’ report for the
financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared 15 consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report
to you If, in our opinion

* Adequate accounting records have not been kept by the
Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been recewved from branches not visited by us, or

* The Parent Company financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited are not
in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or

= Certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified
by law are not made, or

* We have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review

* The Directors' statement, set out on pages 19 and 20,
In refation to going concern, and

+ The part of the corporate governance statement relatung
to the Company’s comphance with the nine provisions of
the June 2008 Combined Code specified for our review

6««@5\/ Lo

Ernst & YoungLLP

Richard Wilson {Senior statutory auditor)

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory auditor
London

20 May 2010
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Financial
statements

PUNCTUALITY
AND
PERFORMANCE

Despite ferocious trading conditions,
we achieved new record highs in our
operating performance durning the year
From Termunals 3 and 5 at Heathrow,
to Gatwick, London City Airport and
elsewhere, we've seen our punctuality
scores rise above the high levels
achieved the year before It's essential
we maintain this fantastic progress

as recovery takes hold
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Group consolidated income statement

For the year ended 31 March 2010

Group
£ milion Nate 2010 2009
Traffic revenue
Passenger 6,980 7,836
Cargo 550 673
7,530 8,509
Cther revenue 464 483
Revenue 3 7,994 8,992
Employee costs 7 1,998 2,193
Restructuring 4 85 78
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 4 732 694
Aurcraft operaung lease costs 69 73
Fuel and oil costs 2,372 2,969
Engineenng and other arrcraft costs 505 510
Landing fees and en-route charges 608 603
Handhng charges, catenng and other operatng costs 997 1,021
Selling costs 290 369
Currency differences (2) 17
Accommodation, ground equipment and IT costs 5N 585
Total expenditure on operations 8,225 9212
Operating loss 4 (231) (220)
Fuel derwative gamns/(losses) 15 {18)

Finance costs {157) {182}
Finance income 20 g5

8

8

Net financing expense relating to pensions 8 (116) (17)

Retranslation charges on currency borrowings 8 (14} (59)
9

(Loss)/profit on sale of property, plant and equipment and nvestments (16) 8
Share of post-tax (losses)/profits in associates accounted for using the equity method 19 (32) 4
Net charge relating to avallable-for-sale financial assets 10 {12}
Loss before tax (531) {401)
Tax n 106 43

Loss after tax (425) {358)
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Statement of other comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 March 2010

Group

£ milhon 2010 2009
Net foss for the year (425) {358)
Other comprehensive income

Exchange (losses)/gains (18) 38

Net gains/{losses) on cash flow hedges 537 (988}

Share of other movements in reserves of associates 34 {26}

Net gain on available-for-sale financial assets 17

Avallable-for-sale assets — realisation of fair value gains 4

Held-to-maturity investments marked-to-market S (5)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (net of tax) 200 (1,343)
Attributable to
Equity holders of the parent 182 {1,360)
Non-controlling interest 18 i7

200 {1,343)
Group
Nate 2010 2009

. _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ |
Earnings/(loss) per share

Basic 12 (385p (326)p

Diluted 12 (385)p (326)p
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Balance sheets

At 31 March 2010

Gmoup Company
£ million Note 2010 2009 2010 2009
I . -
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Fleet 14 5,739 5,996 5,523 5805
Property 14 920 971 871 920
Equipment 14 245 266 239 258
6,904 7,233 6,633 6,983
Intangibles
Goodwill 17 40 40
Landing nghts 17 202 205 163 163
Software 17 27 22 27 22
269 267 190 185
Investments i subsidianes 19 2,368 2,356
Investments 1n associates 19 197 209
Avallable-for-sale financial assets 20 76 65 21 27
Employee benefit assets 35 483 340 483 340
Dernvative financial instruments 3 27 3 27 3
Prepayments and accrued income 17 25 93 9
Total non-current assets 7,973 8,142 9,815 9,903
Non-current assets held for sale 15 30 - 25 -
Current assets and receivables
Inventories 21 98 127 97 125
Trade receivables 2 499 530 486 517
Other current assets bx) 289 268 376 382
Dervative financial instruments 3 74 40 74 40
Other current interest-bearing deposits 24 928 979 908 43
Cash and cash equivalents 24 786 402 756 219
1,714 1,381 1,664 262
Total current assets and receivables 2,674 2,346 2,697 1,326
Total assets 10,677 10,488 12,537 11,229
Shareholders' equity
Issued share capial 2 288 288 288 288
Share premium 937 937 937 937
Investment in own shares (€3] % 4 {9
Other reserves 34 692 430 273 10
Total shareholders’ equity 1,913 1,646 1,494 1,226
Non-controlling interests 34 200 200
Total equity 2,113 1,846 1,494 1,226
Non-current habihties
Interest-bearing long-term borrowings 7 3,446 3,074 3,698 3,333
Employee benefit obhgations 3 208 191 200 182
Provisions for deferred tax " 774 652 720 592
Other provisions 29 159 256 141 215
Dervative financial instruments 31 5 123 5 123
Other long-term liabilities 2 232 204 194 169
Total non-current abilities 4,824 4,500 4,958 4,614
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term borrowings n 556 689 554 689
Trade and other payables 5 2,910 2,796 5,256 4,045
Dervauve financial instruments kY 12 471 13 471
Current tax payable 2 4 5 4
Short-term provisions 2] 260 182 257 180
Total current habilities 3,740 4,142 6,085 5,389
Total equity and habilities \ 10,677 10,488 12,537 11,229

Willie Walsh
Keith Wilhams
20 May 2010
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Cash flow statements

For the year ended 31 March 2010

Group Company
Emillion Note 2010 2009 2010 2009
Cash flow from operating actvities
Operating loss (231) (220) (202) {165)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 732 694 709 670
Operating cash flow before working capital changes 501 474 507 505
Movement 1n inventories, trade and other recevables (181) 32 {(242) (28}
Movement In trade and other payables and provisions 241 {132} 1,289 {128}
Payments in respect of restructuring (81) {64) (81} (62)
Payments in settlement of competition investigation (19 {4} (19) {4
Other non-cash movement { 7
Cash generated from operations 461 307 1,454 290
Interest pad (136) (177) {125) {163}
Taxation 6 3 4 26
Net cash generated from operating activities EX Y 133 1,325 153
Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 14 (492) (547} (391) {528)
Purchase of iIntangible assets 17 (13) {24) (13) (24)
Proceeds from sale of other investments 7 7
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 102 5 60 10
Insurance recoveries for write-off of Beeing 777 aircraft 12 12
Purchase of subsidiary {net of cash acquired) %) (34} 9 {144)
Proceeds received from loan notes 7 7
Interest received 17 105 8 53
Dividends received 17 6 6
Decrease/(increase) in other current interest-bearing deposits 51 202 (865) 356
Net cash used in investing activities (337) {257) (1,197) (252}
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 1,053 377 1,053 377
Proceeds from equity portion of convertible bond 84 84
Repayments of borrowings (160) (66) (143) (55)
Payment of finance lease hiabilities (609) {402} (616) {411)
Exercise of share options ! {
Dmidends paid {58) {58)
Distnbutions made to holders of perpetual secunues (18) {17)
Net cash flow from financing activities 350 {165} 373 {146}
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 344 {289} 501 (245}
Net foreign exchange differences 40 8 36 31
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 402 683 219 433
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 24 786 402 756 219
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Statements of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 March 2010

Group
Investmant Qther Total Non-

Issued Share " own reserves shareholders’  controling Fotal
£ millon capital premium shares {nate 34) equity nterests equity
At 1 April 2009 288 937 (9} 430 1,646 200 1,846
Total comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) 182 182 18 200
Equity portion of convertible bond* 84 34 84
Cost of share-based payment 1 1 1
Exercise of share options 5 (5)

Distributions made to holders of perpetual secunties (18) (18)
At 31 March 2010 288 937 (4) 692 1,913 200 2113
*  After deduction of transaction costs of E2 millian
For the year ended 31 March 2009
Group
Javestment Other Toral Non-

Issued Share nown reserves  shareholders controlfing Tonad
£ million copiral premium shares {note 34} equity nterests equity
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________]
At 1 Aprl 2008 288 937 {19 1,818 3,033 200 3,233

Adoption of IFRIC 13 {206) (206) {206}
Adopuion of IFRIC 14 235 235 235
At 1 April 2008 (restated) 288 937 (1o} 1,847 3,062 200 3,262
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year
(net of tax) (1,360) (1,360} 17 {1,343)
Cost of share-based payment ! { !
Exercise of share options 2 2)
Purchase of own shares (1) (1) (1)
Net dividends {56) (56) {56)
Distributions made to holders of perpetual secunties (7 (17}
At 31 March 2005 288 937 {9) 430 1,646 200 1,846
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Statements of changes in equity continued

For the year ended 31 March 2010

Company
Investment Other
Issued Share in own resenves Total
£ million capstal premium shares (nate 34) equity
At 1 Apnl 2009 288 937 (9) 10 1,226
Total comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) 179 179
Exercise of share options 5 n 4
Cost of share-based payment L 1
Equity portion of convertible bond* 34 84
At 31 March 2010 288 937 C)) 273 1,494
*  After deduction of transaction costs of E2 milion
For the year ended 31 March 2009
Company
Investment Other
fssued Share i awn reserves Toto!
£ milbon capstal premium shares {note 34} equity
At 1 Apnl 2008 288 937 {10 1,344 2,559
Adoption of IFRIC 13 {135) {135)
Adoption of IFRIC 14 235 235
At 1 April 2008 (restated) 288 937 {10 1,444 2,659
Total comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) {1,377}  (1,377)
Exercise of share options 2 {2)
Cost of share-based payment i 1
Purchase of own shares (1) (1}
Net dividends {56) {56}
At 31 March 2009 288 937 {9} i0 1,226
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Notes to the accounts

1 Authorisation of financial statements
and compliance with IFRSs

The Group's and Company's financial statements for the year

ended 31 March 2010 were authorised for 1ssue by the

Board of Directors on 20 May 2010 and the balance sheets

were signed on the Board's behalf by Willie Walsh and Keith

Williams British Airways Pic 1s a public Iimited company

Incorporated and dormiciled in England and Wales The

Company's ordinary shares are traded on the Landon

Stock Exchange

The Group has prepared its consohidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs)* as adopted by the EU IFRSs
as adopted by the EU differ in certain respects from IFRSs
as 1ssued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) However, the consohdated financial statements
for the penods presented would be no different had the
Group apphed IFRSs as 1ssued by the IASB References to
IFRS' hereafter should be construed as references to IFRSs
as adopted by the EU The principal accounting policies
adopted by the Group and by the Company are set out

n note 2

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption
provided under Section 408 of the Companes Act 2006 not
to publish its individual mcome statement and related notes

* For the purposes of these statements 1FRS also includes Intermational Accounung
Standards (IAS)

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies

Basis of preparation

The basis of preparation and accounting policies set out in
this Report and Accounts have been prepared n accordance
with the recoegniion and measurement ¢niteria of IFRS, which
also include |1ASs, as 1ssued by the |IASB and with those

of the Standing Interpretations issued by the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Commuittee (IFRIC) of

the |1ASB

The financial statements for the prior perniod include
reclassifications that were made to conform to the current
period presentation The amendments have no matenal
impact on the financial statements

These financial statements have been prepared on a
historical cost caonvention except for certan financial assets
and habilites, including dervative finanaial instruments and
available-for-sale financial assets that are measured at fair
value The carrying value of recognised assets and habhues
that are subject to farr value hedges are adjusted to record
changes in the fair values attributable to the nsks that are
being hedged

The Group’s and Company's financial statements are
presented in pounds sterling and all values are rounded
to the nearest million pounds (£ millien), except where
indicated otherwise

Basis of consolidation

The Group accounts include the accounts of the Company
and its subsidianes, each made up to 31 March, together
with the attributable share of results and reserves of associates,
adjusted where appropriate to conform with the Group's
accounting policres

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group Control
exists when the Group has the power either directly or
indirectly to govern the financial and operaung policies of the
entity so as to obtain benefit from its activiies Subsidiaries
are consclidated from the date of their acquisition, which s
the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consaolidated untl the date that such control ceases

Allintra-group account balances, including intra-group
profits, have been eliminated in prepanng the consolidated
financial statements Minority interests represent the portion
of profit or loss and net assets in subsidianies that are not
held by the Group and are presented separately within
equity in the consolidated balance sheet

Revenue

Passenger and cargo revenue is recognised when the
transportation service 1s provided Passenger tickets net of
discounts are recorded as current liabilities in the ‘sales in
advance of carmage’ account until recognised as revenue
Unused tickets are recognised as revenue using estimates
regarding the timing of recognition based on the terms and
conditions of the ticket and histoncal trends

Other revenue Is recognised at the time the service is
provided Commission costs are recognised at the same
time as the revenue to which they relate and are charged
to operating expenditure

Revenue recognition — Mileage programmes

The Group operates two principal loyalty programmes

The arhine’s frequent fiyer programme operates through

the airline’s "Executive Club’ and allows frequent travellers to
accumulate 'BA Miles’ mileage credits that entitle them to a
choice of various awards, pnmarily free travel The fair value
attributed to the awarded mileage credits 1s deferred as a
hability and recognised as revenue on redemption of the
miles by the participants to whom the miles are 1ssued

The accounting policy for mileage revenue recognition was
amended dunng the pnor year in line with the adoption of
IFRIC 13, "Custoemner loyalty programmes’ The net impact of
the change in accounting policy was a decrease in opening
shareholders’ equity at 1 April 2008 of £206 million

In addiuon, ‘BA Miles” are sold to commercial partners to
use in promotional actmty The farr value of the mites sold
15 deferred and recognised as revenue on redemption of
the mules by the partcipants to whom the miles are ssued
The cost of the redemption of the miles is recogmised when
the miles are redeemed




The Group also cperates the AIRMILES scheme, cperated
by the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary The Mileage
Company The scheme allows companies to purchase miles
for use in ther own promotional activities Miles can be
redeemed for a range of benefits, including flights on British
Airways and other carners The fair value of the miles sold
15 deferred and recogrised as revenue on redemption of
the miles by the participants to whom the miles are 1ssued
The cost of providing redemption services 15 recognised
when the miles are redeemed

Segmental reporting

Operating segments are reported In a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker The chief operating decision-maker,

who 15 responsible for resource allocation and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the Management Board as detailed on page 45 The
nature of the operating segments 1s set out in note 3

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are held at cost and are either amortised
on a straight-line basis over therr economig hfe, or they are
deemed to have an indefinite economuc ife and are not
amortised, but tested annually for imparment

a Goodwill

Where the cost of a business combination exceeds the far
value attributable to the net assets acquired, the resulting
goodwill 1s capitahised and tested for imparrment annually
and whenever indicators exist that the carrying value may
not be recaverable Any goodwill ansing on the acquisition
of equity accounted entises 1s included within the cost of
those entities

Goodwill 1s allocated to cash-generating units for the
purpose of Imparrment testing

b Landing nghts

Landing nghts acquired from other airlines are capitalised at
cost or at fair value, less any accumutated impairment losses
Capitalised landing rights based outside the EU are amortised
on a straight-line basis over 3 period not exceeding 20 years
in October 2008 the Group revised the economic life for
landing nghts acquired within the EU to that of an indefinite
economic life, due to regulation changes in the EU regarding
the ability to trade landing nghts Had the Group not revised
the economic life for landing nghts, the amortisation charge
for the prior year would have been £5 million greater than 15
currently reported Landing rights with indefinite economic
hives are reviewed annually for impairment

¢ Software

The cost of purchase or development of computer software
that is separable from an item of related hardware 1s
capitalised separately and amortised over a period not
exceeding four years on a straight-line basis
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The carrying value of intangibles 1s reviewed for impairment
if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
value may not be recoverable

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is held at cost The Group

has a policy of not revaluing property, plant and equipment.
Depreciation 1s calculated to write off the cost less estimated
residual value on a straight-line basis, over the economic life
of the asset Residual values, where apphcable, are reviewed
annually against prevailling market values for equivalently
aged assets and depreciation rates adjusted accordingly on

a prospective basis

The carrying value 15 reviewed for impairment when events
or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may
not be recoverable and the cumulative impairment losses are
shown as a reduction in the carrying value of property, plant
and equipment

a Capitaisation of interest on progress payments

Interest attnbuted to progress payments, and related
exchange movements on foreign currency amounts, made
on account of arcraft and other significant assets under
construction is capitalised and added to the cost of the
asset concerned

b Fleet

All aircraft are stated at the far value of the consideration
given after taking account of manufacturers’ credits Fleet
assets owned, or hetd on finance lease or hire purchase
arrangements, are depreciated at rates calculated to write
down the cost to the estimated residual value at the end
of therr planned operational lives on a straight-line basis

Cabin interior maedifications, including those required for
brand changes and relaunches, are depreciated over the
lower of five years and the remaining hfe of the aircraft

Aurcraft and engine spares acquired on the introduction

or expansion of a fleet, as well as rotable spares purchased
separately, are carned as property, plant and equipment
and generally depreciated in line with the fleet to which
they relate

Major overhaul expenditure, including replacement spares
and labour costs, 1s capitalised and amortised over the
average expected life between major overhauls All other
replacement spares and other costs relating to maintenance
of fleet assets (including mamtenance provided under ‘pay-
as-you-go’' comtracts) are charged to the income statement
on consumption or as incurred respectively

¢ Property and equipment

Provision 1s made for the depreciation of all property and
equipment, apart from freehold land, based upen expected
useful lives, or in the case of leasehold properties over the
duration of the leases If shorter, on a straight-hne basis
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Notes to the accounts continued

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies continued

d Leased and hire purchase assets

Where assets are financed through finance leases or hire
purchase arrangements, under which substannally all the
risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the
Group, the assets are treated as If they had been purchased
outright The amount included in the cost of property, plant
and equipment represents the aggregate of the capital
elements payable during the lease or hire purchase term
The corresponding obhgation, reduced by the appropnate
proportion of lease or hire purchase payments made, is
included in borrowings

The amount included in the cost of property, plant and
equipment i1s depreciated on the basis described in the
preceding paragraphs and the interest element of lease or
hire purchase payments made (s included in interest payable
In the income statement

Total minimum payments, measured at inception, under all
other lease arrangements, known as operating leases, are
charged to the income statement in equal annual amounts
over the period of the lease In respect of awcraft, certain
operating lease arrangements allow the Group to terminate
the leases after a imited imtial period (normaily 10 years),
without further matenal financial obligations In certain cases
the Group 1s entitled to extend the imtal lease period on
predetermined terms, such leases are descnbed as
extendable operating leases

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale when therr
carrying value is to be recovered pnincipally through sale as
opposed to conunwing use The sale must be considered

to be highly probable and to be enacted within 12 months
Held for sale assets are carried at the lower of carrying value
and fair value less costs to sell

Inventones

Inventones, including arcraft expendables, are valued at
the lower of cost and net reahsable value Such costis
determined by the weighted average cost method

Interests in associates

An associate 1s an undertaking in which the Group has a
long-term equity interest and over which it has the power to
exercise significant influence The Group's interest in the net
assets of associates 1s included in Investment in associates n
the consolidated balance sheet and its interest in their results
15 included in the income statement, below operating profit
Certain associates make up their annual audited accounts to
dates other than 31 March In the case of Ibena, published
results up to the year ended 31 December are included In
other cases, results disclosed by subsequent unaudited
management accounts are included The attributable results
of those companies acquired or disposed of during the year
are included for the penods of ownership Refer to note 19
for detalls of investments in associates

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand and
deposits with any qualifying financial institution repayable
on demand or maturing within three months of the date
of acquisiion and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of change in value

Other current interest-beanng deposits

Other current interest-bearing deposits, principally
comprising funds held with banks and other financial
institutions, are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method Such financial assets are classified as held-
to-matunty when the Group has the positive intention and
ability to hold to matunity Gains and losses are recognised
in income when the deposits are derecognised or impaired,
as well as through the amoruisation process

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are stated at cost less allowances
made for doubtful recewvables, which approximates fair value
given the short dated nature of these assets A provision for
impairment of trade receivables {allowance for doubtful
recewvables) 15 established when there is objective evidence
that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the original terms of the recevable

Available-for-sale financial assets

Avatlable-for-sale financial assets are those non-dervative
financial assets that are not classified as loans and
recewvables After imtial recognition, available-for-sale
financial assets are measured at far value, with gains or
losses recognised as a separate component of equity until
the investment is derecognised or until the investment is
determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulatve
gamn or loss previously reported in equity 1s included in the
Income statement

The fair value of quoted investments is determmned by
reference to bid prices at the close of business on the
balance sheet date Where there s no active market, fair
value 1s determined using valuation techniques Where fair
value cannot be reliably estimated, assets are carmed at cost

Employee benefits

a Pension obligations

Employee benefits, Including pensions and other post-
retirement benefits (principally post-retirement healthcare
benefits) are presented in these financial statements in
accordance with IAS 18 ‘Employee Benefits' The Group

has both defined benefit and defined contnbution plans A
defined contribution plan s a pension plan under which the
Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contnbutions If the fund does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior periods A defined benefit plan s a
pension plan that is not a defined contnbution plan Typically
benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an




employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent
on one or more factors such as age, years of service and
compensation

During the prior year, the Group adopted IFRIC 14 'Lt
of a defined benefit asset, mimimum funding requirements
and their interaction’ and as a result, the asset or liability
recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit
pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit
abligaton at the balance sheet date, less the farr value of
plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised past
service costs Where plan assets exceed the defined benefit
obligation, an asset 15 recognised to the extent that an
economic benefit 1s avalable to the Group, in accordance
with the terms of the plan and applicable statutory
requirements The benefit should be realisable duning the

hfe of the plan or on the settlement of the plan habilities
The change in accounting policy as a result of the adoption
of IFRIC 14 resulted in an increase of £235 million o
openung shareholders’ equity at 1 Apnl 2008

Past service costs are recognised when the benefit has been
given The financing cost and expected return on plan assets
are recogmised within financing costs in the periods in which
they anise The accumulated effect of changes in esumates,
changes in assumptions and dewiations from actuanal
assumptons {(actuanal gains and losses} that are less than
10 per cent of the higher of pension benefit obligations and
pension plan assets at the beginning of the year are not
recorded When the accumulated effect 1s above 10 per cent
the excess amount is recognised on a straight-line basis m
the income statement over the estimated average remamning
service penod

b Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date,
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy

in exchange for these benefits The Group recognises
terminauon benefits when it 1s demonstrably commutted to
either terminating the employment of current employees
according to a detalled formal plan without possibility of
withdrawal, or providing terminatien benefits as a result

of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy

Other employee benefits are recognised when there is
deemed to be a present obhigation

Share-based payments

The fair value of employee share option plans 1s measured at
the date of grant of the option using an appropnate valuation
model The resulung cost, as adjusted for the expected and
actual level of vesting of the options, is charged to income
over the period in which the options vest At each balance
sheet date before vesting, the cumulauve expense is
calculated, represenung the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and management's best estimate of

the achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions,

of the number of equity instruments that will ulumately vest.
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The movement n the cumulative expense since the previous
balance sheet date 15 recognised in the income statement
with a corresponding entry in equity

Taxation

Current tax assets and habilites are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted

or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

Deferred income tax s recognised on all temporary
differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and
habdities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements, with the following exceptions

» Where the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill ar of an asset or hability in a
transaction that is not 2 business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss,

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries or associates, where the
uming of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it 1s probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse Iin the foreseeable future, and

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it i1s probable that taxable profit will be available
aganst which the deducuble temporary differences, carned
forward tax credits or tax losses can be utilised

Deferred income tax assets and habilites are measured on
an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to
apply when the related asset is realised or liability 15 settled,
based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date

Income tax is charged or credited directly to equity If it
relates to itemns that are credited or charged to equity
Otherwise Income tax Is recogmsed in the income statement.

Provisions

Prowisions are made when an cbligation exsts for a future
liabihty in respect of a past event and where the amount

of the obligation can be rehably estimated Restructuring
provisions are made for direct expenditures of a business
reorganisation where the plans are sufficiently detalled and
well advanced and where apprepnate commumication to
those affected has been undertaken at the balance sheet
date If the effect s matenal, expected future cash flows are
discounted using a rate that reflects, where appropriate, the
nsks specific to the habihty Where discounting 1s used, the
increase in the provision due to unwinding the discount 1s
recognised as a finance cost
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Notes to the accounts continued

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies continued

Foreign currency translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in

the Group's functional currency, sterling, by applying the spot
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction Monetary
foreign currency balances are translated into sterling at

the rates ruling at the balance sheet date All other profits

or losses ansing on translation are dealt with through the
income statement except where hedge accounung 1s apphed

The net assets of foreign operations are translated into
sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet
date Profits and losses of such operations are transiated
into sterhng at average rates of exchange during the year
The resulung exchange differences are taken directly to a
separate component of equity unti all or part of the interest
15 sold, when the relevant portion of the cumulative
exchange is recognised 1n the income statement

Denvatives and financial instruments

In accordance with IAS 39 *Financial Instruments - Recognition
and Measurement’, financial instruments are recorded initially
at farr value Subsequent measurement of those instruments
at the balance sheet date reflects the designation of the
financial instrument The Group determines the classification
at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at each
year end except for those financial instruments measured at
fair value through the income statement

Other investments {other than interests 1n associates) are
designated as avalable-for-sale financial assets and are
recorded at fair value Any change n the fair value 1s
reported In equity untd the investment I1s sold, when the
cumulative amount recognised In equity 1s recogrused in the
income statement In the case of equity secunities classified
as avallable-for-sale investments, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below ts cost 1s
considered as an indicator that the secunty 1s impaired

If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial
assets, the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in
equity is included in the income statement

Exchange gains and losses on manetary items are taken to
the income statement unless the item has been designated
and 1s assessed as an effective hedging instrument in
accordance with the requirement of IAS 39 Exchange
gains and losses on non-monetary iInvestments are
reflected in equity unul the investment 1s sold when the
cumulative amount recognised in equity 1s recognised in
the income statement

Long-term borrowings are recorded at amortised cost
Certain leases contain interest rate swaps that are closely
related to the underlying financing and, as such, are not
accounted for as an embedded dervative

Derivative financial Instruments, comprising nterest rate
swap agreements, foreign exchange derivauves and fuel
hedging dervatives {including options, swaps and futures),
are measured at farr value on the Group balance sheet

Cash flow hedges

Changes in the far value of derivative financial instruments
are reported through the operating result for finance
income/cost according to the nature of the instrument,
unless the derwvative financial instrument has been
designated as a hedge of a highly probable expected future
cash flow Gans and losses on dernvative financial
mstruments designated as cash flow hedges and assessed
as effective for the period, are taken to equity in accordance
with the requirements of IAS 39 Gans and losses taken to
equity are reflected in the income statement when either
the hedged cash flow impacts income or its occurrence 1s
no longer expected to occur

Certain loan repayment nstalments denominated in US
dollars, euro and Japanese yen are designated as cash flow
hedges of highly probable future foreign currency revenues
Exchange differences ansing from the translation of these
loan repayment instalments are taken to equity In
accordance with IAS 39 requirements and subsequently
reflected in the income statement when either the future
revenue impacts INCOMe or Its occurrence 15 no longer
expected to occur

Impairment in financial assets
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether
a financial asset or group of financial assets 1s impaired

Investment m own shares

Shares in the Company held by the Group are classified as
‘Investments in own shares’ and shown as deductions from
shareholders' equity at cost. Consideration receved for the
sale of such shares 15 alsa recognised in equity, with any
difference between the proceeds from the sale and the
onginal cost baing taken to reserves

No gain or loss Is recognised In the income statement on
the purchase, sale, 1ssue or cancellaton of equity shares

Derecognition of financial assets and habilities

A finanaal asset or hability 1s generally derecognised when
the contract that gives nise to it has been settled, sold,
cancelled or has expired

Where an existing financial habihity 1s replaced by another
from the same lender on substantally different terms, or the
terms of an exisung hability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the onginal kability and the recogmtion of a new liability,
such that the difference in the respective carrying amounts
together with any costs or fees incurred are recognised in
the income statement.

Exceptional items

Excepuional items are those that in management’s view need
to be disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence Such
iterns are included on the income statement under a caption
to which they relate, and are separately disclosed in the
notes to the consohdated financial statements




Key accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management
to make judgements, esumates and assumpuons that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets
and labilities, income and expenses These esumates and
associated assumpuions are based on historical expenence
and vanous other factors believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances Actual results could differ from these
estimates These underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis Revisions 1o accounting estimates are
recognised in the period In which the esumate is revised

if the reviston affects only that period, or in the penod of
the revision and future periods If these are also affected
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a matenal adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and habilities within the next financial year are
discussed below

a Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at each reportng date
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite economic lives
are tasted for impairment annually and at other times when
such indicators exist The recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units have been determined based on value-in-
use calculations These calculations require the use of
estimates as disclosed in note 18

Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable

b Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions
with employees by reference to the farr value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted Esumating
fair value requires determining the most appropriate
valuation mode! for a grant of equity instruments, which

1s dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant

This also requires determining the most appropnate inputs
to the valuation model including the expected Iife of the
opuion and volathty and making assumptions about them
The assumpuions and models used are disclosed in note 33

¢ Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-
employment medical benefits i1s determined using actuanal
valuations The actuanal valuauon involves making
assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return
on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future
pension increases Due to the long-term nature of these
schemaes, such estimates are subject to significant
uncertainty and are disclosed in note 35

d Imparment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group classifies certain financial assets as available-
for-sale and recognises movements n their fair value

n shareholders' equity When the fair value declines,
management makes assumptions about the dechne In
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value to determine whether 1t 15 an impairment that should
be recogrised in the Income statement. Impairment losses
recognised in the iIncome statement are disclosed in note 10

e Passenger revenue recogmtion

Passenger revenue 1s recognised when the transportation 1s
provided Ticket sales that are not expected to be used for
transportation {‘unused tickets’) are recogrised as revenue
using estimates regarding the timing of recogrution based on
the terms and condibons of the ticket and histonical trends

During the pnor year, changes in estimates regarding the
timing of revenue recognition pnmanly for unused flexible
tickets were made, resulting n ncreased revenue in the prior
year of £109 milllon The change in estimate reflected more
accurate and timely data obtaned through the increased use
of electronic tickets

Impact of new International Financial Reporting Standards
The accounting pchicies adopted are conststent with those
of the previous financial year except as follows

IFRS 7 {Amendment), ‘Financial instruments — Disclosures’
{Amendment), effective for penods beginming on or after

1 January 2009 The amendment requires enhanced
disclosures about fair value measurement and liquichty nisk
In particular, the amendment requires disciosure of fair value
measurements by level of hierarchy, refer to note 31

IAS 1 (Revised), ‘Presentation of financial statements’,
effective for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
The revised standard prohibits the presentation of items of
tncome and expenses, that are not classified as transactions
with owners, in the statement of changes in equity 'Non-
owner changes in equity’ are to be presented separately
from owner changes in equity n a statement of other
comprehensive mcome, which will be produced in addition
to the income statement Comparative information has been
re-presented so that it conforms to the revised standard,
although the Group has chosen not to adopt the revised
names for the financial statements

IAS 1 (Amendment), 'Presentation of financial statements’,
effective for penods beginming on or after 1 January 2010
The amendment provides clanfication on the classification
between current and non-current abilities that can
potenually be settled through the 1ssue of equity The
amendment permits a hability te be classified as non-current
provided that the entity has an unconditional nght to defer
settlement by transfer of cash or other assets for at least
12 months after the accounung period, even though the
entity could be required by the counterparty to settle
through the 1ssue of shares at any ume

IFRS 2 (Amendment), ‘Share-based payments’, effective
for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 The
amendment clarifies that vesting conditions can be service
and performance condiuons only and that other features
of share-based payments are not vesting conditions The
amendment does not have a matenal impact on the Group
or Company's financial statements
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Notes to the accounts continued

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies continued

{1AS 39 (Amendment}, ‘Financial instruments Recogniion
and measurement’, effective for penods beginning on or
after 1 January 2009 The amendment clarifies that entiues
should no longer apply hedge accounung for transactions
between segments i their separate financial statements
The amendment does not have a matenal impact on the
Group or Company’s financial statements

IAS 28 {Amendment), ‘Investments In associates’, effective
for penods beginming on or after 1 January 2009 The
amendment requires an investment in an associate to be
treated as a single asset for the purposes of imparrment
testing and any imparment loss 1s not allocated to specific
assets included wathin the investment The amendment does
not have a matenal impact on the Group or Company's
financial statements

IAS 36 (Amendment), Impairment of assets’, effective

for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 The
amendment requires disclosures equivalent to those for
value-in-use calculations to be made where fair vatue less
costs to sell has been calculated on the basis of discounted
cash flows

IAS 38 (Amendment), 'Intangible assets', effective for penods
beginning on or after 1 January 2009 The amendment
requires expenditure on advertising and promotional activities
to be recognised as an expense as soon as the entity has the
‘nght to access' the goods or has received the services The
amendment does not have a material impact on the Group

or Company’s financial statements

IFRIC 18 "Transfers of assets from customaers', effective

for transactions occurring on or after t July 2009 The
interpretation provides guidance on accounting for property,
plant and equipment recerved from customers, or cash

that 1s received and used 1o acquire or construct specific
assets The amendment does not have a matenal impact

on the Group or Company’s financial statements

New standards, amendments and interpretations

not yet effective

The IASB and IFRIC 1ssued the following standards,
amendments and interpretations with an effective date after
the date of these financial statements which management
believe could impact the Group in future penods The Group
plan to adopt the following standards, interpretations and
amendrments from 1 April 2010, management have not

yet determined the potential effect of the amendments

IFRS 3 (Rewvised), ‘Business Combinauons’, effective for
penods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 The rewised
standard introduces changes to the accounting for business
combinations, including the expensing of acquisition costs
through the income statement as they are incurred and
permitting a choice, on an acquisiton-by-acquisition basis
to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree’s
net assets at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s

proportionate share of the net assets of the acquiree
Contingent considerations are required to be valued at the
date of acquisiuon, with all subsequent revaluations recorded
in the income statement,

IAS 27 (Revised), ‘Consolidated and separate financial
statements’, effective for penods beginning on or after 1 July
2009 The revised standard requires that all transactions with
non-controlling interests be recorded in equity, provided that
these transactions do not result in a change in control and
do not result in goodwill or gains and losses The amendment
provides additonal guidance on the accounting treatment
when control s lost

IAS 36 (Amendment), ‘Impairment of assets’, effective for
penods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 The amendment
clarfies that the largest cash-generating unit {or group of
units) to which goodwill can be allocated for the purposes

of impairment review, 15 an operating segment as defined

by IFRS 8 ‘Operating segments’

IAS 7 (Amendment), ‘Cash flow statements’, effective
for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 The
amendment requires that expenditures that result in the
recognition of an asset should be classified as investing
activittes 1n the cash flow statement,

IAS 39 (Amendment), ‘'Financial instruments Recognition
and measurement’, effective for periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2010 The amendment makes changes to the
scope exemption excluding contracts between an acquirer
and a vendor in 2 business combination to buy or sell an
acquiree at a future date The amendment adds additional
conditions for the exemption to apply

IAS 38 (Revised), ‘Intangible assets’, effective for periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2010 The amendment
clarfies guidance in measunng the fair value of anintangible
asset acquired in a business combination and allows the
grouping of assets into a single asset If each asset has a
simiar economic life

IAS 38 (Amendment), ‘Intangtble assets’, effective for
penods beginming on or after 1 January 2010 The
amendment provides additional guidance on the valuation
techniques to be used in measuring the fair vatue of
intangible assets acquired in business combinations that
are traded in active markets

IFRS 5 (Amendment), ‘Non-current assets held for sale

and discontinued operations’, effective for penods beginning
on or after 1 January 2010 The amendment provides
clanfication on disclosures required in respect of non-current
assets held for sale or discontinued operations, particularly
that the IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements’
requirements of *fair presentation’ and ‘sources of estimation
uncertainty’ stll apply in the case of non-current assets

held for sale

There are no other standards and Interpretations in 1ssue
but not yet adopted that the Directors anucipate will have
a matenal effect on the reported income or net assets of
the Group




British Airways 2009/10 Annual Report and Accounts

3 Segment information

a Business segments

The Group's network passenger and cargo operations are managed as a single business unit The Management Board makes
resource altocation decisions based on route profitability, which considers aircraft type and route economics, based prnimarily
by reference to passenger economics with imited reference 1o cargo demand The objective in making resource allocation
decisions 1s to optirmise consolidated financial results ‘While the operations of OpenSkies SASU {OpenSkies) and BA Cityflyer
Limited (CityFlyer) are considered to be separate cperating segments, thetr activities are considered to be sufficiently similar
In nature to aggregate the two segments and report them together with the network passenger and cargo operations
Therefore, based on the way the Greup treats the network passenger and cargo operations, and the manner in which
resource allocation decisions are made, the Group has only one reportable operating segment for financial reporting
purposes, reported as the ‘arfine business’

Financial results from other operating segments are below the quantitative threshold for determining reportable operating
segments and consist pnmardy of The Mileage Company Limited, British Airways Holidays Limited and Speedbird Insurance
Company Limsted

For the year ended 31 March 2010

Airhine All other

£ millicn business segments  Unallocated Total
L ___ ]
Revenue
Sales to external customers 7.802 192 7,994
Inter-segment sales 52 52
Segment revenue 7.854 192 8,046
Segment result (252) 21 {231)
Other non-operating income 15 15
(Loss)/profit befare tax and finance costs 237) 21 (216)
Net finance costs (96) (171) (267)
Loss on sale of assets (16) (16)
Share of associates’ losses (32) (32)
Tax 106 106
(Loss)/profit after tax (381) 21 (65) (425)
Assets and liabilities
Segment assets 10,364 116 10,480
Investment In associates 197 197
Total assets 10,561 116 10,677
Segment habilities 3,413 373 3,786
Unallocated habilities™ 4778 4,778
Total habilities 3,413 373 4778 8,564
Other segment information
Property, plant and equipment — additions {note 14d) 553 1 554
Non-current assets held for sale 30 30
Intangible assets — additions {note 17¢) 13 13
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (note 4a) 731 1 732
Exceptional items {note 4b}

Restructuring 85 85

*  Unallocated habihues consist of current taxas of £2 million deferred taxes of £774 mithion and barrowings of £4 002 million which are managed on a Group basis
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Notes to the accounts continued

3 Segment information continued

a Business segments continued
For the year ended 31 March 2009

Airline All other
£ million business segmens  Unoliocated Toto!
Revenue
Sales to external customers 8,840 152 8,992
Inter-segment sales 18 18
Segment revenue 8,858 152 9,010
Segment result (240) 20 {220)
Other non-operating expense (30) {30)
{Loss)/profit before tax and finance costs {270) 20 {250j
Net finance income/{costs)* 78 {241) {163}
Profit on sale of assets 3 8
Share of associates’ profit 4 4
Tax 43 43
(Loss)/profit after tax {180} 20 {198) {358)
Assets and habilities
Segment assets 10,164 15 10,279
Investment in assoclates 209 209
Total assets 10,373 115 10,488
Segment habiities 3,842 381 4,223
Unallocated liabilities** 4,419 4,419
Total habilities 3,842 381 4,419 8,642
Other segment information
Property, plant and equipment — additions (note 14d) 643 2 645
Intangible assets — additions (excluding LAvion — note 17¢) 21 21
Purchase of subsidiary (net of cash acquired - note 5c¢) 34 34
Depreciation, amortisation and wnparment (note 4a) 693 ) 694
Impairment of available-for-sale financial asset — Flybe (note 20) 13 13
Excepttonal items {note 4b)
Restructunng 78 78
Unused tickets (note 2) {109} {109)
Impairment of OpenSkies goodwill 5 5
* Redassified to more accurately reflect the nature of the expense
** Unallccated habilities consist of current taxes of £4 million deferred taxes of £652 million and borrowings of £3 763 million which are managed on 2 Group basis
b Geographical segments — by area of onginal sale .
roup
£ mithon 2010 2009
Europe 4,891 5617
UK 3,636 4,197
Continental Europe 1,255 1,420
The Americas 1,651 1,719
usaA 1,473 1,532
The rest of the Amencas 178 187
Africa, Middle East and Indian sub-contnent 731 875
Far East and Australasia 721 781
Revenue 7,994 8,992

Total of non-current assets excluding avalable-for-sale financial assets, employee benefit assets, prepayments and accrued
income and derivative financial instruments located in the UK 1s £7,060 million (2009 £7,337 million) and the total of these

non-current assets located in other countnes 1s £340 million (2009 £372 million)




British Asrways 2009/10 Annual Report and Accounts 83

4 Operating loss

a Operating loss 1s arrived at after charging/(crediting)
Depreciation, amertisation and impairment of non-current assets

Group
E mulhgn 2010 2009
e
Owned assets 461 381
Finance leased aircraft 144 131
Hire purchased aircraft 67 110
Other leasehold interests 51 50
tmparment charge on goodwill 5
Amorusation of intangible assets 9 17
732 694
Operating lease costs
Group
£ million 2010 2009
- ]
Minimum lease rentals - aircraft 78 82
- property 98 106
Sub-lease rentals recerved (12) (10)
Net onerous lease provision increase/(release) 2 {1
166 177
Cost of inventones
Group
Emilion 2010 2009
- ____________________________________________________ -]
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense, mainly fuel and other 1,984 2,078
Includes write-down of inventortes to net reahisable value 2
b Exceptional items
Group
£ million 2010 2009
- ________________________________________________ - |
Recognised in operating loss
Restructuring costs 85 78
Unused tickets {(note 2) {109}
Impairment of gaadwill (note 18) 5
85 {26)

Dunng the year the Group incurred restructunng costs mamnly relating to the reducuon in employees announced during
the year
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Notes to the accounts continued

5 Business combinations

In July 2008, the Group subsidiary, OpenSkies SASU, acquired the entire 1ssued share capital of the French airline LAvion,

for a cash consideration of €68 million (E54 millon) Additional consideration of €10 million (E9 milhon, retranslated as at the
date of payment of August 2009) was paid, based on the terms of the Purchase Agreement The retranslation difference of
£1 milion was charged to currency differences in the income statement in 2008/09 L'Avion was a privately owned business
class airline that operated two Boeing 7575 between Paris (Orly) and New York (Newark) awrports The operations of
OpenSkies and LAvion were merged in Apnl 2009

Details of the fair value of the net assets acquired and goodwill arising on the acquisiion of LAvion are as follows

a Purchase consideration-

£ milhon

e |
Cash consideration 54
Transaction costs directly associated with the acquisition 2
Contingent consideration 8
Total purchase consideration 64
Fair value of net assets acquired 59
Goodwill anising on acquisition 5

The goodwill 1s attnbutable to the intangible assets of the acquired business that are not separately idenufiable, and synergies
expected to anse after OpenSkies’ acquisiton of LAvion As a result of the prior year goodwill imparment review performed
as at 31 March 2009, goedwill associated with the acquisition was considered to be impaired, and accordingly an imparment
charge of £5 million was recogrised in the prior year consohdated income statement. No further charges have ansen as

a result of the impairment review performed at 31 March 2010 (note18)

b The assets and habilities arising from the acquisition are as follows

Camying Fair
£ mithon amount value
- I
Property, plant and equipment 6 6
Landing rights 35
Prepayments and accrued income 3 3
Other current assets 4 4
Cash and cash equivalents 22 22
Trade and other payables (11} (11)
Net assets acquired 24 59
¢ Net cash flow in respect of the acquisition compnises c
oup
£ milign 2010 2609
. -]
Cash consideration 54
Contingent consideration 9
Transacuon costs directly associated with the acquisition 2
Cash and cash equivalents in subsichary acquired {22)
Cash outflow on acquisition included in the cash flow statement 9 34

d Contribution to Group results

The acquired arline contributed revenues of £23 million and a net loss of £7 millon to the Group for the peniod from the
date of acquisition to 31 March 2009 If the acquisition occurred on 1 April 2008, Group revenues for the prior year would
have been £9,012 million and loss after tax would have been £363 milhon These amounts have been calculated using the
Group’s accounting pehicies and by adjusting the results of the airline to reflect the additonal amortisation that would have
been charged assuming the fair value adjustment to intangible assets had been applied from 1 April 2008, together with
the consequential tax effects The amounts calculated were not affected by the Group’s prior year decision to change the
economic hfe of landing rights acquired within the EL to that of an indefinite economic life as this prospective change took
place i the post-acquisition period, on 30 September 2008 (note 17)
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6 Auditor's remuneration
Group Company

£000 2010 2009 2010 2009

Group auditors

Fees payable to the Group's auditar for the audit of the Group's accounts 1,841 1,882 1,841 1,882
Fees payable to the Group's auditor and its associates for other services

Audit of the Group's subsidianies pursuant to legistatian 310 352

Other services pursuant to legislation 48 59 48 43
Other services relating to taxation 356 360 294 360
Services relating to corporate finance transactions* 1,100 1,654 1,100 1,654
All other services 10 [

3,655 4317 3,283 3,945

* In the current year tis included serices in relation to the 1ssue of the convertible bord, the proposed Joint Business Agreement with Amencan Airines and Ibena and the
proposed merger with Ibena

Of the Group fees, £3,425,000 relates to the UK (2009 £3,233,000) and £230,000 relates to overseas (2009 £384,000)

Of the Company fees, £3,121,000 relates to the UK (2009 £3,585,000) and £162,000 relates to overseas (2009
£360,000)

The audit fees payable to Emst & Young LLP are approved by the Audit Commutiee having been reviewed in the context
of other compantes for cost effectiveness

The Committee also reviews and approves the nature and extent of non-audit services to ensure that independence
15 mantained

7 Employee costs and numbers

a Staff costs
The average number of persons employed dunng the year was as follows

Group Company

Number 2010 2009 2010 2009
]}
UK 35920 39,137 34911 37,041
Overseas 5.574 5,850 4,990 5,057
41,494 44987 39,901 42,098

Group Company

£ milion 2010 2009 2010 2009
- _____________________________________________ ___]

Wages and salaries 1,346 1,466 1,265 1,389
Social secunty costs 146 158 135 147
Costs related 1o pension scheme benefits 145 175 140 169
Other post-retirement, benefit costs 4 4 3 3
Other employee costs 357 390 343 372
Total employee costs excluding restructunng 1,998 2,193 1,886 2,080
Restructuring® 75 78 75 78
Total employee costs 2,073 2,271 1,961 2,158

* Restructunng costs induded above excludes £10 milion of lease exit costs (2009 £nil)

In additton, wicluded in "Wages and salanes’ 1s a total expense for share-based payments of £1 milion (2009 £1 million) that
anses from transacttons accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Other employee costs include allowances and accommodation for crew
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Notes to the accounts continued

7 Employee costs and numbers continued

b Directors’ emoluments

Graup
£000 2010 2009
L ]
Fees 649 748
Salary and benefits 1,105 1,189

Performance-related bonuses 501

2,255 1,937

During the year one Director accrued benefits under a defined benefit pension scheme and one Director accrued benefits
under a defined contribution pension scheme

The Report of the Remuneration Committee discloses full details of Directors’ emoluments and can be found on pages 55
to 64

8 Finance costs and income

Group

£ milhon 2010 2603
N — R A —

a Finance costs

On bank loans* (13) {34)
On finance leases (56) {75)
On hire purchase arrangements (7) {22}
On other loans* (65) {38}
Interest expense (141) (169}
Unwinding of discounting on provisions** (19) {12}
Capitalised interest*™** 1 4

Change in fair value of cross currency swaps 2 {5)

(157} {182)

Total nterest expense for financial habilities not at faw value through the income staterment 15 £78 million (2009 £72 mullion}
**  Unwinding of discount an the competition investigation provision and restoration and handback provisions (note 29}

*** Interest cOSLS On progress payments are capitahsed at a rate based on London Interbank Offered Rata (LIBOR) plus 0 5 per cent to reflect the average cost of borrowing
to the Group unless specific borrowings are used to meet the payments in which case the actual rate 15 used

Group
£ milkon 2010 2009
R A — ]
b Ftnance income
Bank interest receivable (total interest income for financial assets not at fair value through the
Income statement) 20 95
20 95
< Financing income and expense relating to pensions
Net financing expense relating to pensions (164) (34)
Net amortisation of actuanal {losses)/gains on pensions (37) 17
Effect of the APS asset celling 85
(116) {17}

d Retranslation charges on currency borrowings (14) {59}
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9 {Loss)/profit on sale of property, plant and equipment and investments

31 March
E milion 2010 2009
. -]
Net (loss)/profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (16} 2
Net profit on the disposal of investments ()
(Loss)/profit on sale of property, plant and equipment and investments {16) 8

10 Net charge relating to available-for-sale financial assets

Group

£ mitlon 2010 2009
.|
Income from avallable-for-sale financial assets* 2 3
Amounts written off nvestments** (2) {15}
- (12}

* Includes £1 milion (2009 £3 million) annbutable 1o interest eamed on loans to The Airline Group Limited, an avallable-for-sale financial asset.
** Includes £2 mibon (2009 E2 milion) impairment of the Graup's investment in Inter-Caitat and Regional Ral Limited a loss making enuty that manages Eurostar UK Limited

unul 2010 The pror year charge wicledes a £1 3 million imparment of the Group's investment in Flybe (note 20)

11 Tax

a Tax on profit on ordinary activities
Tax charge/(credit) in the income statement

Group
£ mullion 2010 2009
]
Current iIncome tax
UK corporation tax 4 (37)
Rehef for foreign tax paid {3)
Advance corporation tax reversal 26
UK tax O] {14}
Foreign tax 2
Adjustments in respect of pnor years — UK corpoeration tax 2 (18)
Adjustments in respect of prior years — advance corporation tax 21!
Total current income tax credit (2) L)}
Deferred tax
Property, plant and equipment related temporary differences (72) {65)
Effect of abolition of industrial buildings allowances 79
Pension related temporary differences 77 41
Unremitted earnings of associate companies {26) 11
Advance corporation tax (26)
Tax losses carned forward {66) {56)
Exchange related temporary differences (4) 3)
Share option deductions written back )
Other temporary differences (2) 3
Adjustments in respect of pnor years - deferred tax (11 8
Adjustments in respect of prior years ~ advance corporation tax (21}
Total deferred tax credit (104) {34)
Total tax credit in the income statement (106} {43)
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Notes to the accounts continued

11 Tax continued

a Tax on profit on ordinary activities continued
Tax charge/{credit) directly to equity

Group
€ mibon 2010 2009
[ - _____________________________________________________________________________]
Deferred tax relating to items charged/(credited) to statement of other comprehensive mcome
Foreign exchange 34 (133)
Net gains/{losses) on cash flow hedges 193 {251)
Share of other movements In reserves of associates 3 (6)
Deferred tax relating to items charged to statement of changes in equity
Share options In 1ssue 4)
Total tax charge/(credit) reported directly in statement of other comprehensive income and
changes 1n equity 226 {350)

b Reconahation of the total tax credit

The tax credit for the year on the loss Is less than the notional tax credit on those losses calculated at the UK corporation
tax rate of 28 per cent {2009 28 per cent) The differences are explained below

Group
£ milion 2010 2009
|
Accounting loss before tax (531) (401)
Accounting loss multuplied by standard rate of corporauen tax in the LK of 28 per cent
(2009 28 per cent) (149) {112}
Effects of
Tax on associate and subsidiary companies
Tax on associates' profits and dwvdends 9
Effect of change in foreign profits legislation (13) (2)
Tax on subsidiary unremitted earnings (8)
Euro preferred securities
Euro preferred secunties accounted for as nan-controlling interests (5) {5}
Tax on revaluation of intra group foreign currency loans 1 4)
Changes in accounting standards/tax legislation
Effect of abolitton of industral buldings allowances 79
Deferred tax assets not recogmsed
Current year losses not recognised 9 2
Other
Non-deductible expenses 10 7
Effect of pension fund accounung 45 5]
Foreign exchange and unwind of discount on competition investigation prowisions 4 9
Share option deductions written back {
Adjustments in respect of prior years 9 {10)
Minor items shown separately in the prior year for which there 1s no current year equivalent {3)

Tax credit in the income statement (106) {43)
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11 Tax continued

¢ Deferred tax
The deferred tax included in the balance sheet 15 as follows

Group Company
£ milion 2010 2009 2010 2069
. _________________________________________________________ ]
Fixed asset related temporary differences 1,043 1,121 957 1,034
Pensions related temporary differences 62 (16} 64 (13
Exchange differences on funding habiities (38) (69) (38) (69)
Advance corporation tax (94) {94) 94 94)
Tax losses carned forward (181) {109) (181) {109}
Subsidiary and associate unremitted earmngs 1 27 1 17
Fair value profits/(losses) recognised on cash flow hedges 19 (174) 19 (174)
Share options related temparary differences (5) {1 {5) n
Deferred revenue in relation to loyalty reward programmes (30) (35}
Other temporary differences 3) 2 3) 1
At 31 March 774 652 720 592
Maovement in provision

Group Company
£ milion 2010 2609 2010 2009
. _____________________________________________________________________________________________________]
Balance at 1 April 652 1,075 592 1,017
Deferred tax credit relaung to income statement (104) (34) (95) 41
Deferred tax charge/{credit) taken to statement of other comprehensive Income 230 (350} 227 (384)
Deferred tax credit taken to statement of changes in equity 4 4)
Revaluation of foreign currency balances and other movements i
At 31 March 774 652 720 592

d Other taxes
The Group also contributed tax revenues through payment of transaction and payroll related taxes A breakdown of these
other taxes payable dunng 2010 was as follows

Group
£ mifhon 2010 2009
. ______________________________________________________ ]
UK Air Passenger Duty 323 319
Other ticket taxes 167 155
Payroll related taxes 146 158
Total 636 632

The UK Government has implemented substantial increases in the rates of Air Passenger Duty from 1 Novemnber 2009 and
further increases are proposed to take effect from 1 November 2010 However, the parties to the new coaltion Government
have agreed that Air Passenger Duty should be replaced by a per plane duty
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Notes to the accounts continued

11 Tax continued

e Factors that may affect future tax charges

The Group has LIK capital losses carried forward of £189 milkon (2009 £141 milhon) These losses are availlable for offset
aganst future UK chargeable gains No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these capital losses as no further
utiisation is currently antuapated The Group has deferred taxation arising on chargeable gains by roll-aover and hold-over
rehef claims that have reduced the tax basis of fixed assets by £69 million {2009 £69 million) No deferred tax hiability has
been recognised mn respect of the crystallisaton of these chargeable gains as they could be offset against the UK capital losses
carried forward The Group also has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £79 milhon (2009 £79 milhon) ansing from
temporary differences in respect of future capital losses if properties are realised at their residual value

The Group has overseas tax losses of £44 million (2009 £16 mullion) that are carried forward for offset aganst suitable future
taxable profits No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these losses as their utiisation 15 not currently
anticipated

At 31 March 2009 the Group had temporary differences of £26 million relating to the unremitted earnings of overseas
subsidianes on which no deferred tax hability was recognised because the Group is able to contro! the timing of the reversal
of these temporary differences and it I1s probable that they will not reverse In the foreseeable future As a result of a change
to UK tax legislation which largely exempts UK and overseas dividends received on or after 1 July 2009 from UK tax, and
as there are no withholding taxes ansing on the payment of such dmidends, the temporary difference 1s now Enil

As a result of the enactment of the dividend exempuion in the Finance Act 2009, deferred tax of £10 muHlion provided at
31 March 2009 on the unremitted earnings of subsidianes and associates has been released A credit of £13 million ansing
from this release of deferred tax has been taken to the income statement for the year ended 31 March 2010

12 Earnings per share

Group
Loss Earnungs per share
2010 2009 2010 2009
€ mullion £ midhon Pence Pence

Loss for the year (425) (358)
Non-controlling interest (18) (17}
Loss for the year attnibutable to shareholders and basic earmings per share (EPS) (443) {375} (38 5) {32 6}
Interest expense on convertible bond* 21
Difuted loss for the year attributable to shareholders and diluted EPS (422) (375) (38 5) {32 6)
Weighted average number of shares for basic EPS ('000) 1,152,088 1,151,230
Dilutive potenual ordinary shares

5 8 per cent convertible capital bonds 117,189

Employee share options ('000) 4,796 2,702
Weighted average number of shares for diuted EPS ('000) 1,274,083 1,153,932

*  Dunng the year the Group has 1issued a E350 million convernble bond convertible into ordinary shares at the eption of the holder In addibion, the Group has granted
addmonal eptions over shares to employees Both of the above were not dilutive duning the year but may be diutve 1n the future Detads of the Groups share options and
long-term borrowangs can be found in notes 33 and 27 respectively

Basic EPS are calculated on a weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue after deducting shares held for the
purposes of Employee Share Ownership Plans including the Long Term Incentive Plan
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13 Dividends

The Directors recommend that no dividend be declared for the year ended 31 March 2010 (2009 £nil} The Company
declared a dividend of 5 pence per share (totalling £58 million) for the year ended 31 March 2008 The dividend was paid
in July 2008 and was accounted for as a reduction in shareholders’ equity for the year ended 31 March 2009

In the prior year, the Group reversed £2 mithon of previously declared dividends, relating to historic unclaimed divdends
that are no longer expected to be collected

Equity dividends
Group
£ million 2010 2009
. ___ |
Pnior year 5 pence dividend per ordinary share paid during the year 58
Unclaimed dnadends {2
- 56
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Notes to the accounts continued

14 Property, plant and equipment

a Group
Group
£ milion Fleet Property Equipment Toral
Cost
Balance at 1 Apnl 2008 11,389 1,508 804 13,701
Additions (note 14d) 584 54 13 651
Disposals {118) {45} {30) {193}
Reclassifications {19 ! {1 {19}
Exchange movements (2) {3) (5]
Balance at 31 March 2009 11,836 1,516 783 14,135
Additions (note 14d) 518 10 26 554
Disposals (231) (&) {64) (301)
Reclassifications (170) m (171)
Exchange movements m 43
At 31 March 2010 11,952 1,520 744 14,216
Depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 Apnl 2008 5413 53t 494 6,438
Charge for the year 561 59 52 672
Disposals {116) (45) {29) {190)
Reclassifications {18) {18)
Balance at 31 March 2009 5,840 545 517 6,902
Charge for the year 616 61 46 723
Disposals {(113) (6) (64) {183)
Reclassifications {130) (130}
At 31 March 2010 6,213 600 499 7,312
Net beok amounts
31 March 2010 5,739 920 245 6,904
31 March 2009 5,996 971t 266 7.233
Analysis at 31 March 2010
Owned 2,581 904 225 3,710
Finance leased 2,196 17 2,213
Hire purchase arrangements 770 770
Progress payments Fal 16 3 90
Assets not In current use* 121 121
5,739 920 245 6,904
Analysis at 31 March 2009
Owned 2,535 950 260 3,745
Finance leased 2,004 2,004
Hire purchase arrangements 1,342 1.342
Progress payments 85 21 6 112
Assets not in current use™ 30 30
5,996 971 266 7.233
Group
£ milhon 2010 2009
L ]
The net book amount of property comprises
Freehold 258 267
Long leasehold improvements 253 260
Short leasehold improvements** 409 444
At 31 March 920 971

* Dunng the year, six Boeing 747-400 arrcraft were temporanly stood down, brnging the total number of Boeing 747-400 aircraft in temporary storage to eight. The net book
value of the arcraft as at 31 March 2010 amounts to £121 million (2009 two arcraft £30 miflion) These arrcraft are expected to return to the operating fleet and as such,
the Group continues to depreciate the arcraft

** Short leasehold improvements relate to leasehokd interests with a durauon of less than 50 years.
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14 Property, plant and equipment continued

a Group continued

As at 31 March 2010, bank and other loans of the Group are secured on fleet assets with a cost of £1,572 million (2009
£624 milhon) and letters of credit of £294 million in favour of the British Airways Pension Trustees are secured on certain
arrcraft {2009 £330 million)

Included in the cost of tangible assets for the Group 1s £345 million (2009 £349 million) of capitalised interest

Property, plant and equipment with a net book value of £118 million was disposed of by the Group during the year ended
31 March 2010 (2009 £3 millton) resulting in a net loss on dispoesal of £16 million (2009 gan £2 million)

b Company
Company
£ milion Fleet Praperty Equipment Total
|
Cost
Balance at 1 Aprd 2008 11,042 1,421 736 13,199
Addiuons 559 54 8 621
Disposals (118) 45} (30 {193)
Reclassifications (19) (19)
Balance at 31 March 2009 11,464 1,430 714 13,608
Additions 419 10 24 453
Disposals (149) 6) (31 (186)
Net transfers to subsidiary undertakings {23) 1 (22)
Reclassifications (165} {1 (166)
At 31 March 2010 11,546 1,434 707 13,687
Depreciation and imparrment
Balance at 1 April 2008 5,248 497 435 6,180
Charge for the year 545 58 50 653
Disposals {116} {45} {29} (190)
Reclassifications (18} {18)
Balance at 31 March 2009 5,659 510 456 6,625
Charge for the year 598 5% 43 700
Disposals (86) (6) (31} (123)
Net transfers to subsidiary undertakings (19) (19)
Reclassifications (129) (129)
At 31 March 2010 6,023 563 468 7,054
Net book amounts
31 March 2010 5,523 871 239 6,633
31 March 2009 5,805 920 258 6,983
Analysis at 31 March 2010
Qwned 2,472 855 219 3,546
Finance leased 2,094 17 2,111
Hire purchase arrangements 770 770
Progress payments 66 16 3 85
Assets not in current use* 121 121
5523 871 239 6,633
Analysis at 31 March 2009
Owned 2,356 899 252 3,507
Finance leased 2,004 2,004
Hire purchase arrangements 1,342 1,342
Progress payments 73 21 6 100
Assets not in current use* 30 30

5,805 920 258 6,983
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Notes to the accounts continued

14 Property, plant and equipment continued

b Company continued

Company
£ milion 2010 2009
A L |
The net bock amount of property comprises
Freehold 212 220
Long leasehold improvements 250 256
Short leasehold improvements** 409 444
At 31 March 871 920

* During the year, six Boeing 747-400 aircraft were temporanly stogd down bringing the total number of Boeing 747-400Q aircraft in temporary storage to eight The net boak
value of the aircraft as at 3¢ March 2010 amounts to £121 millon (2009 two aircraft £30 milen) These arcraft are expected 1o return to the operatng fleet and as such
the Company continues to depreciate the aircraft.

** Short leasehold improvements refate 10 leasehold interests with a duration of less than 50 years.

As at 31 March 2010, bank and other loans of the Company are secured on fleet assets with a cost of £1,500 mullion
{2009 £551 million)

Included in the cost of tangible assets for the Company 1s £344 million (2009 £347 milon) of capitalised interest

Property, plant and equipment with a net book value of £63 million was dispesed of by the Company during the year ended
31 March 2010 (2009 £3 million}) resulting in a net loss on disposal of £8 millon (2009 gain £2 mullion)

¢ Depreciation

Fleet 1s generally depreciated over periods ranging from 18-25 years after making allowance for estimated residual values
Effective annual depreciation rates resulting from those methods are shown in the following table

Group
Per cent 2010 2009
L _________________________________________________________________]
Boeing 747-400 and 777-200 37 37
Boeing 767-300 48 48
Boeing 757-200 44 44
Boeing 737-400 43 48
Arrbus A318, A319, A320 and A321 4.9 49

Embraer E170 and E190 64

For engines maintained under 'pay-as-you-go’ contracts, the depreciation lives and residual values are the same as the aircraft
to which the engines relate For all other engines, the engine core 1s depreciated to residual value over the average remaining
Iife of the retated fleet Major overhaul expenditure 1s depreciated aver periads ranging from 54-78 months, according to
engine type

During the prior year, the economic bives of the Boeing 737-400 air¢raft were reviewed and extended during the year in
accordance with the planned usage of the awrcraft The net impact to the income statement was a £1 million decrease to the
depreciation charge for the year ended 31 March 2009

Property, with the exception of freehold land, 1s depreciated over its expected useful life subject to a maxsimum of 50 years
Equipment is depreciated over periods ranging from four to 20 years, according to the type of equipment

d Analysis of Group property, plant and equipment additions

Group

£ million Fleat Property Equipment Total 2010 Total 2009
_ R

Cash pad 476 7 9 492 547
Capitalised interest 1 1 4
Acquired through business combinations 6
Reclassification of cperating leases to finance leases 122
Accrual movements 41 3 i7 61 {28)
At 31 March 518 10 26 554 651

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with a cost of £554 million
(2009 £651 millicn) Prior year addinons included £6 million of additions arising from the acquisition of LAvion (note 5) and
£122 million relating to the reclassificatron of 10 Airbus A319 arrcraft from operating leases to finance leases, where the
Group waived the nght to return the aircraft to the fessor
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15 Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure authonsed and contracted for but not provided for in the accounts amounts to £4,267 milion for the
Group commitments (2009 £4,805 million) and £4,201 milhon for the Company commitments (2009 £4,617 mullion)
The majonty of capital expenditure commitments are denominated in LS dollars, as such the commitments are subject 1o
exchange movements

The outstanding commitments include £4,253 miflion for the acquisition of two Boeing 777s (from 2010 to 2012), 24 Boeing
787s (from 2012 to 2016), 12 Auwrbus A320s (from 2010 to 2014), 12 Awrbus A380s (from 2012 to 2014) and four Embraer
E-jets (all n 2010)

16 Non-current assets held for sale

The non-current assets held for sale of £30 milion (2009 £mil) comprise five Boeng 757 aircraft, these arcraft will exit the
business within 12 months of 31 March 2010

The sale of a further six Boeing 757 arcraft has been agreed, these aircraft will exit the business over a 12 month penod
commencing 1 Apnl 2011 The economic lives and residual values of these aircraft were adjusted in Apnl 2009 to reflect
the terms of the sale agreement.

17 Intangible assets

a Group

Group
E milion Gooadwll  Landing nghts Software Total
L . __ . ____________________________________________________________________ ]
Cost
Balance at 1 Apnil 2008 10 203 153 396
Additions 5 44 12 61
Disposals {15) (15)
Impairment (note 18) (5) {5)
Exchange movements® 7 7
Balance at 31 March 2009 40 254 150 444
Additions 13 13
Reclassifications 1 1
Exchange movements* (3) (3)
At 31 March 2010 40 251 164 455
Amortisation
Balance at 1 April 2008 - 44 131 175
Disposals {15) {15)
Charge for the year 5 12 17
Balance at 31 March 2009 - 49 128 177
Charge for the year** 9 9
At 31 March 2010 - 49 137 186
Net book amounts
31 March 2010 40 202 27 269
31 March 2009 40 205 22 267

*  Landing nghts with a carmyng value of £39 milhon (2009 £42 millon) are associated with the acqusiuen of LAvion, an airline operaung senvices between Pans {Orly) and
New York {Newark} awpors These landing nghts are denominated n euro.

** As aresult of a change in accounung esumate in the prior year, landing rights based within the EU are considered to have an indefinite economic life and are therefore not
amorused (note 2) Amortisation on non-EU based landing nghts was less than £1 million for the curment and prior year
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Notes to the accounts continued

17 Intangible assets continued

b Company

Company
£ million Landing nghts Software Totat
Cost
Balance at 1 Apnl 2008 203 153 356
Addinons 9 12 21
Disposals f15) {15)
Balance at 31 March 2009 212 150 362
Additions 13 13
Reclassifications 1 1
At 31 March 2010 212 164 376
Amortisation
Balance at 1 Apnl 2008 44 131 175
Charge for the year 5 12 17
Disposals {15) (15)
Balance at 31 March 2009 49 128 177
Charge for the year * g 9
At 31 March 2010 49 137 186
Net book amounts
31 March 2010 163 27 190
31 March 2009 163 22 185

*  As a result of a change in accounting estimate in the prior year tanding nghts based within the EU are consklered to have an ndefinite econorm:c life and are therefore not
amorused (nate 2) Amortsation on nen-EU based landing nights was less than £1 million for the current and pnor year

¢ Analysis of Group intangible asset additions (excluding goodwill)

Group
£ milion Software 010 2609
L. ____________________________________________________________________________________________|]
Cash pad 13 13 24
Acquired through business combinations 35
Accrual movements (3}
Total additions 13 13 56

18 Imparrment of intangible assets that have an indefinite economic life

An annual impairment review 1s conducted on all intangible assets that have an indefinite economic Iife The imparrment
review is carned out at the level of a ‘cash-generating unit’, defined as the smallest identifiable group of assets, labihties and
associated intangible assets that generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the Group's other cash flows from other
assets or groups of assets On this basis, the impairment review has been conducted on two cash-generating units identified
as contaimng intangible assets with indefimte economic lives An impairment review was performed on the network airline
operations, Including passenger and cargo operations out of all operated airports as well as all related ancillary operations

A separate impairment review has been conducted on the operations of CpenSkies

The impairment review involves the companson of the carrying value of the cash-generating unit to the recoverable amount.
If the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount, an impairment charge 1s recogrised to the extent that the carrying value
exceeds the recoverable amount
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18 Impairment of intangible assets that have an indefinite economic life continued

a Intangible assets that have an indefinite economic hfe, analysed by cash-generating units
At 31 March 2010

Group
£ mikon Landing nghts Goodwill Total
- ___________________________________________________________]
Network arrline operations 163 40 203
OpenSkies 29 29
At 31 March 2009

Group
£ milhon Landing nghts Goodwilt Toual
.

Network airline operations 163 40 203
OpenSkies 30 30

Network arrline operations

The recoverable amount of the network airfline operations has been measured based on s value in use, using a discounted
cash flow madel, cash flow projections are based on the business plan approved by the Board covering a five-year penod
Cash flows beyond the five-year period are projected to increase in hne with UK long-term growth assumptions The pre-tax
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections are denved from the Group's post-tax weighted average cost of capital,
adjusted for the nsks specific to the assets

No imparrment charge has ansen as a result of the impairment review performed on the network airline operations

OpenSkies

The recoverable amount of the OpenSkies cash-generating unit has been measured on its value in use, using a discounted
cash flow model, cash flow projections are based on the business plan approved by the Board covenng a five-year penod
Cash flows beyond the five-year penod are projected to increase in hne with EU long-term growth assumption The pre-tax
discount rate apphed to the cash flow projections are denved from OpenSkies’ post-tax weighted average cost of capital,
adjusted for the nsks specific to the assets

The operaung margins of both cash-generaung units are based on the esumated effects of planned business efficiency and
business change programmes, approved and enacted at the balance sheet date The trading environment 1s subject to both
regulatory and competitive pressuras that can have a matenal effect on the operating performance of the business

During the prior year, an impairment charge of £5 milhon was recognised in the consolidated income statement against the
goodwill of OpenSkies as a result of the impairment review performed The impairment review performed at 31 March 2010
did not give nse to any further imparment charges

b Key assumptions used in impairment review
The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations are presented below These assumptions apply to the network
arrline operations and OpenSkies i line with their respective business plans

2010 2009
. ]}
Pre-tax discount rate (derived from the long-term weighted average cost of capital) 8.90% 8 90%
Long-term growth rate 2.50% 2 50%
QOperating margin range™ (11.4)%-86% (66)%-100%
Fuel price range per barrel 574-579 560 - 575

* Although forecast operating margins are more conservatrve than the prior year, revised forecasts indicate 2 faster seturn to profitabikry thuss increasing forecast cash genarated

97

Siuouwlalels |eidueuly




98

British Airways 2009/10 Annual Report and Accounts

Notes to the accounts continued

18 Impairment of intangible assets that have an indefinite economic life continued

b Key assumptions used in impairment review continued

The following table demonstrates the excess of the recoverable amount over the carrying amount of each cash-generating
unit

2010
£ milion Network airfing OpenSkies Toral
. _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________]
Intangible assets 203 29 232
Excess of recoverable amount over carrying amount 1,400 200 1,600

2009
£ million Network airfine QpenSkies Towt
T EEEEEEEEE———
Intangible assets 203 30 233
Excess of recoverable amount over carrying amount 400 400

Network arlne operauons

The recoverable amount of the assets with network operations exceeds the carrying value by £1 4 billion (2009 £400 million)
The calculation of the recoverable amount 1s impacted pnmarily by changes in the discount rate used and the forecast
aperating margin If the discount rate were increased by 350 basis points (2009 90 basis points) or the operating margin
were to decrease by 25 per cent (2009 2 per cent), the headroom would amount to £nil

OpenSkies

The recoverable amount of the assets within OpenSkies exceeds the carrying value by £200 milllon {2009 £nil) The
calculation of the recoverable amount is impacted pnmartly by changes in the discount rate and the forecast operating margin
Management believe that no reasonably possible change in either of the two key assumptions would cause the carrying value
to exceed the recoverable amount.

19 Investments

a Group
Investment in associates
Group
£ millon 2010 2009
R
Balance at 1 Apnil 209 227
Exchange movements (14) 27
Share of attributable results (32) 4
Share of movements on other reserves 34 {32)
Dividends recerved (17}
At 31 March 197 209

Market value of listed associates

Group
£ mulhon 2010 2009
L

At 31 March 287 184
Details of the investments that the Group accounts for as associates using the equity method are set out below

Percentage of Counuy of ncorporation

equity owned Pnncipal acevities Holding and pnncipal opesanons

__________________________________________________________________________________________________]

Ibena Lineas Aéreas de Espana S A ('lbena’)*” 1315 Aurline operations Ordinary shares Spain

* Heild by a subsidiary company

The Group accounts for its investment in [bena as an associate although the Group holds less than 20 per cent of the 1ssued
share capital as the Group has the ability to exercise significant influence over the investment due to the Group's voting power

{both through its equity holding and its representation on key decision-makng committees) and the nature of its commercial
relationships with Ibena
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19 Investments continued

The followtng summarised financial information of the Group's investment in associates 1s shown based on the Group's share
of results and net assets

Group
£ milhon 2010 2009
. - _________________]
Non-current assets 276 300
Current assets 315 392
Current habiliwes (207) {284}
Non-current iabilities (203) {216}
Share of net assets 181 192
Goodwill attnbutable to Investments In associates* 16 17
Revenues 528 574
Net {loss)/profit after tax {32) 4
*  Goodwill has reduced by £1 midlion (2005 Enil} as a resu't of foreign currency exchange movements.
b Company
A summary of the Company's investments 1s set out below
Company
Total Total
£ millton Cost Promisions 2010 2009
]
Balance at 1 Apnil 3,386 (1,030) 2,356 2,207
Exchange movements (8) (8) 23
Addiions 9 9 144
Provision 11 1 (18}
At 31 March 3,387 (1.019) 2,368 2,356

The Company accounts for its investments in subsidianes and associates using the cost method

The Group's and Company's principal mvestments in subsidiaries, associates and other investments are listed in principal
investments on page 130

Dunng the year, the Company invested £9 mithen (2009 £40 million) in the subsidiary BA European Limited in order to fund
the contingent purchase consideration of french airline, LAvion In the pnor year, the Company mvested £104 miflion in the
subsidiary CityFlyer in order to fund operations

The £11 million reversal of impairment prowvision relates to the write-up of the Company’s investment in The Plimsoll Line
Lumuted (2009 impairment of £1 3 milhon) which holds the Group's nvestment in Flybe (note 20) The pnior year provisions
of £18 milhen also includes a £5 million impairment of the Company's investment in OpenSkies, associated with the goodwill
resulting from the acquisition of L'Avion

20 Awvallable-for-sale financial assets

Group Company
£ rmilion 2010 2009 2010 2009
. _____________________________________________________]
Avatlable-for-sale financial assets 76 65 21 27

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at farr value For listed investments the fair value compnses the market price
at the balance sheet date For unlisted investments the fair value 1s estimated by reference to an earnings multiple model or
by reference to other valuation methods

In the prior year, the Group performed a review of its investment in Flybe at 31 March 2009 Despite a growth in Flybe's
revenue and an expected reporting of profits for the year ended 31 March 2009, the review showed a decline in far value,
associated with a lower rate of forecast revenue and earnings growth than previously expected Accordingly, the Group
recognised a £13 milton impairment of the mvestment The impairment charge was recognised in the iIncome statement.

The Group performed a review of its investrment in Flybe at 31 March 2010 The review showed an increase in fair value from
£30 mithion at 31 March 2009, to £41 millon at 31 March 2010, as a result of improvernents in the Group's expectation of
an improvement In Flybe's forecast revenue growth and net debt position at the balance sheet date Accordingly, the Group
recogmised an £11 million wnte-up relating to Flybe in the statement of other comprehensive ncome
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Notes to the accounts continued

20 Avallable-for-sale financial assets continued

Avallable-for-sale investments include investments i1n histed ordinary shares, which by their nature have no fixed matunty date
Or Coupon rate

The table below shows total isted and unlisted available-for-sale investments

Group Company
£ million 2010 2000 2010 2009
- ____________________________________________________________ ]
Listed 14 8
Unhsted 62 57 21 27
At 31 March 76 65 21 27
For a summary of the movement in avalable-for-sale financial assets, refer to note 31
21 Inventories
Group Company
€ millon 2010 2009 2010 2009
_ - |
Expendables and consumables 98 127 97 125
22 Trade receivables
Group Company
£ million 2010 2009 2010 2009
. ______________________________________________________________________________ A
Trade recewables 509 543 496 530
Prowsion for doubtful recevables (10) {13} (10) {13
Net trade receivables 499 530 486 517
Movements in the provision for doubtful trade recervables were as follows
£ milhan Group Company
- _____________________________________________________]
At 1 Apnl 2008 12 12
Provision for doubtful receivables 3 3
Exchange movement on revaluation 2 2
Receivables written off during the year {2) {2)
Unused amounts reversed (2) 2)
At 31 March 2009 13 13
Prowision for doubtful receivables 7 7
Recewvables wnitten off duning the year (6) 6)
Unused amounts reversed 4 (4)
At 31 March 2010 10 10

At 31 March, the ageing analysis of trade recervables is as follows

Nerher Past due but not impaved
past due nor
£ millon Total impaired <30days  30-60 days > 60 days
- _______________________________________________________________________________________]
Group
2010 499 473 12 7 7
2009 530 510 14 2 4
Company
2010 486 4N 5 3 7
2009 517 510 2 1 4

Trade receivables are generally non-interest-bearing and on 30 days terms
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23 Other current assets

Graup Company
£ miion 2010 2009 2010 2009
Amounts owed by subsidianes 137 169
Other debtors 77 88 83 88
Prepayments and accrued income 212 180 156 125
At 31 March 289 268 376 382

24 Cash, cash equivalents and other current interest-bearing deposits

a Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
£ million 20t0 2009 2010 2009
Cash at bank and in hand 562 247 535 219
Short-term deposits falling due within three months 224 155 221
Cash and cash equivalents 786 402 756 219
Other current interest-beanng depaosits maturing after three months 928 979 908 43

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates Short-term deposits are made for penods up
to three months depending on the cash requirements of the Group and earn interest based on the floating deposit rates The
fair value of cash and cash equivalents 1s £786 million for the Group (2009 £402 million) and for the Company £756 million
(2009 £219 milion)

At 31 March 2010, the Group and Company had no outstanding bank overdrafts (2009 £nif)

Other current interest-bearing deposits are made for periods in excess of three months with maturity typically within
12 months and earn interest based on the market rates available at the ume the deposit was made

b Reconcihation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

Group
£ million 2010 2009
L. |
Increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents duning the year 344 {289)
Net cash outflow from decrease in debt and lease financing 769 468
Decrease in other current interest-bearing deposits (51) (202)
New loans and finance leases taken out and hire purchase arrangements made (1,053) (377)
Decrease/(increase) in net debt resulting from cash flow 9 {400)
Exchange movements and other non-cash movements 85 {672)
Decrease/({tncrease} in net debt dunng the year 94 {1,072}
Net debt at 1 April (2,382) {1,310)
Net debt at 31 March (2,288) {2,382
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Notes to the accounts continued

24 Cash, cash equivalents and other current interest-bearing deposits continued
c Analysis of net debt

Group

Balance at Net Other Balance at

£ milion 1 Apnl cash flow non-cash Exchange 31 March
L - ______________________________________________________________|
Cash and cash equiwvalents 683 {289) 8 402
Current interest-bearing deposits maturing after three months 1,181 {202} 979
Bank and other loans (876) 66 {38) {848)
Finance leases and hire purchase arrangements {2,298) 25 {126) (516) (2,915}
At 31 March 2009 (1,310 (400) (126} {546) (2,382)
Cash and cash equivalents 402 344 40 786
Current interest-bearing deposits maturing after three months 979 {51) 928
Bank and other loans (848) {625) 11y (1,484
Finance leases and hire purchase arrangements (2,915) 341 (24) 80 (2.518)
At 31 March 2010 (2,382) 9 (24) 109 (2,288)

Net debt comprises the current and non-current portions of long-term borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and other
current interest-bearing deposits

25 Trade and other payables

Group Company
£ million 2010 2009 2010 2009
_ _ |
Trade creditors 623 666 581 624
Unredeemed frequent flyer liabilities 2 1 3 1
Amounts owed to subsidiary companies 2,737 1,639
QOther creditors
Other creditors 567 669 560 661
Other taxation and social security 29 39 26 37
596 708 586 698
Accruals and deferred income
Sales in advance of carriage 919 769 875 743
Accruals and deferred income 770 652 474 340
1,689 1,421 1,349 1,083
At 31 March 2,910 2,796 5,256 4,045
26 Other long-term habilities
Group Company
£ milhen 2010 2009 2010 2009
- ___________________________________________________]
Other creditors 7 3] 4
Accruals and deferred income 225 193 194 165

At 31 March 232 204 194 169
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27 Long-term borrowings

Group Company
£ miflion 2010 2009 2010 2009
. ___________________________________________________________________________________________ i
a Current
Bank and other loans* 139 69 126 57
Finance leases** 129 103 140 115
Hire purchase arrangements 288 517 288 517
At 31 March 556 689 554 689
b Non-current
Bank and other loans* 1,345 779 1,062 582
Finance leases™ 2,077 1,979 2,246 2,156
Hire purchase arrangements 24 316 24 316
Loans from subsidiaries 366 279
At 31 March 3,446 3,074 3,698 3,333

* Bank and other loans are repayable up to the year 2019 Bank and other loans of the Group amounting to LS$231 millien {2009 US$108 millien) €73 millicn (2009 €nil)
¥45 474 milion {2009 ¥6 915 milion) and £350 milkon (2009 £382 million) and bank Ioans of the Company amounting to LI5$81 million (2009 US$108 million) and
€73 million (2009 €nil) and ¥45 474 milon (2009 ¥6 915 mdlion) and £154 milion (2009 €172 millen) are secured on arrcraft. Euro-steriing notes other loans and loans
from subsidiary undertakings are not secured Finance leases and hire purchase arrangements are all secured on aircraft or propery plant and equipment

** Included in finance leases for the Company 15 £180 milion (2009 £188 milhon) of finance leases with other subsidizries of the Group of which E11 million (2009 £11 milhon)
15 classified as current.

¢ Bank and other loans
Bank and other loans comprise the following’

Group Company
£ million 2010 2009 2010 2009
. _______________________]
£350 miiion fixed rate 58 per cent convertible bond 20149 269 269
£250 milhion fixed rate 8 75 per cent eurobonds 2016 ™ 248 248 248 248
Floating rate sterling mortgage loans secured on awcraft™ 175 187 132 143
Floating rate US dollar mortgage loans secured on aircraft ™ 54 76 54 76
Fixed rate sterling mortgage loans secured on aircraft® 175 194 21 29
Floating rate Japanese yen mortgage loans secured on aircraft ™ 321 49 321 49
Floating rate US dollar mortgage loans secured cn plant and equipment 40 49 40 49
Fixed rate euro mortgage loans secured on aircraft 65 65
Fixed rate US dollar morigage loan secured on aircraft 9 99
European Investment Bank loans secured on property * 38 45 38 45
1,484 848 1,188 639
Less current instalments due on bank loans 139 69 126 57
At 31 March 1,345 779 1,062 582

{1 £350 milhon fixed rate 58 per cent convertible band raising cash of £341 million {net of ssue costs) converuble into ordinary sharas at the option of the holder before
or upon maturity in August 2014 Conversion inta ordinary shares will occur at a premium of 38 per cent on the Group's share price on the date of issuance The Group hold
an option to redeem the convertible bond at its pancipal 2mount, together with accrued interest, upon fulfilment of certain pre-determined criteria The equity portion of the
convertible bond 1ssue 1S included i other reserves.

() £250 millon fixed rate 8 75 per cent unsecured aurobonds 2016 are repayable in one instalment on 23 August 2016

() Floaung rate sterhing mortgage loans are secured on specific arcraft assets of the Group and bear interest of berween O 53 per cent and O 59 per cent above LIBOR.
The loans are repayable between 2015 and 2019

(v) Floaung rate US dollar mortgage loans are secured on specific arcraft assets of the Group and bear nterast of between O 40 per cent and 099 per cent abave LIBQR.
The kans are repayable between 201 1 and 2016

{v) Fixed rate sterling mortgage loans are secured on specific awcraft assets of the Group and bear interest at & 4 per cent 1o 7 35 per cent The loans are repayable between
2013 and 2016

{w1) Floating rate Japanese yen morigage loans are secured on specific aircraft assets of the Group and bear interest of 0 55 per cent above LIBOR. The loans are repayable
berween 2314 and 2015

(vn) Floaung rate LS dollar mortgage loans are secured on certamn plant and equipment of the Group and bear interest of 0 75 per cent above LIBOR. The lcans are repayable
in2014

{vin) The fixed rate euro mortgage laan s secured on specific arcraft assets of the Group and bears interest of 1 38 per cent. The loan s repayable in 2024
{ix} Fixed rate LIS dollar mortgage loans are secured on specific aircraft assets of the Group These loans bear an average interest of 455 per cent and are repayable in 2021

(x) European Investment Bank loans are secuned on certain property assets of the Group and bear nterest of berween 0 20 per cent below LIBOR. The loans are repayable
between 2014 and 2017
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Notes to the accounts continued

27 Long-term borrowings continued

d Total loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements

Group Company
E million 2010 2009 2010 2009
- |
Loans:
Bank
us dollar $292 $178 $142 5178
Euro €73 €73
Japanese yen ¥45,474  ¥6,915 ¥45,474 ¥6,915
Sterling £389 £427 £192 £217
£967 £600 £671 £391
Fixed rate bonds
Sterking £517 £248 £517 £248
Loans from subsidiary undertakings
LS dollar $150
Euro €300
£366 £279
Finance leases:
US dollar $1,777 $1.518  S1,777 51,518
Euro €116 €77 €116 €77
Japanese yen ¥2,131 ¥2,131
Sterling £915 £948  £1,095 £1,136
£2,206 £2,082 £2,386 £2,271
Hire purchase arrangements-
us dollar 555 372 $55 §72
Japanese yen ¥38,997 ¥101,350 ¥38,997 ¥101,350
Sterling £62 £62
£312 £833 £312 £833
At 31 March £4,002 £3,763 £4,252 £4,022

e Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts

The Group uses finance leases and hire purchase contracts principally to acquire aircraft These leases have both renewal
options and purchase options These are at the option of the Group Future mintmum lease payments under finance leases

and hire purchase contracts are as follows

Group Company
£ mikon o 2609 010 2008
.
Future minimum payments due
Within one year 468 687 439 707
After more than one year but within five years 209 1,163 1,002 1,252
In five years or more 1,618 1,672 1,732 1,811
2,995 3,522 3,223 3,770
tess Finance charges 477 607 525 666
Present value of mimmum lease payments 2,518 2,915 2,698 3,104
The present value of minimum lease payments Is analysed as follows
Within one year 417 620 428 632
After more than one year but within five years 27 926 15 981
In five years or more 2,074 1,369 2,255 1,491
At 31 March 2,518 2915 2,698 3,104
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28 Operating lease commitments |
|

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain properties, equipment and arcraft These leases have durations
ranging from two years for arcraft to 150 years for ground leases Certain leases contain options for renewal

a Fleet
The aggregate payments, for which there are commitments under operating leases as at 31 March, fall due as follows

Group Company
£ miflion 2010 2008 2010 2009
.
Within one year 82 84 72 60
Between one and five years 348 334 335 309
Qwver five years 444 444 444 444
At 31 March 874 862 851 813

b Property and equipment
The aggregate payments, for which there are commitments under operating leases as at 31 March, fall due as follows

Group Company
£ millon 2010 2009 2010 2009
.
Within one year 98 84 95 80
Between one and five years 306 249 296 238
Qver five years, ranging up to the year 2145 1,585 1,562 1,581 1,557
At 31 March 1,989 1,895 1,972 1,875

¢ Sub-leasing

The Group and Company sub-lease surplus rental properties and aircraft assets held under non-cancellable leases to third
parues and subsidiary companies These leases have remaining terms of one to seven years and the assets are surplus 1o
the Group's requirements

Future mimimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

Group Company
£ million 2010 2009 2010 2009
.
Fleet
Within one year 6 & 3 4
Between one and five years 1 8 g9
At 31 March 7 14 3 13
Property and equipment
Within one year 7 6 7 [
Between cne and five years 25 29 25 24
Over five years 4 10 4 0
At 31 March 36 40 36 40
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Notes to the accounts continued

29 Prowisions for habilities and charges

Group
Restoration
Onerous and
Insurance lease handback
£ million PrOVISIONS contracts grovisiens  Restruciunng Litigauon Other Total
. -
At 1 April 2009
Current red 21 137 182
Non-current 32 9 87 115 13 256
32 9 11 21 252 13 438
Arsing dunng the year 3 14 101 18 21 157
Utlised (2) (14) (81) (27) 2N (145)
Release of unused amounts (i7) ()] )] (16) (43)
Exchange (2) {2) (6) (10)
Other movements 3 3
Unwinding of discount 1 18 19
At 31 March 2010 13 9 101 28 255 13 419
Analysis
Current 10 28 222 260
Non-current 13 9 91 33 13 159
13 9 1mom 28 255 13 419
Company
Restoration
Onerous and
lease handback
£ milion contracts provisions Restructunng Litigation Other Total
- _
At 1 Apnl 2009
Current 22 21 137 180
Non-current 4 83 s i3 215
4 105 21 252 13 395
Ansing during the year 3 12 101 18 21 155
Utiised (n (81 (27) 21 (140)
Release of unused amounts {1 (9) (16) (26)
Exchange ] (6 (8)
Other movements 3 3
Unwinding of discount 1 18 19
At 31 March 2010 6 96 28 255 13 398
Analysis
Current 7 28 222 257
Non-current 6 89 33 13 141
6 96 28 255 13 398

Insurance provisions relate to provisions held by the Group's captive insurer, Speedbird Insurance Company Limited, for
incurred but not reported losses Such prowvisions are held untl utilised or such tme as further claims are considered unhkely

under the respective insurance policies

The onerous lease provision relates to the sub-lease of six Avre RJ100 aircraft to Swiss International Air Lines This provision
will be fully utiised by October 2011 In addition, the provision includes amounts relating to properties leased by the Group
that are either sub-leased to third parties or are vacant with no immediate intention to utdise the property This provision

will be fully utihsed by Apnl 2037
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29 Prowvisions for liabilities and charges continued

Restoration and handback costs include provision for the costs to meet the contractual return conditions on arcraft held
under operating leases The provision also includes amounts relating to leased land and buildings where restorauon costs are
contractually required at the end of the lease Where such costs anse as a result of capital expenditure on the leased asset,
the restoration costs are also capitalised This provision will be utihsed by March 2051

The Group recognised a restructuring provision of £28 million at 31 March 2010 (20098 £21 milion) including targeted
voluntary severance schemes announced during the year This provision is expected to be pad during the next financial year

There are ongoing Investigations nto the Group's passenger and cargo surcharges by the European Commission and other
Junisdicuons These investigations are likely to conunue for some ume The Company is also subject to related class action
claims The final amount required to pay the remaning claims and fines is subject to uncertainty A detalled breakdown of
the remaiming provision 1s not presented as it may seriously prejudice the position of the Company in these regulatory
investigations and potential hitigaton

Other prowisions include staff leaving indemmibies relating to amounts due to staff under vancus overseas contractual
arrangements

30 Financial nsk management objectives and policies

The Group 1s exposed to a vanety of financial nsks market nsk (including foreign currency nsk, interest rate risk and fuel price
risk), credit nisk, capital risk and liquidity nsk The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictabihity
of financial markets and seeks to mirimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance

Group treasury carries out financral risk management under governance approved by the Board Group treasury identifies,
evaluates and hedges financial nsks The Board provides written principles for overall sk management, as well as wntten
policies covering specfic areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate nsk, credit nsk, use of derivative financial
instruments and investment of excess hqudity

a Fuel price nsk

The Group 1s exposed to fuel price nsk The Group's fuel price nisk management strategy aims to provide the airline with
protection against sudden and significant increases in ol pnces while ensuning that the airline 1s not competitively
disadvantaged in a senious way in the event of a substantial fall in the price of fuel

In meeting these objectives, the fuel nsk management programme allows for the use of a number of dervatives avallable
on the over-the-counter {OTC) markets with approved counterparties and within approved himits

The following table demonstrates the sensitvty of financial instruments to a reasonably possible change in fuel prices,
with all other vanables held constant, on profit before tax and equity

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
Increase/ Effect increase/ Effect Increase/ Effect Increase/ Effect

{decrease) on profit Effect {decrease} on profit Effect {decrease} an profic Effect {decrease} on profit Effect
in fuel pnce  before tax on equity n fuel pnce  before tax on equity infuel pnce  before tax on equity in fuel price  before tax on equiy
per cent £ milhgn £ mithon per cent £ muthon £ mulhon per cent E milign £ milien per cent £ nulton £ million
- ] M

30 4 432 30 15 301 30 4 432 30 15 301
(30) (11)  (420) {30} 3 {337) (30) (11 (420) {30) 4) (337}
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Notes to the accounts continued

30 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continued

b Foreign currency nsk

The Group 1s exposed to currency risk on revenue, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than
sterhng The currencies in which these transactions are pnmanty denominated are US dollar, euro and Japanese ven (yen) The
Group generates a surplus in most currencies in which it does business The US doliar is an exception as capital expenditure,
debt repayments and fue! payments denominated in US dollars normally create a deficit

The Group can experience adverse or beneficial effects ansing from foreign exchange rate movements The Group seeks
to reduce foreign exchange exposures arising from transactions in various currencies through a policy of matching, as far
as possible, receipts and payments In each indnidual currency Surpluses of convertible currencies are sold, either spot or
forward, for LS dollars or pounds sterling

The Group has substantial labilities denominated in US dollar, euro and Japanese yen
The Group utilises its US dollar, euro and yen debt repayments as a hedge of future S dollar, euro and yen revenues

Forward foreign exchange contracts and currency options are used to cover near-term future revenues and operating
payments in a variety of currencies

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of financial instruments to a reasonably possible change in the US dollar, euro
and yen exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, on (loss)/profit before tax and equity

Strengthening/ Effect Strengthening/ Effect Strengtherning/ Effect
{weakening) n on profit Effect  (weakening) in on profit Effect  (weakening) in on profit Effect
S dollar before tax on equity euro rate before tax on equity yen rate before tax an equity
Group rate per cent £ rmithon € milion per cant £ miion £ miion per cent £ miion £ milion
.- ]
2010 20 5 (185) 20 1 (38) 20 {19) (104)
(20) (5) 184 {20) (n 38 (20) 19 104
2009 20 {52) (162) 20 7 (33) 20 {8) {138)
{20) 52 162 20 6 32 (20} 8 138
Strengthening/ Effect Strengthering/ Effect Strengtheming/ Effect
(weakening} in on profit Effect  (weakening}in on profit Effect  (weakening) in on profit Effect
LIS dollar before tax on equity BUro rate before tax on equity yen rate beforae tax on equity
Company rate per cent £ milfien £ million per cent E milien £ millicn per cent € million Emillion
" S A —
2010 20 (185) 20 (38) 20 {19) {104)
(20) 184 {20) 38 (20) 19 104
2009 20 (52) {162} 20 7 {33} 20 (8} {138)
{20} 52 162 {20} 6 32 20 8 138

¢ Interest rate nisk

The Group 1s exposed to changes in interest rates on floating rate debt and cash deposits Had there been a change in interest
rates, either an increase of 100 basis points or a decrease of 50 basis points, there would have been a £nil impact on
shareholders’ equity (2009 £nil) and a £nil impact on the Group and Company current year income staternent in the prior
year, as a result of higher Group net debt, an increase in interest rates of 100 basis points would have had an unfavourable
impact on the Group iIncome statement of £2 mihon A decrease in interest rates of 50 basis points would have had a
favourable impact on the Group income statement of £1 million

In the prior year, cash deposits were primarily held in a subsidiary entity As a result, an increase in interest rates of 100 basis
points would have had an unfavourable impact on the Company income statement of £10 million, a decrease in interest rates
of 50 basis points would have had a favourable impact on the Company income statement of £5 mullion
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30 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continued

d Credit risk

The Group 1s exposed to credit nsk to the extent of non-performance by its counterparties in respect of financial assets
recevable However, the Group has polictes and procadures in place to ensure credit nsk s hmited by placing credit limits on
each counterparty The Group conunucusly monitors counterparty credit imits and defaults of counterparues, incorporating
this informanion into credit nsk controls Treasury activities which include placing money market deposits, fuel hedging and
foreign currency transactions could lead to a concentration of different credit nisks on the same counterparty This nsk s
managed by the allocation of an overall exposure imit for the counterparty that 1s then allocated down to specific treasury
actvities for that party Exposures at the acuwity level are monitored on a daily basis and the overali exposure mit for the
counterparty 15 reviewed at least monthly in the hght of available market informatton such as credit ratings and credit default
swap levels 1tis the Group's policy that all counterparttes who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures

The maximum exposure to credit sk 1s Imited to the carrying value of each class of asset as summarised in note 31

The Group does not hold any collateral to mitigate this exposure Credit nsks arising from acting as guarantor are disclosed
In note 36

e Liquidity risk

Prudent hquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and interest-bearing deposits, the avallability of funding
from an adequate amount of credit faciities and the ability to close out market posiions Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying business, Group treasury maintains flexibility in funding by maintaiming availability under committed credit lines

The Company's long-term corporate debt ratings at 31 March 2010 assigned by Moody's and Standard and Poor's
respectively were Bl and BB- The Moody's rating was reduced from Ba3 in March 2010 and the Company 1s on credit watch
for a further downgrade The downgrades were due 1o adverse trading conditions The downgrades have had no impact on
debt covenants or liquidity since the Group has committed borrowing faciiies through to 2016, and adequate cash reserves
to meet operating requirernents for the next 12 months

At 31 March 2010 the Group and Company had unused overdraft faciliies of £10 milhion (2009 £20 million) and €nil
(2009 €4 million (£4 millien))

The Group and Company held undrawn uncommitted money market lines of £25 mihon as at 31 March 2010
(2009 £25 milhon)

The Group and Company had the following undrawn general and committed aircraft financing faciliies

2010
Million Currency £ equivalent
. _________________________________________________________________________________________}
US dollar facility expinng June 2013 $912 602
US dollar facility expinng September 2016 $966 638
US dollar facihty expinng October 2010 S114 75
US dollar faciity expiring October 2016 $509 336
US dollar facihity expiring December 2010 $98 65
US dollar facility expiring June 2012 5750 495
Japanese yen facility expining January 2011 ¥24,281 172
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30 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continued

e Liquidity risk continued

2009

Millon Currency £ equmvelent
-]

US dollar facility expinng June 2013 $£1,301 911
US dollar facility expiring March 2014 $940 658
US dollar facility expining June 2010 $228 160
US dollar facility expinng September 2016 3509 356
US dollar faciity expiring December 2012 $270 189
US dollar facility expiring june 2012 1269 189
Japanese yen facihity expinng January 2011 ¥68,085 485

The table below analyses the Group’s financial assets and habilities into relevant matunity groupings based on the remaining
period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows and include interest

Group
Within 612 More than Total
£ million 6 months months 1-2 years 2-5 years Syears 2010
. ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|]
Cash and cash equivalents 786 786
Other current interest-bearing deposits 833 95 928
Trade recervables 499 499
Interest-beaning loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase cbligauons (286) (182) (201) (708) (1,618) (2,995)
Fixed rate borrowings (47) (36) (83) (485) (455) (1,106)
Floating rate borrowings (49) {71) (113) 317) (174) (724)
Trade and other payables (1,219) (1.219)
Derwvative financial instruments
Cross currency swaps (1 (2} (2) (5)
Forward currency contracts 17 4 21
Fuel dervatives 24 20 27 "
Forward currency contracts (3) (3)
At 31 March 555 {(170) (371) (1,512) (2,249) (3,747
Group
Within 612 More than Total
£ milhon 6 months monihs 1-2 years 2-5 yeors 5 yeqrs 2009
. _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Cash and cash equivalents 402 402
Other current interest-bearing deposits 740 248 988
Trade receivables 530 530
Interest-beanng loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations {447) {240 {474) (689  (1,672) (3,522)
Fixed rate borrowings (31 (21) (51) (141} {425) (669)
Floating rate borrowings {20) {40 {60) {171} {156) {447)
Trade and other payables {1.374) (1.374)
Dernvative financial instruments
Cross currency swaps (1 {2) 4} 7}
Forward currency contracts (13) (2 (3} (18)
Fuel derivatives (252) {204) {111} {2) {569)
Farward currency contracts 31 9 3 43

At 31 March {434) {250 (697) (1,005 (2257) (4.643)
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30 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continued

e Liquidity risk continued

Company
Within 6-12 Mare than Total
£ milhon 6 months maonths 1-2 years 2-5years S years 2010
L -]
Cash and cash equivalents 7556 756
Other current interest-beaning deposits 813 95 908
Trade receivables 486 4386
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations (3013 (188} (222) (780y (1,732) (3,223)
Fixed rate borrowings (40) (40) (81) 477y  (1,057) {1,695)
Floating rate borrowings {49} (68) (109) (303) {(150) (679)
Trade and other payables (3,904) (3,904)
Dervative financial instruments
Cross currency swaps (1) {(2) (2) (5)
Forward currency contracts 17 4 ba]
Fuel dervatives 24 20 27 71
Forward currency contracts (3 m 4
At 31 March (2,201) (178) (386) (1,562) (2,941) (7,268)
Company
Within 6-12 More than Total
£ million & months months 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years 2009
._____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ __ |
Cash and cash equivalents 219 219
Other current interest-beanng deposits 20 24 44
Trade receivables 517 517
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations {461} (246) (495) (757)  (1,811) (3,770}
Fixed rate borrowings {25) (25) {50} (137) (1,058} (1.295)
Floaung rate barrowings {(20) (36) (56} (157) {125} (394
Trade and other payables (2.961) {2,961)
Derivative financial instruments
Cross currency swaps {1 2] 4 (7
Forward currency contracts {13) 2 (3} {18
Fuel derivauves (252) (204} {111} (2} {(569)
Forward currency contracts 31 9 3 43
At 31 March {2,945) (480} (713) (1,055} (2,998) (8,1%1)

f Capital nsk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 1n order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to mamtain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group maoritors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio, net debt as a percentage
of total capitat Net debt 1s defined as the total borrowings, finance leases and hire purchase liabilittes, net interest-beanng
deposits and cash and cash equivalents less overdrafts See note 24 for details of the calculation of net debt, Total capital 1s
defined as the total of capital, reserves, non-controlling interests and net debt.
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30 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continued

f Capital nsk management continued
The gearing ratios at 31 March were as follows

Group
£ mithon (except ratios) 2010 2009
L T — ]
Caputal reserves 1,913 1,646
Add non-controlling interests 200 200
Total equity 2,113 1,846
Net debt (a) 2,288 2,382
Total capital {b) 4,401 4,228
Gearing ratio (a)/(b) 520 563
31 Financial instruments
a Fair values of financial assets and financial habihties
The farr values of the Group's financial instruments are disclosed in huerarchy levels depending on the nature of the inputs
used in deterrmining the fair values as follows
Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or hablities
Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset or hability,
either directly or indirectly
Level 3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial assets and habilites at 31 March 2010 are set out below .
oup
Carrying
Fair value value
£ milhon Leval 1 Levet 2 Level 3 Total Total

Finanaial assets*

Available-for-sale financial assets 14 62 76 76
Forward currency contracts” 21 21 ]|
Fuel denvatives* 80 80 80

Financial habilities.
Interest-bearing foans and borrowings

Finance lease and hire purchase obligations 2,599 2,599 2,518
Fixed rate borrowings 535 443 978 856
Floating rate borrowings 628 628 628
Cross currency swaps** 5 5 5
Forward currency contracts** 3 3 3
Fuel dervatives** 9 9 9

*  Current poruon of dervative financial assets 1s £74 million
** Current portion of dervative financiat liabilies 1s £12 mulhon,
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31 Financial instruments continued

a Fair values of financial assets and financial habilities continued
The fair values of the Group's financial assets and habilities at 31 March 2009 are set out below

Group

Carryng

Fair value vaive

£ milon Level T Level 2 Level 3 Total Total

Finanaal assets.
Available-for-sale financial assets 8 57 65 65
Forward currency contracts* 43 43 43

Financial liabilities.
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Finance lease and hire purchase obligations 3,030 3,030 2,915
Fixed rate borrowings 386 386 442
Floating rate borrowings 406 406 406
Cross currency swaps™™* 7 7 7
Forward currency contracts** 18 18 18
Fuel derivatives** 569 569 569

* Current paruon of dervatve financial assets is £40 millan
** Current poruon of denvative financial Fabidives 1s £471 milkon.

The fair values of the Company’s financial assets and habilities at 31 March 2010 are set out below

Company

Carrying

Fair value value

£ milion Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total

Financial assets

Awvailable-for-sale financial assets 21 21 21
Forward currency contracts* 21 21 21
Fuel dervatives* 80 80 80

Financial liabilities’
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Finance lease and hire purchase obligations 2,796 2,796 2,698
Fixed rate borrowings 535 536 1,071 969
Floating rate borrowings 585 585 585
Cross currency swaps** 5 5 5
Forward currency contracts™* 4 4 4
Fuel derivatives** 9 9 9

*  Current poruon of denvatve financial assets s £74 milian
** Current portion of denvatve financal habiities s £13 milion

The fair values of the Company's financial assets and habilities at 31 March 2009 are set out below

Company

Camyng

Farir value value

£ milban Levef 1 Level 2 Level 3 Toal Total

.. |
Financial assets

Avallable-for-sale financial assets 27 27 27
Forward currency contracts*® 43 43 43

Financial habilities
Interest-bearing 'oans and borrowings

Finance lease and hire purchase obligations 3,239 3,239 3,104
Fixed rate borrowings 490 490 556
Floating rate borrowings 362 362 362
Cross currency swaps*™™ 7 7 7
Forward currency contracts™™ 18 i8 18
Fuel denvatives™™ 569 569 569

*  Current portion of denvative finanaal assets s £40 mdlion
** Current poruon of dervatve financizl habiities 1s €471 milhgn

113

SIUDLLIIRIS |eIDURUIS



114

British Airways 2009/10 Annual Report and Accounts

Notes to the accounts continued

31 Finanaial instruments continued

a Fair values of financial assets and finanaal liabilities continued
The following methads and assumptions were used by the Group in estimating its fair value disclosures for
financial instruments

Available-for-sale financial assets and loan notes
Listed fixed asset investments (level 1) are stated at market value as at 31 March 2010 For other investments {level 3) the
far value cannot be measured reliably, as such these assets are stated at histonc cost less accumulated imparment losses

Bank and other loans, finance leases, hire purchase arrangements and the non-Japanese yen denominated portions

of hire purchase arrangements carrying fixed rates of interest

The repayments that the Group 1s committed to make have been discounted at the relevant market interest rates applicable
at 31 March 2010 (level 2)

Japanese yen denorminated portions of hire purchase arrangements carrying fixed rates of interest

These amounts relate to the tax equity portions of Japanese leveraged leases which are personal to the Group, cannot be
assigned and could not be refinanced or replaced in the same cross-border market on a marked-to-market basis The carrying
value of £276 milhon (2008 £722 milhon) 1s determined with reference to the effective interest rate {level 2)

Eurc-sterling notes and Euro-sterling bond 2016
These are stated at quoted market value (level 1)

Convertible bond 2014
These are stated at quoted market value (level 1)

Forward currency transactions and over-the-counter (OTC) fuel derivatives
These are stated at the market value of instruments with similar terms and conditions at the balance sheet date (level 2)

b Level 3 financial assets reconciliation
The following table summanses key movements in level 3 financial assets

Group Company
£ milkon 2010 2009 010 2009
L ]
At 1 Apnil 57 67 27 24
Write-up/(mparment) of avallable-for-sale financial assets (note 20) 1 (13}
Repayment of loan notes (classified as available-for-sale financial assets) N (7
Interest accrued on loan notes (classified as avalable-for-sale financial assets) 1 3 1 3
At 31 March 62 57 21 27
¢ Hedges
1 Cash flow hedges

At 31 March 2010 the Group and Company held four principal risk management activities that were designated as hedges
of future forecast transactions These were

= A hedge of a proportion of future fong-term revenue receipts by future debt repayments in foreign currency hedging future
foreign exchange nsk,

* A hedge of certain short-term revenue recerpts by foreign exchange contracts hedging future foreign exchange risk,

* A hedge of certain short-term foreign currency operational payments by forward exchange contracts hedging future
foreign exchange nsk, and

* A hedge of future jet fuel purchases by forward crude, gas oil and jet kerosene derivative contracts hedging future fuel
pnce nsk
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31 Financial instruments continued
¢ Hedges continued

1 Cash flow hedges continued

To the extent that the hedges were assessed as highly effective, a summary of the amounts included in equity and the penods
in which the related cash flows are expected to occur are summarised below

Group
Wwithin 612 More than Total
£ milhon 6 manths months 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years 2010
- ________________ _______________________________]
Debt repayments to hedge future revenue 24 22 43 148 92 334
Forward contracts to hedge future payments {15) (5) (20)
Hedges of future fuel purchases (8) 8 (24) (50)
i 1) 24 148 92 264
Related deferred tax charge (74)
Total amount included within equity 190

Notional value of financial instruments used as cash flow hedging instruments
Group Company

Notional Notional
millicn amount amount
. _____________________________________________________________________________ ]
To hedge future currency revenues aganst US dollars $289 $289
To hedge future currency revenues agamst sterling £27
To hedge future operating payments agamnst US dollars $185 $185
To hedge future Brazilian rea! capital payments agamst US dollars $12 $i2
Hedges of future fuel purchases $2,922 $2,922
Debt repayments to hedge future revenue — US dollars $1,926  $1,926

~eurc €188 €188

— Japanese yen ¥73,568 ¥73,568

Group

Within 612 More than Totof

£ milhon 6 months months 1-2 yearx 2-5 yeors 5 years 2009
L e
Debt repayments to hedge future revenue 30 30 69 178 150 457
Forward contracts to hedge future payments {10} {6} {1 {17}
Hedges of future fuel purchases 361 178 97 2 638
381 202 165 180 150 1,078

Related deferred tax charge (301)
Total amount included within equity 777

Notional value of financial instruments used as cash flow hedging instruments
Group Company

Notional Notiongl
mullion amount amount
L __

To hedge future currency revenues against US dollars 5118 3118
To hedge future currency revenues against sterling £60 £60
To hedge future operating payments agasnst US dollars 1365 3365
To hedge future Brazihan real capital payments against US dollars 367 67
Hedges of future fuel purchases 52612  §2,612
Debt repayments to hedge future revenue — LIS dollars 31,570 31,570

- euro €77 €77

— Japanese yen ¥95,358 ¥95,358

The ineffective portion recogmised In the income statement that arose from hedges of future fuel purchases amounts to a gain
of £14 million (2009 £7 million loss) There was no ineffecuive portion of cash flow hedges other than hedges of future fuel
purchases In the current year, £21 million (2009 £5 million) of cash flow hedging losses previously recognised in equity were
transferred to the income staterment, relating to forecast transactions {future revenue) that are no longer expected to occur
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31 Financial instruments continued
¢ Hedges continued
n Farr vatue hedges

The Group has no hedges designated as farr value hedges

m Net investments in foreign operations
The Group has no hedges designated as hedges of net nvestments in foreign operations

Company

The Company undertakes hedging acuvities an behalf of other compamas within the Group and performs the treasury
activities of the Group centrally As a result, the disclosures above apply to the Company as for the Group

32 Share capital

Group and Company
2010 2009

Number Number

of shares of shares
QOrdinary shzres of 25 pence 2ach 000s £ million 000s £ muthon
-

Allotted, called up and fully pad

At 1 Apnl 1,153,628 288 1,153,105 288

Exercise of options under employee share option schemes 46 523
At 31 March 1,153,674 288 1,153,628 288

The concept of authonsed share capital was abolished under the Companies Act 2006, with effect from 1 October 2009 and
consequential amendments to the Company's Articles of Assoctauon were approved by shareholders at the 2009 Annual
General Meeting At 31 March 2009, the authorised ordinary share capital of the Company was £378 million divided into
1,512,000,000 ordinary shares of 25 pence each

33 Share options

The Group operates share-based payment schemes as part of the total remuneration package provided to employees =
these schemes compnise both share option schemes where employees acquire shares at a grant price and share award plans
whereby shares are i1ssued to employees at no cost, subject to the achievernent by the Group of specified performance
targets Details of the performance cntena to be met for each of the schemes, and details of the awards to the Directors,
are set out in the Report of the Remuneration Committee on pages 55 to 64

a Share Option Plan

The Bnitish Airways Share Cpuon Plan 1999 (SOP) granted options to quahfying employees based on performance at an
option price which was not less than the market price of the share at the date of the grant (or the nominal value if shares
are to be subscribed and this value 15 greater than the market value) The options are subject to a three-year vesung period
Upon vesting, options may be exercised at any tme until the 10th anniversary of the date of grant with the exception of
grants made during the year ended 31 March 2005, when there was a single re-test after a further year which measured
performance of the Group over the four-year period from the date of grant No further grants of options under the SOP
will be made other than those during the year ended 31 March 2006, in relation to performance durtng the year ended

31 March 2005 (for which there will be no re-testing)
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33 Share options continued

b Long Term Incentive Plan

The Bntish Airways Long Term Incentive Plan 1996 (LTIP) awarded options to senior executives conditional upon

the Company's achievement of a performance condition measured over three financial years |f granted, all options are
immediately exercisable for seven years and no payment 1s due upon exercise of the opuons No further awards under
the LTIP have been made since 16 June 2004

¢ Performance Share Plan

In 2005 the Group introduced the Briush Airways Performance Share Plan 2005 (PSP) for key senior executives and in
2009 this was extended to selected members of the wider management team A conditional award of shares 1s subject to
the achievement of a vanety of performance conditions which will vest after three years subject to the employee remaining
employed by the Group The award made in 2009 will vest based 100 per cent on meeting Total Shareholder Return (TSR)
performance conditions over the following three financial years (pages 57 to 59) No payment s due upon vesting of the
shares Key semior executives awarded shares under the PSP will be expected to retain no fewer than S0 per cent of the
shares (net of tax) which vest from the PSP untl they have built up a shareholding equivalent to 100 per cent of base salary

d Deferred Share Plan

In 2006 the Group introduced the British Airways Deferred Share Plan 2005 (DSP) granted to qualifying employees based on
performance and service tests 1t will be awarded when a bonus 1s triggered subject to the employee remaining in employment
with the Group for three years after the grant date The relevant management population will receive a percentage of their
bonus in cash and the remaining percentage in shares through the DSP The maximum deferralis 50 per cent

e Share options summary

Group and Company
Deferred Share Plan Performance Share Plan  Long Term tncentve Plan Share Opuon Plan
Wwaighted
Weighted Weighted Weighted average  Weighted
Number varage Number average Numbar average Number exercise average
of shares far value of shares fair value of shares. fair value of shares pnce fair value
000Cs £ 000s £ 000s £ 000s £ £
L -
Qutstanding at 1 April 2008* 787 3,896 1,282 16,914 275
Granted in the year 710 274 2573 215
Exercised dunng the year™/**~ {269} 454) {183) {69) 164
Expired/cancelled (187) {1,476) (2,765} 283
Qutstanding at 1 Apnl 2009 1,041 4,539 1,099 14,080 274
Granted in the year 12 133 7313 143 16
Exercised during the year**/*** (614) {436) (46) 157
Expired/cancelled (490) (1.150) {5,155) 288
Qutstanding at 1 April 2010 499 10,702 679 8,879 2,66
Options exercisable
At 31 March 2010 679 8,879 266
At 31 March 2009 1,099 14,080 274

*  Included within this balance are options over 2 230 907 (2009 3 875 252) shares that have not been recognised n accordance with IFRS 2 as the aptions were granted
onor befora 7 November 2002 These optigns have not been subsequently modified and therefore do not need to be accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2
** The weighted average share pnce at the date of exercese for the SOP s £2 16 (2009 £2 36).

*** Part of the exercise of share options dunng the year was met through shares previously held by Brish Airways Employees Benefits Trust (Jersey) Limited
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33 Share options continued

e Share option summary continued
Range of exerase prices 2010 for Share Option Plan

Options outstanding Qpuioris exercisable

weghted Weghted ‘Wweighted

average average average

Number remaining exercise Number exercise

of shares hfe pnce of shares price

Range of exercise pnces 005 (years) £ 000s £

—

£157-£261 1,573 287 166 1,573 166

£262-£320 5,665 478 270 5,665 270

£321-£380 1,641 075 350 1,641 350

At 31 March 2010 8,879 3.70 266 8,879 2,66
Range of exercise prices 2009 for Share Opton Plan

Options outstanding Optians exercisable

Waeighted Weighted Weighted

average average averoge

Number rAmanmy exercise Number exercise

of shares 7 price of shares price

Range of exercise prices 0005 {years} £ 0005 £

£157-£€261 2,168 3388 166 2,168 166

£262-£320 8,830 578 270 8,830 270

£E321-£394 3,082 141 36t 3,082 361

At 31 March 2009 14,080 453 274 14,080 274

For all outstanding share option schemes as at 31 March 2010, the weighted average remaining contractual hife is three years
(2009 four years) For options granted during the year the weighted average option hife was three years (2009 three years)

The farr value of equity-settled share options granted is estmated as at the date of grant using a binomiat lattice or Monte-
Carlo model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted The following table lists the
inputs to the models by taking the weighted average for the three PSP options granted 1n the year

2010 2009
e ——— A, _

Expected share price volatiity (per cent) 38 24
Historical volatility (per cent) 54 35
Expected comparator group volatility (per cent) 24-118 21-98
Expected comparator correlation {per cent) 37 41
Expected Iife of opuons (years) 3 3
Woeighted average share price (£) 1.85 188

The expected hfe of the options 1s based on historical data and 1s not necessanly indicative of exercise patterns that may
occur Volatihty was calculated with reference to the Group’s weekly share pnice volatulity The expected volatility reflects the
assumption that the histoncal volathity 1s indicative of future trends, which may also not necessanly be the actual outcome
The fair value of the PSP also takes into account a market condition of total shareholder returns as compared to strategic
competitors No other features of options granted were incorporated into the measuremnent of fair value

The share-based payments charge has been recorded In the iIncome statement as follows

2010 2009
L]

Employee costs 1 1
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a Group
Group
Equity
Unreahsed portion of Non-
Retained gains and Currency  convertible cantralling
£ millon eannings losses translaton band Total interests”
Balance at 31 March 2008 1,583 213 22 1,818 200
Adopuon of IFRIC 13 {206} (206}
Adoption of IFRIC 14 235 235
Balance at 1 Apnl 2008 1,612 213 22 1,847 200
Loss far the year attributable to shareholders {375) {375)
Exchange differences and gther movements 38 38
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger
revenue 13 13
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and
oll costs {78) {78}
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to currency
differences {46) {46}
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges (877) (877)
Exercise of share options 2) {(2)
Cost of share-based payment { 1
Share of other movements in reserves of associates (26) {26)
Held-to-maturnity investments marked-to-market (5) {5)
Avallable-for-sale assets - reahisation of farr value gains (4) 4)
Net dividends {56) {56)
Total income and expense for the year {458) (997) 38 {1,417)
At 31 March 2009 1,154 (784} 60 430 200
Loss for the year attnbutable to shareholders (443) (443)
Exchange differences and other mavements (18) (18)
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger
revenue 27 27
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and
oil costs (235) (235)
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to currency
differences 4 4
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges 791 791
Exercise of share options (5) (5)
Cost of share-based payment 1 1
Held-to-matunty investments marked-to-market 5 5
Share of other movements in reserves of associates 34 34
Equity portion of convertible bond 84 84
Net gain on available-for-sale financial assets 17 17
Total Income and expense for the year (413) 609 18) 84 262
At 31 March 2010 741 (175) 42 84 692 200

*  Non-controlling interests comprise €300 milkon of 6 75 per cent fixed coupon euro perpetual preferred secunties 1ssued by Boush Airways Finance (Jersey) LP in which the
general partner 15 Batsh Aurways Holdings Limited 2 wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company The holders of these sequnnies have no rights against Group undertakings other
than the 1ssang entity and 10 the extant prescnibed by the subardinated guarantee the Company The effect of the secuntes on the Group as a whale taking into account the

subordinate guarantee and other swrrounding armangements 15 that the obligations ta transfer economic benefits n connection with the securnities da not go beyond those that

would nommally attach (o preference shares 1ssued by a UK company
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34 Other reserves and non-controlling interests continued

b Company

£ milkon

Company

Retained
earnings

Unrealsed
gamns and
losses

Equity
portion of
convertible
bond

Total

Balance at 31 March 2008 1,133 211 1,344
Adoption of IFRIC 13 {135) {135)
Adopuon of IFRIC 14 235 235

Balance at 1 Apnl 2008 1,233 21 1,444

Loss for the year attributable to shareholders (389) {389)

Cost of share-based payment (2} (2)

Deferred tax — rate change adjustment ! {

Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger revenue i3 13

Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and ol costs {78) (78}

Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to currency differences {46) {46}

Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges {877} {877}

Net dividends {56) (56)

Total income and expense for the year {446) {988} (1,434)

AL 1 Aprl 2009 787 {777} 10

Loss for the year attnbutable to shareholders (407) (407)

Cost of share-based payment 1 1

Exercise of share options (1) (1)

Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger revenue 27 27

Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and ol costs {235) {235)

Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to currency differences 4 4

Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges 790 790

Equity portion of convertible bond 84 84

TFotal income and expense for the year (407 586 84 263

At 31 March 2010 380 (191) 84 273

The unreahsed gains and losses reserve records fair value changes on available-for-sale investments and the portion of the
gain or loss on a hedging instrument n a cash flow hedge that 1s determined to be an effective hedge

The currency translaton reserve 15 used to record exchange differences anising from the translation of the financial statements

of foreign subsidianes and associates

The equity portion of convertible bond reserve represents the equity poruon of the £350 million fixed rate 5 8 per cent

convertible bond (note 27) after deduction of transaction costs of £2 million

Total shareholders’ equity also includes the balance classified as share capital that includes the total net proceeds (both
nominal value and share premium) on i1ssue of the Company's equity share capital, compnising 25 pence ordinary shares

Investment in own shares consists of shares held by British Airways Employee Benefits Trust (Jersey) Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary, for the purposes of the Employee Share Ownership plans including the Long Term Incentive Plan At 31 March
2010 the Group and Company held 1,086,001 shares for the Long Term Incentive Plan and other employee share schemes

(2009 2,134,451 shares}
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35 Penston costs

The Company operates two funded principal defined benefit pension schemes in the UK, the Airways Pension Scheme (APS)
and the New Airways Pension Scheme (NAPS), both of which are closed to new members APS has been closed to new
members since 31 March 1984 and NAPS closed to new members on 31 March 2003 From 1 April 2003 the Company
commenced a new defined contnbution scheme, the Briush Airways Reurement Plan (BARP), of which all new permanent
employees over the age of 18 employed by the Company and certain subsidiary undertakings in the UK may become
members The assets of the scheme are held in separate trustee-adrministered funds

Benefits provided under APS are based on final average pensionable pay and, for the majority of members, are subject
to increases in payment in line with the Retail Price Index {RPI) Those provided under NAPS are based on final average
pensionable pay reduced by an amount (the ‘abatement’) not exceeding one and a half umes the Government's lower
earnings imit NAPS benefits are subject to RPl ncreases in payment up 10 a maximum of 5 per cent in any one year

In February 2007, following consultation with members and agreement with the Trustees, the Group amended NAPS for
future service to restrict future increases in pensionable pay to RPl and increase the normal retirement age to 65 In additen,
the Group agreed to make a one-off cash imecuon of £800 million into NAPS, of which £240 millon was paid in February
2007, with the remaining balance of £560 million paid in April 2007 and an additional £50 million was paid in March 2008
Additionally, APS has access to an addittonal £230 milion of collateral in the event of insolvency

Mast employees engaged outside the UK are covered by appropniate local arrangements The Company provides certain
additienal post-retirement healthcare benefits to eligible employees in the LS The Company participates in a multi-employer
defined benefit plan operated in the US by the International Association of Machinists {JAM) and presents the plan in the
financial staterments as if it were a defined contnbution plan as it 1s not possible to allocate the assets and habthuies of the
scheme due to the nature of the scheme Contributions to the IAM plan were £2 2 million (2009 £2 1 milhon) Due to US
funding requirements, the Group 15 forecast to make contnbutions to the US pensions scheme for £12 milion 1in 2010/11

Pension contributions for APS and NAPS were determined by actuanal valuations made as at 31 March 2006 using
assumptions and methodologies agreed between the Company and the Trustees of each scheme At the date of the actuanat
valuation, the market values of the assets of APS and NAPS amounted to £6,650 million and £5,832 million respectively

The value of the assets represented 100 per cent (APS) and 74 per cent (NAPS) of the value of the benefits that had accrued
to members after allowing for assumed Increases In earmings These valuations determined employer contribution rates of

an average of 34 6 per cent of pensionable pay for APS and 20 7 per cent of pensionable pay for NAPS For NAPS, the
contribution rate to be paid by the employer depends on the normal retirement age chosen by members The contnbution
rate will be reviewed agan following the finalisation of the 2009 actuaral valuation, an which it1s proposed to make further
changes to the NAPS benefit structure

Employer contributions in respect of overseas employees have been determined in accordance with best local practice

Total employer contributions to defined contribution pension plans both in the UK and overseas for the year ended 31 March
2010 were £22 million {2009 £25 millon} The Company's contributions to APS and NAPS in the next year as determined
by the actuanal review completed in March 2006 are expected to be approximately £330 mallion

a Employee benefit schemes recognised on the balance sheet

Employee benefit obligations Employee benefit assars
£ million 2010 2009 2010 2009
. N
Arsing under defined benefit pension plans and post-retrement benefits 66 57 483 340 e
Arising under post-retirement medical benefit plans 132 123
Total ansing under post-retirernent benefits 198 180 483 340
Other employee benefit obliganons 10 it
At 31 March 208 191 483 340

At 31 March 2010, NAPS was recognised on the balance sheet as an asset However, due to the level of unrecognised
losses it holds, its net posiion 1s a hability and therefore on all future tables withi this note, it is included as an employee
benefit oblgauon

Employee benefit assats refer to the Group and Company in all instances Employee benefit obligations include £8 milhon
(2009 £9 million) relating to Britsh Airways Holidays Limited, with the remamder relating to the Company
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35 Pension costs continued

b Scheme assets and liabihties

2010
Employee benefit obliganions Employee benefir assers
Other Other
£ mill:on NAPS schemes Total APS schemes Total
. _ . _ |
Scheme assets at fair value
Equities 5,245 174 5,419 1,082 19 1,101
Bonds 1,831 74 1,905 4774 17 4,791
QOthers 948 S 953 587 587
Fair value of scheme assets 8,024 253 8,277 6,443 36 6,479
Present value of scheme liabilities 9,969 579 10,548 6,247 31 6,278
Net pension (liability)/asset (1.945) (326) (2,271) 196 5 201
Net pension (liability)/asset represented by
Net pension asset/(hability) recognised 158 {198) (40) 317 8 325
Restncuion on APS surplus due to the asset celling 50 50
Cumulative actuanal losses not recognised (2,103) (128) (2,231) (171) {3 (174)
(1,945) {326) (2,2M1) 196 5 201
2009
Empiayee benefir abligatrons Employee benefit assets
Giher Qther
£ mithion NAPS schemes Totol APS schemes Total
. ____________________________________________________________________________|]
Scheme assets at fair value
Equities 3,780 122 3,902 898 16 914
Bonds 1,665 76 1,741 4,679 12 4,691
Others 604 5 609 348 348
Fair value of scheme assets 6,049 203 6,252 5,925 28 5,953
Present value of scheme habilihes 7,216 497 7,713 5,065 28 5,093
Net pension (iability)/asset {1,167) {204)  (1,461) 860 - 860
Net pension (lkability)/asset represented by
Net pension asset/(liability) recognised 26 (180} {154} 304 10 314
Restriction on APS surplus due to the asset celing 135 135
Cumulative actuarial (losses)/gains not recognised {1,193} {114) (1,367} 421 {10} 111
{1,167} {294) (1,461) 860 - 860

The pension plans have not invested in any of the Group’s own financial mstruments nor in properties or other assets used
by the Group
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35 Pension costs continued

< Amounts recognised In the iIncome statement

2010
Employee benefit obligations Employee benefit assets
Other Other
£ mdlion NAPS schemes Total APS schemes Total
. L
Current service cost 105 6 111 10 1 11
Past service cost 1 1
Recogmised in arrniving at operating profit 106 & 112 10 1 11
Expected return on scheme assets (418) a4 (432) (269) 1) (270)
Interest costs on scheme habilives 489 30 519 345 2 347
Amortisation of actuanal losses in excess of the corridor 31 ) 37
Effect of the APS asset celling (85) (85)
Other finance cost 102 22 124 (9) 1 8
2009
Employee benefic obligations Empioyee benefit ossets
Other Qther
€ milion NAPS schemes Total APS schemes Tota!
. ___________________________________________________________________]
Current service cost 129 7 136 14 14
Past service cost 3 3 ! 1
Recogmsed in armving at operating profit 132 7 139 15 - 15
Expected return on scheme assets {502) (19 {(521) (338} (3} (341)
Interest costs on scheme labilities 502 26 528 367 ! 368
Amortisation of APS surplus (net of tax) {17) {17}
Other finance cost - 7 7 12 (2} 10
d Unrecognised cumulative actuanial gains and losses
Employee benefit obligatons Employee benefis assets
Ozher Crther
£ milhon NAPS schemes Total APS schemes Total
. ______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________]
Amount of unrecognised actuanal losses at 1 Apnl 2008 {209} 9 (200 798 {2 796
Actual return on scheme assets {1,462} {6} (1,468) {385) {6} {391)
Less Expected return on scheme assets {502} {19} (521) {338) 3) {(341)
{1,964) {25) (1,989} {723} 9 {732)
Other actuanial gains/{losses) 980 (98} 882 372 1 373
Amortisation of APS surplus (gross of tax) {26} {26)
Cumulative unrecognised actuarial {(losses)/gamns at
31 March 2009 {1,193) {114) (1,307} 421 (1) 411
Actual return on scheme assets 1,970 61 2,031 930 1M S41
Less Expected return on scheme assets {(418) (14 (432) (269) m (270)
1,552 47 1,599 661 10 e
Other actuanal losses (2,493) {67) (2,560) (1,253) (3) (1,256)
Amortisation of actuanal losses in excess of
the corndor 3 6 37
Cumulative unrecogmised actuarnal losses at
31 March 2010 (2,103) (128) (2,231) (171) (3) (174)

The actuanal assumptions made for the expected rates of return on assets were denved by considering best estimates for
the expected long-term real rates of return from the main asset classes and combining these in proportions for each scheme
These assumed rates of return are net of investment expenses
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35 Pension costs continued

e Actuarial assumptions

At 31 March
2010 2009
Other Other
Per cent per annum NAPS APS schemes NAPS APS schemes
- ________________________________________________________________]
Inflation 37 36 23-53 30 27 2530
Rate of increase in pensionable pay* 37 36 20-85 30 27 28385
Rate of increase of penstons in payment 35 36 1590 29 27 15100
Discount rate 56 55 2090 69 71 19-76
Expected rate of return on scheme assets 73 52 40-90 71 47 5585

* Rate of Incraase in pensionable pay 1s assumad ta be in ine with inflation The first increase in pensionable pay 1s assumed to be February 2011 for NAPS and February 2013
for APS

Rate of increase in healthcare costs are based on medical trend rates of 9 per cent grading down to 5 per cent over eight

years (2009 10 per cent grading down to 5 per cent over five years)

In the UK, mortality rates are calculated using the standard SAPS mortality tables produced by the CMI for APS and NAPS
The standard mortalty tables were selected based on the actual recent mortality experience of members and were adjusted
to allow for future mortality changes In the US, mortality rates were based on the PPA10 mortality tables If the post-
retirement mortality tables used for APS and NAPS were to be changed such that the life expectancy of members was
increased by one year, the defined benefit obligations would increase by approxmately £220 milhcn in APS and
approxamately £250 milhon in NAPS

If the discount rate were to be decreased by 0 1 per cent without changing any other assumptions, the defined benefit
obligations would increase by approximately £80 mullion in APS and £210 million in NAPS

A one percentage point change In the assumed rate of increase in healthcare costs would have the following effects

£ milhon Increase Decrease

- ____________________________________________________J}
Effect on aggregate service cost and interest cost (3) 2
Effect on defined benefit obligation (37) 29

f Present value of scheme habilities

Employee benefit obligations Employee benefit assets
Other Cther

£ milhon NAPS schemes Total APS schemas Total
E - _________________________]
As at 1 Apnl 2008 7,705 384 8,089 5.432 29 5,461
Current service cost 129 7 136 14 14
Past service cost 3 3 1 !
Interest cost 502 26 528 367 1 368
Benefits pad (221) {18) {239) {385) {1} {336}
Employee contnbutions 78 78 8 8
Actuanal (gains)/losses {980) 98 {882) (372} {1 {373)
As at 31 March 2009 7,216 497 7713 5,065 28 5,093
Current service cost 105 6 111 10 1 11
Past service cost 1 1
Interest cost 489 30 519 345 2 347
Benefits paid (390) (22) 412) (429) 3) (432)
Employee contributions 55 1 56 3 3
Actuanal losses 2,493 67 2,560 1,253 3 1,256
At 31 March 2010 5,969 579 10,548 6,247 31 6,278

The defined benefit obligation compnses £220 million (2009 £169 million) anising from unfunded plans and £10,328 million
(2009 £7,544 million) from plans that are wholly or partly funded
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35 Pension costs continued

g Fair value of scheme assets

Employeq benefit obhiganons Employee benefit assets
Other Other
£ million NAPS schemes Total APS schemes Total
. ________________________________________________________________________________________|
As at 1 Aprl 2008 7,348 221 7.569 6,668 35 6,703
Expected return on plan assets 502 19 521 338 3 341
Employer contnbutions 306 6 312 9 19
Employee contnbutions 78 78 8 8
Benefits pad {221} (18} (239} {385) {1} {386)
Actuarnial losses (1,964) {25} (1,989) {(723) {9} {732)
As at 31 March 2009 6,049 203 6,252 5925 28 5,953
Expected return on plan assets 418 14 432 269 1 270
Employer contributions 340 10 350 14 14
Employee contributions 55 1 56 3 3
Benefits paid (390) (22) (412) {429) (3) (432)
Actuanal gains 1,552 47 1,599 661 10 671
At 31 March 2010 8,024 253 8,277 6,443 36 6,479
h History of expenence gains and losses
Employee berefit obhigations Employee benefit assets
Other Other

€ milign NAPS schemes Total APS schemes Total
L ________________________________________________________________|
As at 31 March 2010
Fair value of scheme assets 8,024 253 8,277 6,443 36 6,479
Present value of defined benefit obligaton (9,969) (579) (10,548) (6,247 (31) (6,278)
{Deficit)/ surplus in the scheme (1,945) (326) (2,271) 196 5 201
Experience adjustments ansing on plan habilities 2,493 67 2,560 1,253 3 1,256
Experience adjustments ansing on plan assets 1,552 47 1,599 661 10 671
As at 31 March 2009
Fair value of scheme assets 6,049 203 6,252 5,925 28 5,953
Present value of defined benefit obligation (7,216} 497) (7.713) (5,065) {28) {5,093)
(Deficit)/surplus in the scheme {1,167} {(294)  (1,461) 860 860
Experience adjustments ansing on plan liabilites {980} 93 {882) (372) {1 (373}
Experience adjustments ansing on plan assets {1,964) 25} (1,989 {723) 9 {732}
As at 31 March 2008 (restated)
Fair value of scheme assets 7.348 221 7,569 6,668 35 6,703
Present value of defined benefit obligation {7.705) (384 (8,089) (5432} {29) {5,461)
(Deficit)/surplus in the schermne (357) {163} {520) 1,236 6 1,242
Expenence adjustments arising on plan habilities (873) (28) {901) {616) 3 613}
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets {489) {26) (515) 182 1 183
As at 31 March 2007
Fair value of scheme assets 6,553 238 6,791 6,491 34 6,525
Present value of defined benefit obligation {8.110) {397} (8,507) (6,076} {27)  (6,103)
APS irrecoverable surplus {306} (306}
{Deficit)/surplus in the scheme {1,557) {159) (1,716) 109 7 116
Experience adjustments ansing on plan habilines {113} 52 {61) (272) 3 {269)
Expenence adjustments ansing on plan assets {27) 21 {48) (138) 3) {141)
As at 31 March 2006
Fair value of scheme assets 5,832 318 6,150 6,650 36 6,686
Present value of defined benefit obligation {7,902) (538) (8.440) (5.867) (30) (5,897}
APS rrecoverable surplus {652} (652}
(Deficit)/surplus 1n the scheme (2,070) (220) (2,290} 131 6 137

The Directors are unable to determine how much of the pension scheme surplus or deficit recognised on transition to IFRS
and taken directly to equity 1$ attnbutable to actuanal gains and losses since inception of those pension schemes
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Notes to the accounts continued

36 Contingent liabilities

There were contingent liabifives at 31 March 2010 in respect of guarantees and indemnittes entered nto as part of the
ordinary course of the Group’s business No matenial losses are likely to anise from such contingent liabilities A number of
other lawsuits and regulatory proceedings are pending, the cutcome of which in the aggregate 15 not expected to have a
material effect on the Group's financial position or results of operauons

The Group and the Company have guaranteed certain borrowings, labilittes and commitments, which at 31 March 2010
amounted to £119 rullion (2009 £185 milhon) and €385 million (2009 £498 millon) respectively For the Company these
included guarantees given in respect of the fixed perpetual preferred secunues issued by subsidiary undertakings

The Group 1s involved in certain claims and litigation related to its operations In the opinion of management, habilines, if any,
ansing from these claims and htuigaton will not have a matenal adverse effect on the Group's consolidated financial position

or results of operaticns The Group files income tax returns in many Jurisdictions throughout the world Various tax authorities
are currently examiming the Group’s income tax returns Tax returns contain matters that could be subject to differing
interpretations of apphcable tax laws and regulations and the resolution of tax positions through negotiations with relevant
tax authonties, or through htigation, can take several years to complete Whilst it s difficult to predict the ulbmate outcome

In some cases, the Group does not anucipate that there will be any matenal impact on the Group’s financial position or
results of operations

37 Related party transactions
The Group and Company had transactions in the ordinary course of business dunng the year under review with related parties

Group Company
£ million 2010 2009 2010 2009
]
Associates
Sales to associates 36 41 36 41
Purchases from associates 47 53 47 53
Amounts owed by associates 1 1 1 !
Amounts owed to associates 2 2 2 2
Subsidiaries
Sales to subsidianes 65 26
Purchases from subsidiaries 123 131
Amounts owed by subsidianes 236 169
Amounts owed to subsidiaries 3,283 2,106

In addition, the Company meets certain costs of administering the Group's retiement benefit plans, including the provision
of support services to the Trustees Costs borne on behalf of the retirement benefit plans amounted to £3 3 million in relation
to the costs of the Penston Protection Fund levy (2009 £3 8 million)

Associates

3 Ibenia Lineas Aéreas de Espafia S.A. (Ibera)

The Group has a 13 15 per cent nvestment in Ibena Areas of opportunity for cooperation have been dentified and work
continues to pursue and implement these Sales and purchases between related parties are made at normal market prices
and outstanding balances are unsecured and interest free Cash settlement i1s expected within the standard settlement terms
specified by the IATA Cleanng House

During the year the Company contracted with Ibena to purchase five new Aurbus A320 arcraft, the commitment ansing has
been included in note 15

As at 31 March 2010 the net trading balance owed to Ibena by the Group amounted to £1 mithon (2009 £1 mullion)
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37 Related party transactions continued

b Other associates
There was a remaining net trading balance under £1 million as at 31 March 2010 due to transactions between the Group and
Dunwoody Airlineg Services (Holdings) Limited (2009 under £1 million)

Subsidiaries

Transactions with subsidianes are carried out on an arm's length basis Outstanding balances that relate to trading balances
are placed on inter-company accounts with no specified credit period Long-term loans owed to and from the Company
by subsidiary undertakings bear market rates of interest in accordance with the inter-company loan agreements

Directors’ and officers’ loans and transactions

No loans or credit transactions were outstanding with Directors or officers of the Company at 31 March 2010 or arose
dunng the year that need to be disclosed in accordance with the requirements of Sections 412 and 413 to the Companies
Act 2006

In addition to the above, the Group and Company also have transactions with related parties that are conducted in the
normal course of airline business These include the provision of arline and related services

Neither the Group nor Company have provided or benefited from any guarantees for any related party receivables or
payables During the year ended 31 March 2010 the Group has not made any provision for doubtful debts relating to
amounts owed by related parties (2009 Enil)

Compensation of key management personnel (including Directors)

Graup Company
£ million 2010 2009 2010 2009
. ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Short-term employee benefits 4 4 4 4
Share-based payments 1 ! 1 !
Terminaticn benefits ! !
At 31 March 5 6 5 6
38 Foreign currency translation rates
A3t March Annual average
£1 equals 2010 2009 2010 2009
e
US dollar 1.51 143 160 175
Euro 112 197 1.13 121
Japanese yen 141 140 148 177
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Operating and financial statistics

For the five years ended 31 March 2010

Total Group operations (notel)

2010 2009 2008" 2007 2006
Traffic and capaaity

Revenue passenger km {RPK) m 110,851 114346 118395 112851 109,713
Available seat km (ASK) m 141,178 148,504 149,576 148321 144,194
Passenger load factor % 785 770 791 761 76 1
Cargo tonne km (CTK) m 4,537 4,638 4,892 4,695 4,929
Total revenue tonne km [RTK) m 15,588 16,054 16,797 16,112 15,909
Total available tonne km {ATK) m 21,278 22293 22872 22882 22,719
Overall load factor % 733 720 734 704 700
Passengers carned ‘000 31,825 33,117 34,613 33,068 32,432
Tonnes of cargo carned ‘000 760 777 305 762 795
Revenue aircraft km m 618 644 644 637 614
Revenue fhights ‘000 257 279 281 276 280
Operations

Average manpower equivalent (MPE) 37,595 41,473 41,745 42,683 43,814
RTKs per MPE 4146 3871 4024 3775 3631
ATKs per MPE 5660 5375 5479 5361 5185
Aurcraft in service at year end 238 245 245 242 284
Aurcraft utihsation (average hours per aircraft per day) 1043 10 68 1091 10 82 1029
Unduplicated route km ‘000 628 621 629 589 574
Punctuality — within 15 minutes % 81 77 63 67 75
Regulanty % 980 986 982 985 98 8
Financial

Passenger revenue per RPK p 630 6385 642 644 631
Passenger revenue per ASK p 494 528 508 490 4 80
Cargo revenue per CTK p 1212 14 51 12 57 1274 12 94
Average fuel pnce (US cents/US gallon) 18924 28406 24526 20960 188 22
Interest cover {note 2) tmes (29) {36) 154 167 60
Dividend cover umes nfa {52) n/a n/a n/a
Operating margin {note 3) % (29) {Z24) 100 71 85
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation,

amorusation and rentals (EBITDAR) m 642 645 1,780 1,549 1,666
Net debt/total capital ratio (note 4) % 520 563 287 291 44 2
Net debt/total capital rauo including operating leases % 631 628 382 396 530
Total traffic revenue per RTK P 48 31 5300 48 91 4879 47 53
Total traffic revenue per ATK p 35.39 3817 3592 3435 3328
Total operating expenditure per RTK {note 5) p 52,76 57 38 46 91 49 25 47 26
Total operating expenditure per ATK {note 5) p 3865 4132 34 45 3468 3310

* Restated for the adoption of IFRIC 13 and 14 and to include frequent flyer passenger numbers

** Restated for the disposal of the regional business of BA Connect
n/a=nor applicable
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Operating and financial statistics continued

For the five years ended 31 March 2010

Notes
1 Operating statistics do not include those of associate
undertakings and franchisees

2 Interest cover 1s defined as the number of umes
profit/(loss) before tax excluding net interest payable
covers the net interest payable Interest cover 1s not a
financial measure under IFRS However, management
believes this measure 1s useful to investors when
analysing the Group's abthity to meet its interest
commitments from current earmngs The following table
shows a reconciliation of net interest payable for each
of the two most recent financial years

Year ended 31 March

£ mudhon (except ratios) 2010 2009
]

Loss before tax (531) {401)
Net interest payable (a) (137) {87}
Loss adjusted for interest payable (b) (394) {314)
Interest caver (b)/(a) 29 {36)

3 QOperaung margn is defined as operauing profit as a
percentage of revenue Revenue comprises passenger
revenue (scheduled services and non scheduled
services), cargo services and other revenue

4 Net debt as a percentage of total capital Net debt s
defined as the total of loans, finance leases and hire
purchase liabilities, net of short-term loans and deposits
and cash less overdrafts See note 24 to the financial
statermnents for details of the calculation of net debt
Total capital is defined as the total of capital, reserves,
non-controlling interests, and net debt. Total capital and
the net debt/total capital ratio are not financial measures
under IFRS Simutarly, net debt adjusted to include
cbligations under operating leases 1s not a financial
measure under IFRS However, management believes
these measures are useful to investors when analysing
the extent to which the Group 1s funded by debt rather
than by shareholders’ funds The following table shows
a reconcilation of total capital to total shareholders’
funds and the net debt/capnial rato for each of the
two most recent financial years

Year ended 31 March

£ milion (except ranos} 2010 2009
. ____________________________________________________________ ]

Capital and reserves 1,913 1,646
Add non-controlling interests 200 200
Total shareholders' equity 2,113 1,846
Net debt (a) 2,288 2,382
Total capital {b) 4,401 4,228
Net debt/total capital percentage (a)/(b)  52.0 563

5 Total expenditure on operations, total expenditure on
operations per RTK and total expenditure on operations
per ATK are not financial measures under IFRS However,
management believes these measures are useful to
nwestors as they provide further analysis of the
performance of the Group's main business activity,
namely airline operations The Board of Directors
reviews these measures internally on a monthly basis
as an indication of management’s performance in
reducing costs The following tabte shows a reconciiation
of total expenditure on operations per RTK and total
expenditure on operations per ATK for each of the
two most recent financial years

Year ended 31 March

£ millon (except rauos) 2010 2009
-]

Total expenditure on operations 8,225 9,212
RTKs 15,588 16,054
ATKs 21,278 22,293
Total expenditure on operations

per RTKs (p) 52.76 57 38
Total expenditure on operations

per ATKs {p) 38.65 4132
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Principal investments

At 31 March 2010

Investments in subsidiartes

The following table includes those principal investments which significantly impact the results or assets of the Group

These subsidiaries are wholly-owned except where indicated

Poncipal actvines

Country of ncorporation
and registration
and principal cperations

The Mileage Company Limited (formerly Air Miles Travel Promotions Limited)

BA and AA Holdings Limited

BA. Cash Management Limited Partnership
BA Cityflyer Lirmuted

OpenSkies SASU*

BritAur Holdings Limited

British Airways 777 Leasing Limited

British Airways Aviomc Engineering Limited
Briush Airways E-Jets Leasing Limited™
British Airways Holdings Limited

British Airways Holidays Limited

British Airways Interior Engineenng Limited
Briush Awrways Leasing Limited

Briush Airways Mantenance Cardiff Limited
Speedbird Cash Management Limited
Speedbird Insurance Company Limited
The Pimsoll Line Limited

Aurline marketing
Holding company
Investment

Aurline operations
Aurline operations
Holding company
Aurcraft financing
Aircraft maintenance
Aurcraft financing
Airline finance
Package hohdays
Aarcraft maintenance
Aurcraft finanang
Aurcraft maintenance
Investment
Insurance

Holding company

England
England
England
England
France
England
England
England
Bermuda
Jersey
England
England
England
England
Bermuda
Bermuda
England

Investments in associates

Percentage of
equity owned

Principal actmaties

Country of incorporation
and pnncipal operations

Ibena Lineas Aéreas de Espafia S A (Ibena)*

1315

Aurline operations

Spain

Available-for-sale investments

Percentage of
equity owned

Comair Limited*
Flybe Group Limited*
The Airline Group Limited

109
150
167

Principal actvities

Aasrline operations
Airhne gperations
Aur wraffic control
holding company

Country of incorporation
and pnncipal operations

South Africa
England
England

*  Not owned directly by Bnush Airways Plc
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30 September 2010 S November 2010

The timetable for further announcements is dependent on
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Unsolicited mai

The Company is obliged by law te make 1ts share register
available on request to other organsations which may then
use It as a mailing hist This may result in recewving unsohicited
mail If you wish to hmit the receipt of unsohcited maill you
may do so by wniting to the Mailing Preference Service,

an independent organisation whose services are free to

you Once your name and address have been added to its
records, it will advise the companies and other bodies which
suppert the service that you no longer wish to receve
unsolicited mail

If you would like more detalls please wnite to The Mailing
Preference Service, FREEPOST 22, London, W1E 7EZ

The Company asks orgarusations which obtain its register
to support this service

ShareGift

Shareholders with small numbers of shares may like to
consider donating their shares to chanty under ShareGift,
administered by the Orr Mackintosh Foundation Details
are available from the Company Registrars
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Glossary

Aurline operations

Available seat kilometras (ASK)

Available tonne kilometres (ATK)

Revenue passenger kilometres (RPK)

Cargo tonne kilometres (CTK)

Revenue tonne kilometres (RTK)
Load factor

Passenger load factor

Overall load factor

Frequent flyer RPKs as a percentage
of total RPKs

Revenue per RPK
Total traffic revenue per RTK
Total traffic revenue per ATK

Punctuality
Regulanty

Unduplicated route kilometres

Interest cover

Diwvidend cover
Operating margin
Net debt

Net debt/total capital ratio
(including operating leases)

Total capital
Net debt/total capital ratio

Manpowaer equivalent

EBITDAR

n/a

This includes Bntish Awways Plc, BA Cityflyer Limited, Flyline Tele Sales
& Services GmbH and OpenSkies

The number of seats available for sale multiplied by the distance flown

The number of tonnes of capacity available for the carnage of revenue load
{passenger and cargo) muluplied by the distance flown

The number of revenue passengers carned multiplied by the distance flown

The number of revenue tonnes of cargo (freight and mail) carned muluplied
by the distance flown

The revenue load in tonnes multipled by the distance flown

The percentage relatconship of revenue load carried to capacity available
RPK expressed as a percentage of ASK.

RTK expressed as a percentage of ATK

The amount of frequent flyer RPKs expressed as a percentage of total RPKs
1s indicative of the proportion of wtal passenger traffic that s represented
by redemption of frequent flyer points in the year

Passenger revenue divided by RPK.
Revenue from total traffic divided by RTKC
Revenue from total traffic divided by ATK.

The industry’s standard, measured as the percentage of flights departing
within 15 minutes of schedule

The percentage of flights completed to flights scheduled, excluding fights
cancelled for commercial reasons

All scheduled flight stages counted once, regardless of frequency or direction

The number of times profit before taxation and net interest expense and
interest Income covers the net interest expense and interest income

The number of tmes profit for the year covers the dividends paid and proposed
Operating profit/(loss) as a percentage of revenue

Loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements net of other current
interest-bearing deposits and cash and cash equivalents less overdrafts

Net debt as a rauo of total capital, adjusted to include the discounted
value of future operating lease commitments

Total equity plus net debt.
Net debt as a ratic of total capital

Number of employees adjusted for part-time workers, overtume
and contractors

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and rentals

Not applicable
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